

Non-Destructive Testing (NDT) Method for reliability assessment of Power Electronic Modules

Anusha Gopishetti

▶ To cite this version:

Anusha Gopishetti. Non-Destructive Testing (NDT) Method for reliability assessment of Power Electronic Modules. Mechanical engineering [physics.class-ph]. Université de Pau et des Pays de l'Adour, 2023. English. NNT: 2023PAUU3083. tel-04715087

HAL Id: tel-04715087 https://theses.hal.science/tel-04715087v1

Submitted on 30 Sep 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

THÈSE

UNIVERSITE DE PAU ET DES PAYS DE L'ADOUR (UPPA)

École doctorale Sciences Exactes et leurs Applications

Présentée et soutenue le 22/12/2023 par **Anusha GOPISHETTI**

pour obtenir le grade de docteur de l'Université de Pau et des Pays de l'Adour **Spécialité : Génie électrique**

Non-Destructive Testing (NDT) method for reliability assessment of power electronic modules

JURY MEMBERS

RADDORTELIRS

Mr. Zoubir KHATIR Mr. Nadir IDIR	Directeur de recherche Professeur des universités	Université Gustave Eiffel Université de Lille
EXAMINATEURS Mrs. Alexandrine GRACIA Mr. Arnaud BREARD Mr. Laurent PECASTAING, Président de jury	Maître de conférences Professeur des universités Professeur des universités	Université de Bordeaux École Centrale de Lyon Université de Pau et des Pays de l'Adour
DIRECTEUR ET CO-ENCADRANT	-	
Mr. Paul-Etienne VIDAL	Professeur des universités	Ecole Nationale d'ingénieurs de Tarbes
Mr. Stéphane BAFFREAU	Maître de conférences	Université de Toulouse – IUT GEEI de Tarbes
INVITÉS		
Mr. Philippe LASSERRE	Ingénieur de recherche	Deep Concept
Mr. Long Thanh LE	Ingénieur de recherche	Safran Tech





In 2020, I embarked on this ambitious project with excitement and apprehension. Today, with similar excitement, here is a note on completing my thesis. This journey spanned three years at PRIMES laboratory as a part of project EFICIENCE, which carried a mixture of emotions. I extend my deepest gratitude to all those who have made the completion of this thesis possible.

First and foremost, I thank Mr. Nadir IDIR and Mr. Zoubir KHATIR for agreeing to review my manuscript. I acknowledge the significant time and effort invested in reviewing this manuscript with sincere appreciation. Your dedication to excellence and commitment to advancing the field of power electronics through rigorous scholarly review left an indelible mark on my work. Your expertise in high-frequency power conversion and online health monitoring using broadband characterization and packaging has undoubtedly benefited this thesis.

I extend my sincere appreciation to all other members of the jury, Mrs. Alexandrine GRACIA, Mr. Arnaud BREARD, Mr. Laurent PECASTAING, Mr. Philippe LASSERRE, and Mr. Thanh Long LE, for your constructive feedback and valuable suggestions, which significantly enhanced the quality of this work.

Reflecting on the years spent immersed in research, learning, and growth, I am grateful and express my deepest thanks to my thesis supervisors, Mr. Paul-Etienne VIDAL and Mr. Stéphane BAFFREAU. They have been instrumental in guiding me through this process. Your expertise, patience, and encouragement were invaluable throughout this research journey.

I must acknowledge the Energy Environment Solutions project (I-SITE) of the University of Pau and Pays de l'Adour (UPPA) for their financial support, which is greatly appreciated. Eventually, I thank every partner of this project: LGP, UPPA, DEEP concept, SAFRAN Tech Paris, Tarbes-Lourdes Pyrénées, and CIRIMAT-Toulouse. Thank you for your involvement in several scientific committees and for carrying out fruitful discussions.

Special thanks to PRIMES and LGP laboratory for their assistance, especially to Karim MAROUFI for helping me to conduct experiments on the Climatic Temperature System (CTS), Davy COLIN for the active cycling test on Mentor Graphics, Caroline MARRANT, Marie TEIXEIRA, and José FERRAO for helping me in administrative stuff.

I want to thank my fellow lab mates, Romain, Mariem, Jordan, and Lola, for sharing moments of triumph and struggle, exchanging knowledge, and the collaborative environment we fostered.

I want to thank my parents, Mr. G. Anjaneyulu and Mrs. G. Manga, my sister, Likitha, and my extended family, Mr. C. Yves, Mrs. C. Sylvie, François, Rémy, and Davy, for their endless love, patience, and encouragement, which have been my stronghold. Thank you for believing in me and being there through this academic pursuit's highs and lows.

Completing this thesis has been a formidable, challenging, transformative, and enriching experience, and I am grateful for having had the support of such a wonderful community.

Acronyms

Α

Active Metal Brazing: (AMB)	143
Active Power Cycling: (APC)	165
Aluminum: (Al)	30

D

Device Under Test: (DUT)	73
Die Attach Process: (DAP)	39
Direct Bonded Copper: (DBC)	32

Ε

Eddy Current Technique: (ECT)	8
End Of Line: (EOL) 39	9

F

Front Of Line:	(FOL)	39
----------------	-------	----

G

Gallium Nitride: (GaN)5

L

Infrared thermography: (IRT)...... 65

Ν

Non-Destructive Examination: (NDE)	62
Non-Destructive Inspection: (NDI)	62
Non-Destructive Testing: (NDT)	6

Ρ

Power Cycling Test: (PCT)	55
Printed Circuit Board: (PCB)	30
Pulsed Eddy Current: (PEC)	68

R

Radio Frequency: (RF)...... 67

S

Т

Temperature Cycling Test: (TCT)55, 166
Through-Hole Device: (THD)
Time-Domain Network Analyzer: (TDNA) 72
Time-Domain Reflection: (TDR)
Time-Domain Transmission: (TDT)
Transistor Outline: (TO) 30

V

Vector Network Analyzer: (VNA)68, 76

W

wide band gap: (WBG).....5

General Introduction

A variety of industries, including automotive, transportation, Information Technology (IT), and energy infrastructure (i.e., power grid), have a growing need for power electronics (power semiconductor) systems. As this trend continues, it adds critical challenges to the field of research. The major evolution of power electronics technology has always looked towards higher efficiency, high power density, and more integrated systems. This emphasis poses an increasing challenge to develop new design protocols, innovative packaging, and even new semiconductor material, as it is widely believed that Si technology has finally reached its fundamental physical limits [1]. These limitations have paved the path for introducing Wide Band Gap (WBG) devices, which show outstanding characteristics, i.e., much lower leakage current, higher operating temperatures, lower on-resistance, and higher thermal conductivity [1]. In this world where new technologies and tools are available and compelling energy problems exist, some research is devoted to integrating and optimizing different parts. Aiming to migrate perspective advantages into real-world applications. This is why well-established parts and components of power converters and systems are experiencing substantial remodeling or even a completely new design [2]. Integrating new technologies into components or modules with higher power-to-mass or power-to-volume ratios raises the question of reliability and lifetime assessment [2]. These two factors, together with ubiquitous costeffectiveness, are the drivers for developing new technologies for power conversion. Consequently, with the usual and new technologies, there is a question of the reliability of monitoring electrical parameters as an indicator of potential failures. In such context, Non-Destructive characterizations along with monitoring parameters show some interest, as they can detect partial and complete failures. High density and high reliability are pursued, focusing research on various aspects of power converters [3]. The current evolution of static converter performances is associated with the maturity and the availability of new technologies of power semiconductor components playing the role of electronic switches, particularly in the field of transport based on Silicon Carbide (SiC) of electronic switches, and more particularly in the field of transport those based on Silicon Carbide and Gallium Nitride (GaN). These technologies must be combined with nextgeneration hybrid integration techniques to improve the performance of power electronic modules. Indeed, the targeted applications imply that these modules must operate in a

severe environment under strong constraints: high power density at high temperatures, switching at high frequencies, etc., with the constant objective of optimizing electrical efficiency and improving the reliability of the system. The challenges for the development of these new modules are multiple. For example, they can aim at minimizing the footprint of a conversion function by integrating several conversion architectures as well as passive elements. Within this framework, the overall project, EFICIENCE chair, to which this PhD is related, aims to enhance the efficiency of electrical energy conversion. This is achieved through a combination of approaches applied to power electronics modules. To target the problems of integration and the evaluation of the packaging damage state in power electronics, failure characterizations along with online monitoring parameters are of great interest.

Project EFICIENCE:

The project EFICIENCE (Figure 1) under the grant number PIA ANR-16-IDEX-0002, involves different partners from industry and academics, it is part of the Energy Environment Solutions project (I-SITE) of the University of Pau and Pays de l'Adour (UPPA). The global aim of this project is to improve the power converters' efficiency. Thus, the project EFICIENCE will address the integration of materials, functions, and diagnostic methods for the power electronic converters. Power electronics integration and health monitoring of power electronics packaging issues are two objectives of the chair. Combined approaches applied to power electronics modules will be studied in 3 work packages:

- New materials and their implementation processes, to optimize the energy efficiency of power efficiency of power modules (materials aspect) →
 Objective 1
- A Non-Destructive Testing (NDT) method by analysis of electromagnetic interactions (reliability aspect) → Objective 2
- Power modules allowing multilevel static conversion by integrating new technologies (conversion aspect) → Objective 3



Figure 1: Logo of the project EFICIENCE

This thesis falls under the objective number 2 and deals with the NDT method for failure mode detection. The non-destructive test is based on analysis of electromagnetic interactions. In such work-package it is targeted to characterize the packaging damage state in power electronics.

Purpose and objectives of the PhD:

Power electronic modules which are widely used in the harsh environment are the core components in most of the power electronic systems, playing a major role in energy generation, transmission, and consumption systems. A converter failure will result in high maintenance cost. The system reliability, risk, and maintenance cost can be greatly improved by replacing semiconductor devices when incipient failures are detected. Therefore, building an accurate online condition monitoring model is becoming an increasingly important issue to investigate. However, the condition monitoring of power modules is still a challenge [4].

This thesis concerns the evaluation of the state of damage of the packaging of power electronics systems by an innovative non-destructive testing method. This method is developed to detect early the potential presence of defects. This method has never been proposed in power electronics. The objectives are listed as follows:

• To evaluate the state of damage of power electronic systems assembly by an innovative NDT.

- To reveal the information related to the state of damage in the temporal and/or frequency content, simulated or measured, of the conducted or radiated signals of a power module.
- To predict by simulation over a wide frequency band as well as in the nonlinearities of signals, the signatures of a failure mechanisms.

The NDT must be independent of the package and the die technology. This thesis will highlight the newly developed NDT methodology applied on different power assemblies. The main target is to detect the failure signatures following wide frequency band characterization using S and Z parameters.

To demonstrate these objectives the document is organized in four chapters.

The first chapter reviews the state of the art on the discrete packages and power modules describing packaging and assembly. Following the advancement, the evolution of Wide Band Gap (WBG) power devices is mentioned. The evolution of new technologies calls for the interest of integration and optimization which indeed rise the question of reliability and lifetime of the devices. In regards of that, reliability challenges, failure mechanisms, failure mode characterizations (destructive and Non-destructive) are addressed. Also, the interest of online health monitoring and difficulties of finding good failure indicators following the new technologies are pointed out.

In Chapter 2, different characterization techniques are described. During the study Sparameters characterization is developed through a Vector Network Analyzer (VNA). This choice was made due to following reasons:

- They are available to perform wide frequency band characterizations like in Radio Frequency (RF) and microwave level
- They are easier to measure and work with high frequencies
- It is reliable to measure power waves rather than voltage and current at least at high frequencies
- They provide flexibility to convert between other parameters of the same family (Z, H, Y, ABCD parameters, etc.,)

Also, in this chapter, different steps of newly developed NDT methodology are described. This methodology is based on the periodic Radio Frequency (RF) characterization. The Spice and electromagnetic simulations are detailed.

In Chapter 3, the proposed NDT methodology is applied on the healthy state power assemblies to study their behavior. The power assemblies include TO packages and Active Metal Brazed (AMB) ceramic substrate. TO package is seen as an "unknown assembly" whereas the ceramic substrate base assembly is fully designed. The experimental setup, interface details to perform two-port characterization will be detailed.

The Chapter 4 is dedicated to present the failure signature detection using newly proposed NDT methodology. To induce failure, accelerated and manual aging tests are conducted which are detailed in this chapter. The selected accelerated aging test are Temperature Cycling Test (TCT) and Active Power Cycling (APC) test. The online monitoring parameters from these tests are presented. Bond wire related and aging of brazing failure mechanisms are highlighted. A numerical analysis has been presented following the different failure modes. Failure indicators are pointed out.

Table of Contents

General Introduction4			
Chapter	1 : State of the art of power modules	27	
1.1 I	ntroduction		
1.2 I	Power electronics packaging technologies	28	
1.2.1	Power discrete devices	29	
1.2.2	Power discrete device packaging and assembly	29	
1.2.3	Power electronic modules		
1.2.4	Power module packaging		
1.2.5	Power module assembly		
1.3 8	Semiconductor device functioning and characteristics	42	
1.3.1	Power diode	42	
1.3.2	Power MOSFET	45	
1.3.3	Power IGBT	48	
1.4 A	Aging mechanisms and failure modes in power electronics	51	
1.4.1	Reliability challenges	52	
1.4.2	Aging test	54	
1.4.3	Failure mechanisms and failure modes in power electronics	55	
1.5 H	Failure mode characterization	60	
1.5.1	Destructive testing methods	60	
1.5.2	Non-Destructive testing (NDT) methods	61	
1.6 (Conclusion	69	

Chapter 2 : Wide frequency band characterization a	nd its equivalent
model construction	71
2.1 Introduction	72
2.2 Time-domain network	72
2.3 Frequency-domain network	76
2.3.1 Impedance Analyzer	76
2.3.2 Vector Network Analyzer (VNA)	
2.3.3 Comparison between impedance analyzer and vector	network analyzer87
2.3.4 Comparison between Time-domain and Frequency-do	main network88
2.4 S-parameters (Scattering parameter) characterization.	
2.4.1 Relationship between S-parameters and Z-par	ameter (Impedance
parameter)	
2.4.2 RLCG extraction from Z-parameters	96
2.5 Understanding different steps of the NDT methodology	using a simple case
study (microstrip line)	
2.6 Equivalent model construction	
2.7 RLCG elements extraction and simulation analysis of a	microstrip line.112
2.8 Other simulation tools	
2.8.1 Ansys Q3D case study on microstrip line	
2.8.2 Advanced Design Systems (ADS)	
2.9 Conclusion	

Cha	apt	er 3	: Application of NDT methodology for a wide frequency ba	nd
cha	rac	teri	zation of power electronic assemblies (experimental a	nd
sim	ula	tion	analysis)1	26
3.	.1	Inti	roduction1	127
3.	.2	Арј	plication of NDT methodology to discrete power devices1	127
	3.2	.1	Two-port S-parameters power device characterization	127
	3.2	.2	Improvement in measurement protocol of discrete power device	138
3.	.3	Арј	plication of NDT methodology to a ceramic substrate1	142
	3.3	.1	Homemade packaging details1	143
	3.3	.2	Ceramic substrate healthy state characterization	146
	3.3	.3	Ceramic substrate with copper tracks connected by bonding wires	147
	3.3	.4	Homemade packaging with IGBT die mounted on a copper track	148
	3.3	.5	Characterization of a ceramic substrate with IGBT die and bond wires	by
	pol	arizi	ng the die1	154
3.	.4	Hoi	memade packaging design and simulation on ADS software1	160
3.	.5	Cor	nclusion1	161
Cha	apte	er 4	: Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induc	ed
ma	nua	ally o	or by accelerated aging tests1	.63
4.	.1	Inti	roduction1	164
4.	.2	Ger	neral tips on accelerated aging tests1	165
4.	.3	Sele	ected aging tests1	165
	4.3	.1	Temperature Cycling Test (TCT)	166
	4.3	.2	Active Power Cycling (APC)	167
	4.3	.3	Manual aging test	169
4.	.4	Reli	iability of the measurement process1	169

4.4	4.1	Measurement constraints	172
4.4	4.2	Optimization of the measurement protocols	176
4.5	Bo	nd wire failure analysis following NDT methodology	
4.5	5.1	Ceramic substrate with bond wires between Track 1 and Track 2b	
4.5	5.2	Ceramic substrate with IGBT die mounted on Track 2a and con	nected to
oth	ner tr	acks through bond wires	187
4.5	5.3	Comparison of healthy and faulty mode ceramic substrate with be	ond wires
and	d IGI	BT die polarized:	192
4.5	5.4	Active Power Cycling (APC) test on TO-247 SiC MOSFET	195
4.5	5.5	Temperature Cycling Test (TCT) on TO-220 Si MOSFET	212
4.6	Ot	her failures (Aging of brazing)	219
4.7	Co	nclusion	227
Genera	al c	onclusion and perspectives	229
Appen	ndic	es	235
Refere	ence	S	252
Refere	ence	S	

List of figures:

Figure 1: Logo of the project EFICIENCE7
Figure 2: Discrete packaging (a) top view (b) bottom view (c) inner view of the package
Figure 3: Power module [4]
Figure 4: The design of a typical power discrete package TO-220 [13]30
Figure 5: Standard power module [18]
Figure 6: Schematic illustration of different bonding processes [22]
Figure 7: Bonding process with ribbon wedge [23]37
Figure 8: Typical power module packaging levels [26]
Figure 9: Cross section of IGBT power electronic module [16]40
Figure 10: Soft solder die attach process [24]41
Figure 11: Adhesive DAP as the grainy material between the die and the die pad [30].42
Figure 12: (a) Structure of diode (b)symbol of diode [31]43
Figure 13: Power diode structure [31]43
Figure 14: I-V characteristics of diode [31]44
Figure 15: Reverse recovery characteristics of power diodes [31]44
Figure 16: Schematic of n-substrate power MOSFET [33]45
Figure 17: Output characteristics of N-channel MOSFET [35]46
Figure 18: Location of intrinsic capacitances of a power MOSFET [37]47
Figure 19: Power MOSFET equivalent circuit including parasitic capacitances [38]47
Figure 20: Cross section of a trench field-stop IGBT [40]49
Figure 21: IGBT static characteristics [40]49
Figure 22: IGBT section and equivalent model with parasitic capacitances between
terminals [40]
Figure 23: The "bath-tub" failure curve of a large population of statistically identical
items, for two ambient temperatures $\theta_2 > \theta_1$ for electronic components [42]51
Figure 24: Reliability challenges in industry [46]53
Figure 25: Power electronics reliability research needs seen from today [46]
Figure 26: Wear out mechanisms of standard technologies [50]57

Figure 27: Bond wire (a) Heel crack (b) Heel crack due to low-cycle fatigue stressing (c)
Heel crack due to improper bond wire coating [45], [51]57
Figure 28: (a) Bond wire fracture (b) Bond wire lift-off [45]58
Figure 29: (a) Metallization before active cycling, (b) Reconstruction of metallization after
cycling [45]
Figure 30: Shear strength test (a) ball bond [54] (b) wedge bond [54] (c) die [53]60
Figure 31: Wire bond strength test (Bond pull test) [55]61
Figure 32: Crack detection in a micro solder bump: (a) metallographic microscopic image,
(b) slice-by-slice inspection of µCT images [58]63
Figure 33: SAM method for inspection of IC packaging (a) schematic diagram of SAM
method, (b) SAM inspection setup [59]64
Figure 34: Various types of defects detected by SAM: (a) Black void below under fill
level, (b) White void above under fill, (c) Micro-crack at wafer level, and (d) Delamination
between the die top and the encapsulates [59]64
Figure 35: SAM image of crack propagation in solder joints for different thermal cycles
[52]65
Figure 36: Defect detection using infrared thermography method: (a) missing bumps with
lower temperature and (b) failed device emitting increased heating [59]66
Figure 37: Basic principle of the pulsed eddy current imaging (PECI) device [62]69
Figure 38: Time-Domain Reflectometry (TDR) and Transmission (TDT) set-up [72]73
Figure 39: Schematic set-up for a four-terminal pair impedance measurement [72]77
Figure 40: Contacting Electrode method (Thin film Electrode) [76]78
Figure 41: Cylindrical epoxy substrate
Figure 42: (a) Parallel capacitance (Cp) and (b) Dissipation factor (D) measurements from
impedance analyzer
Figure 43: (a) Relative permittivity (b) dissipation factor as a function of frequency81
Figure 44: Block diagram of an RF Vector Network Analyzer (VNA) [78]82
Figure 45: Type of VNA measurement errors [80]84
Figure 46: VNA calibration methods [80]
Figure 47: Two-ports S-parameters representation90
Figure 48: S ₁₁ and S ₂₁ measurement [80]91

Figure 49: S ₁₂ and S ₂₂ measurements [80]91
Figure 50: Example for a 2-port network: a series impedance Z [89]92
Figure 51: General two-port network of Z-parameters
Figure 52: Finding Z ₁₁ and Z ₂₁ 95
Figure 53: Finding Z ₂₂ and Z ₁₂
Figure 54: Z ₁₁ magnitude for RLC computation
Figure 55: Microstrip line (a) Top view and (b) Bottom view
Figure 56: Microstrip line representation
Figure 57: Vector Network Analyzer (E5061B)101
Figure 58: Calibration kit (85032E)
Figure 59: VNA characterization of microstrip line
Figure 60: S-parameters magnitude of microstrip line
Figure 61: Definition of bandwidth
Figure 62: A system with input and output107
Figure 63: S-parameters phase of microstrip line substrate
Figure 64: Z ₁₁ parameter converted from measured S-parameters (a) Magnitude (b) Phase
Figure 65: Magnitude and phase of Z ₂₁ , Z ₁₂ , and Z ₂₂ parameters
Figure 66: Reciprocity check of S-parameters (S_{21} and S_{12}) (a) Magnitude (b) Phase110
Figure 67: Reciprocity check of Z-parameters $(Z_{21} \text{ and } Z_{12})$ (a) Magnitude (b) Phase.111
Figure 68: General equivalent circuit from a reciprocal impedance matrix
Figure 69: Lumped-element model for a microstrip line
Figure 70: T-network representing transmission line
Figure 71: Epoxy interface to model SMAs (a) top view (b) bottom view
Figure 72: Electrical equivalent circuit of SMA connectors
Figure 73: Experimental and simulation comparison of SMA modelling
Figure 74: Two-port electrical equivalent circuit of a transmission line with SMA
connectors
Figure 75: Experimental and simulation comparison of microstrip line substrate 116
Figure 76: Electrical equivalent circuit with 2 T-networks for microstrin line 118

Figure 77: Experimental and simulation comparison of an equivalent circuit with 2 T-
networks for microstrip line
Figure 78: 3D design of microstrip line substrate on Ansys Q3D119
Figure 79: Comparison of experimental and LTspice simulation (using RLC extracted
from Q3D) of a microstrip line
Figure 80: 3D design of microstrip line substrate with SMA and experimental and LTspice
simulation comparison
Figure 81: (a) Circuit simulation, (b) 2D model, and (c) 3D model
Figure 82: Comparison of VNA results and ADS simulation of the 3D model
Figure 83: Cosimulation in the ADS circuit environment
Figure 84: Comparison of VNA results and ADS cosimulation
Figure 85: Epoxy interface of TO-247 package vertically placed (a) top view, (b) bottom
view, and (c) footprint of top view
Figure 86: Two-port S-parameters measurement for a SiC power MOSFET129
Figure 87: S-parameters magnitude (a) transmission ($S_{12} \& S_{21}$) and (b) reflection ($S_{11} \&$
S ₂₂)
Figure 88: Z-parameters magnitude and phase of a TO-247 SiC MOSFET in a healthy
state
Figure 89: Two-port equivalent model representation (a) device model (b) three
impedance model
Figure 90: Two-port small signal equivalent circuit under zero DC biasing131
Figure 91: Simplified two-port network at low frequency for capacitance extraction (a)
Delta and (b) Star connection
Figure 92: Simplified two-port network for (a) resistance extraction (b) Inductance
extraction
Figure 93: LTspice two-port electrical equivalent circuit with RLC extracted values of
C2M0160120D
Figure 94: Experimental and simulation Z-parameters magnitude comparison of vertically
placed TO-247 SiC MOSFET (C2M0160120D)136
Figure 95: Experimental and simulation Z-parameters phase comparison of vertically
placed TO-247 SiC MOSFET (C2M0160120D)137

Figure 96: TO-247 SiC MOSFET (C2M0160120D) LTspice model (including SMA
model) and its comparison with experimental data
Figure 97: Epoxy interface of TO-247 package horizontally placed (a) top view, (b)
bottom view, (c) interface with device, and (d) interface footprint140
Figure 98: Experimental and simulation comparison of horizontally placed TO-247 SiC
MOSFET (C2M0160120D)141
Figure 99: Epoxy interface horizontally placed device (TO-247 SiC MOSFET
(C2M0160120D)) LTspice model including SMA and its comparison with experimental
data142
Figure 100: Active Metal Brazing ceramic substrate (a) top view (b) bottom view144
Figure 101: (a) Epoxy interface and ceramic substrate with epoxy interface in
measurement condition, top view (b), bottom view (c)144
Figure 102: Ceramic substrate with epoxy interface and grounding floating tracks in
measurement condition
Figure 103: S-parameters magnitude of two-port healthy state characterization of ceramic
substrate146
Figure 104: Comparison of config1 and config2 of a healthy state ceramic substrate
Reflection coefficients (S ₁₁ & S ₂₂)
Figure 105: Comparison of config3 of a healthy state ceramic substrate Reflection
coefficient (S ₁₁ & S ₂₂)147
Figure 106: Ceramic substrate with bonding wires connected between two tracks in
measurement condition
Figure 107: S-parameters magnitude of healthy state two-port characterization following
config2
Figure 108: Homemade packaging with IGBT die mounted on Track 2a in measurement
condition149
Figure 109: Proto1 S-parameters magnitude healthy state characterization following
config1
Figure 110: Proto1 Reflection parameters magnitude healthy state characterization
following config2150

right fill. Hotor Keneedon parameters magintude nearby state enalacterization
following config3151
Figure 112: Comparison of capacitances extracted from methodology to the datasheet and
CV measurements from B1505A curve tracer
Figure 113: LTspice two-port electrical equivalent circuit (GCOM) with RLC extracted
values of IGBT die (FGH25T120SMD)
Figure 114: Experimental and LTspice comparison of healthy state homemade packaging
with IGBT die following config1
Figure 115: Equivalent circuit of a bias tee
Figure 116: (a) Inductor used in bias tee (b) Electrical equivalent model of the inductance
Figure 117: (a) Ceramic capacitor (b) Electrical equivalent model of the capacitor 156
Figure 118: ADS circuit simulation of an electrical equivalent modelled of the bias tee
designed
Figure 119: S-parameters magnitude measurement between (a) RF and RF+DC (b) RF
and DC
Figure 120: Bias tee PCB design (a) ADS design (b) bias tee realization
Figure 121: S-parameters measurement between (RF and RF + DC) in S_{12} and (RF and
DC) in S ₁₁
Figure 122: Test setup equivalent circuit with bias-tee to polarize the IGBT die
Figure 123: Characterization of 2 bias - tees in series
Figure 124: Experimental setup to polarize the IGBT die mounted on ceramic substrate
Figure 125: S_{11} and S_{21} measurement between collector and emitter of ceramic substrate
with IGBT die in healthy mode in bandwidth (3 MHz – 1 GHz)160
Figure 126: Ceramic substrate with epoxy interface (a) Visualization in layout, and (b) 3D
environment
Figure 127: Comparison of experimental and ADS 3D simulation results of ceramic
Figure 127: Comparison of experimental and ADS 3D simulation results of ceramic substrate following config3
Figure 127: Comparison of experimental and ADS 3D simulation results of ceramic substrate following config3

Figure 130: Typical thermal profile of power cycles [109]168
Figure 131: Mentor Graphics (MicReD Industrial, 1500A Power Tester)169
Figure 132: Aging and characterization algorithm
Figure 133: (a) VNA characterization process, (b) DUT in climatic chamber, and (c)
Temperature monitoring171
Figure 134: S-parameters magnitude at 0 cycle and 318 cycles of prototype 1 following
config1
Figure 135: SAM evaluations of various Metal Ceramic Substrates (MCS) types after
thermal cycling [111]173
Figure 136: Z-parameters magnitude at 0 cycle and 318 cycles of prototype 1 following
config1
Figure 137: S-parameters magnitude at 0 cycle, 318, and 405 cycles of prototype 1
following config1174
Figure 138: Z-parameters magnitude at 0 cycle, 318, and 405 cycles of prototype 1
following config1175
Figure 139: 3D interface to ground floating tracks (a) 3D interface (b) in measurement
condition
Figure 140: S and Z parameters magnitude comparing the grounding technique177
Figure 141: S-parameters magnitude of successive aging cycles from 1034 cycles to 3338
cycles of prototype 1 following config1
Figure 142: Z-parameters magnitude of successive aging cycles from 1034 cycles to 3338
cycles of prototype 1 following config1179
Figure 143: S-parameters magnitude of series 1 (3338 cycles) and series 2 (3194 cycles)
prototypes following config1
Figure 144: Ceramic substrate with bonding wires in measurement condition indicating
the direction of manual lift-off of bond wire
Figure 145: S-parameters magnitude following state of health of bond wire connected
between Track 1 and Track 2b182
Figure 146: S-parameters magnitude following state of health of bond wire connected
between Track 1 and Track 2b zoom view

Figure 147: Z-parameters magnitude following state of health of bond wire connected
between Track 1 and Track 2b185
Figure 148: Z ₁₂ magnitude and phase following the successive measurements
Figure 149: Ceramic substrate with IGBT die and bond wires (a) bond wire lift-off
direction (b) after two bond wires lift-off
Figure 150: S-parameters magnitude of ceramic substrate with IGBT die following
successive measurements
Figure 151: S-parameters magnitude of ceramic substrate with IGBT die following
successive measurements
Figure 152: Z-parameters magnitude of ceramic substrate with IGBT die following
successive measurements190
Figure 153: Z-parameters magnitude of homemade packaging with IGBT die following
the state of the health of bond wires
Figure 154: Z_{11} and Z_{21} phase plots following successive measurements of ceramic
substrate with IGBT die and bond wires192
Figure 155: S_{11} and S_{21} measurement between collector and emitter of ceramic substrate
with IGBT die in healthy and faulty mode in bandwidth (3 $MHz - 1 GHz$)193
Figure 156: Z-parameters magnitude between collector and emitter of ceramic substrate
with IGBT die in healthy and faulty mode in bandwidth (3 MHz - 1 GHz)194
Figure 157: APC test setup
Figure 158: TO-247 SiC MOSFET (C2M0160120D) internal view197
Figure 159: voltage drop on the device at heating current level as a function of applied
power cycles of Group1 devices
Figure 160: SAM images highlighting bond wire and brazing connection after aging of
three devices of Group1
Figure 161: Structure function of Group1 devices for different aging cycles201
Figure 162: S-parameters magnitude of Group1 devices before and after aging following
configuration GCOM (D1S2)
Figure 163: Reflection parameters magnitude and phase of Group1 devices before and
after aging following configuration GCOM (D1S2)

Figure 164: CV measurements on B1505A curve tracer of Group1 devices before and after
aging
Figure 165: Two-port impedance model representing the configuration SCOM (G1D2)
Figure 166: Z-parameters magnitude of Group1 devices before and after aging following
configuration SCOM (G1D2)
Figure 167: Z-parameters magnitude of Group1 devices before and after aging following
configuration SCOM (G1D2) in bandwidth 10 MHz-50 MHz205
Figure 168: IV characteristics of transistor and diode of Group1 devices before and after
aging
Figure 169: voltage drop on the device at heating current level as a function of applied
power cycles of Group2 devices
Figure 170: SAM images highlighting bond wire connection after aging of three devices
of Group2
Figure 171: S_{11} , S_{12} , Z_{11} , and Z_{12} comparison of Group2 devices before and after aging
Figure 172: Z-parameters magnitude of Group2 devices before and after aging in the
bandwidth of 30 MHz - 45 MHz
Figure 173: CV measurements on B1505A curve tracer of Group2 devices before and after
aging
Figure 174: IV characteristics of transistor and diode of Group2 devices before and after
aging
Figure 175: Discrete power samples placed inside climatic chamber212
Figure 176: S-parameters magnitude of Sample1 for different aging cycles following the
configuration DCOM (G1S2)
Figure 177: Z-parameters magnitude and phase of sample1 for different cycles following
the configuration DCOM (G1S2)
Figure 178: S parameters magnitude of sample2 for different aging cycles following the
configuration DCOM (G1S2)
Figure 179: Z_{11} and Z_{22} phase curves of sample2 for different aging cycles following the
configuration DCOM (G1S2) 217

Figure 180: Homemade packaging with brazing and clips at different locations220
Figure 181: S_{21} (Transmission) & S_{11} (Reflection) magnitude in healthy state221
Figure 182: (a) Proto1 after 504 cycles (b) S_{21} magnitude in healthy and faulty states 221
Figure 183: Proto1 and Proto2 path for a transmission behavior characteristic
Figure 184: Comparison of Proto1 and Proto2 in a healthy state (a) S_{12} magnitude, (b) Z_{12}
magnitude, and (c) Z ₁₂ phase
Figure 185: Electrical equivalent schema
Figure 186: Experimental and LTspice simulation Z-parameters magnitude comparison of
Proto2 in a healthy state
Figure 187: Successive failure of clips
Figure 188: S-parameters magnitude for successive failure of clips
Figure 189: Equivalent impedance following config1

List of tables:

Table 1: Different discrete devices
Table 2: Parameter description of Wire-bonding processes [20]36
Table 3: Compositions and Melting Points of some Eutectic Die Attach Preforms [30] 41
Table 4: CTE values of power assembly material [42]
Table 5: Dimensions of microstrip line
Table 6: VNA parameter settings 102
Table 7: RLCG values of microstrip line extracted from experimental data (converted Z-
parameters)113
Table 8: Epoxy substrate with short microstrip line dimensions 114
Table 9: RLCG values of SMA connectors extracted from experimental data115
Table 10: Two-port configurations for three terminals TO packages
Table 11: Parasitic elements extraction comparison
Table 12: Measurement configurations of ceramic substrate 145
Table 13: Two-port configuration of homemade packaging with IGBT die mounted on
Track 2a149
Table 14: Specifications of the Inductor from Wurth Electronics 155
Table 15: Specifications of the ceramic capacitor from TDK 155
Table 16: Summary table of different tests and failure observed 164
Table 17: RLCG parameters extracted from measurements for healthy, faulty, and renewal
of grounding wires
Table 18: Summary table of passive cycling test on homemade packaging with no
interconnects
Table 19: Resonance frequency and its % decrease following the state of the health of
bond wires of a ceramic substrate with bond wires from S-parameters magnitude183
Table 20: Magnitude and its % increase following the state of the health of bond wires of
a ceramic substrate with bond wires from S-parameters magnitude184
Table 21: Resonance frequency and its % decrease following the state of the health of
bond wires of a ceramic substrate with bond wires from Z-parameters magnitude186
Table 22: Magnitude and its % increase following the state of the health of bond wires of
a ceramic substrate with bond wires from Z-parameters magnitude

Table 23: Resonance frequency and its % decrease following the state of the health of
bond wires of a ceramic substrate with bond wires and IGBT die from S-parameters
magnitude189
Table 24: Magnitude and its % increase following the state of the health of bond wires of
a ceramic substrate with bond wires and IGBT die from S-parameters magnitude 190
Table 25: Resonance frequency and its % decrease following the state of the health of
bond wires of a ceramic substrate with bond wires and IGBT die from Z-parameters
magnitude191
Table 26: Magnitude and its % increase following the state of the health of bond wires of
a ceramic substrate with bond wires and IGBT die from Z-parameters magnitude 192
Table 27: Resonance frequency and its % decrease following the state of the health of
bond wires of a ceramic substrate with bond wires and IGBT die (polarized) from S-
parameters magnitude
Table 28: Magnitude and its % change following the state of the health of bond wires of
a ceramic substrate with bond wires and IGBT die (polarized) from S-parameters
magnitude194
Table 29: Electrical parameters of TO-247 SiC MOSFET (C2M0160120D)195
Table 30: Values applied to the aging test 195
Table 31: Device under test for APC test 197
Table 32: Percentage increase in resistance of Group1 devices for each step of V_{on} 199
Table 33: Increase in resistance of K24 and G24 after aging extracted from Z_{11} , Z_{12} , and
Z ₂₂ following SCOM (G1D2) configuration
Table 34: Decrease in resonance frequency of K24 and G24 after aging extracted from
Z ₁₁ , Z ₁₂ , and Z ₂₂ following SCOM (G1D2) configuration
Table 35: Percentage increase in resistance of Group2 devices for each step of Von208
Table 36: Increase in resistance of Group2 devices after aging extracted from Z_{11} , Z_{12} , and
Z ₂₂ following SCOM (G1D2) configuration
Table 37: Decrease in resonance frequency of Group2 devices after aging extracted from
Z ₁₁ , Z ₁₂ , and Z ₂₂ following SCOM (G1D2) configuration
Table 38: Resonance frequency and its percentage change compared to initial state from
S-parameters magnitude of sample2 following the configuration DCOM (G1S2)216

Chapter 1 : State of the art of power modules

1.1 Introduction

Power electronics devices play a crucial role in controlling and managing electrical power in various applications. These applications ranging from basic voltage regulation in consumer electronics to complex power conversion in industrial systems and renewable energy setups. Advances in power electronics continues to drive improvements in energy efficiency and performance across various industries. The emergence of these new technologies has ignited interest in integration and optimization, leading to inquiries about the reliability and the durability of these devices. In such context, this chapter describes the issues related to reliability, failure mechanisms, and the classification of failure modes, covering both destructive and non-destructive evaluation techniques. Furthermore, it highlights the importance of online health monitoring and the associated challenges in finding effective failure indicators in the context of these evolving technologies.

1.2 Power electronics packaging technologies

Power electronics can be packaged discretely (Figure 2) or in modules (Figure 3) [5]. However, it is important to distinguish between components and modules. One of the most noticeable tradeoffs when comparing discrete power devices with power modules relates to the physical space they occupy and the power density they provide [6]. Figure 2 (c) presents the inner view of the discrete package which contain single die.



Figure 2: Discrete packaging (a) top view (b) bottom view (c) inner view of the package



Figure 3: Power module [4]

1.2.1 Power discrete devices

Power discrete devices are single semiconductors like diodes, transistors or IGBTs, etc. [7]. These components find applications within various systems and can be broadly categorized into two main groups: power rectifiers and power switches [8]. Power transistors are significant as discrete devices, serving diverse roles to regulate voltages, mitigate power consumption, and reduce heat generation. Emerging wide-bandgap power devices, such as GaN and SiC, have expanded the possibilities, offering solutions for both low and high-power applications at high frequencies. These technologies spread to various sectors, including consumer electronics, power grid infrastructure, energy, transportation, and the automotive industry [7].

Power devices come in two primary material categories: those based on silicon and those employing wide-bandgap materials. Examples include power metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors (MOSFETs), power diodes, thyristors, and insulated gate bipolar transistors (IGBTs). Notably, some of these technologies possess the characteristics required to meet the demands of high-reliability systems, such as those used in aerospace applications like airplanes, helicopters, and satellites. Consequently, there is a pressing need for in-depth research into the packaging techniques and reliability assessment of these power devices [9].

1.2.2 Power discrete device packaging and assembly

Packaging is crucial in unlocking electronic devices' complete potential [10]. There exist different components following the mounting technology of the electronic components. The two main families of components:

- Through-Hole Devices, commonly known as THDs
- Surface-Mount Devices (SMDs)

The through-hole involves the use of leads on the components that are inserted into the holes drilled in Printed Circuit Boards (PCBs). These leads are then soldered to pads on either the same side or the opposite side of the PCB, and this assembly process can be achieved through manual placement (by hand) or by employing automated insertion mount machines [11].

Surface mount devices, often referred to as SMDs, are electronic components that are fixed to the surface of a PCB using Surface-Mount Technology (SMT). Initially, this technology was known as planar mounting [11].

Following the JEDEC standards, a standard mark called "Transistor Outline (TO)" is defined to distinguish different TO packages following their characteristics [12]. TO power product is a typical discrete power package still used today. Figure 4 presents the design of a typical discrete power package TO-220. Its construction consists of a power MOSFET or IGBT die, solder paste for die attach, lead frame and pad, bond wires, and Epoxy Mold Compound (EMC) [13].



Figure 4: The design of a typical power discrete package TO-220 [13]

The power MOSFET/IGBT connects the source/emitter lead through a larger diameter metal (such as Aluminum (Al) bond wire). The gate of the MOSFET/IGBT connects to the gate lead with a smaller diameter bond wire. The basic assembly process for a discrete power device includes: the power wafer dice, die pick up and die attaches to the dap of the lead frame, wire bonding the source/emitter of the power die to the source/emitter of

leads and gate of the power die to the gate lead, molding, trim/form and singulation [14]. Normally, the designs often require custom mounting process which basically includes leads forming and the heat sink mounting. Improper handling of lead forming of the devices and the heat sink mounting can result in immediate or latent failure from cracked epoxy, epoxy delamination, die fractures, and bond-wire shearing [15].

Table 1 presents different TO packages that were studied during this thesis. It presents the device reference, type of package, type of power device, maximum voltage and current ratings followed by the image of the device.

Device	Package & device type	Voltage (V)	Current (A)	Image
C2M0160120D	TO-247-3 SiC MOSFET	1200	18	
IRL520NPBF	TO-220AB Si MOSFET	100	10	IRLEZON DYS BEER
STF11NM60ND	TO-220FP Si MOSFET	600	10	Constant of the second
STW26NM60ND	TO-247-3 Si MOSFET	600	21	
SCT3080ALGC11	TO-247N SiC MOSFET	650	30	
SCT2160KEC	TO-247 SiC MOSFET	1200	22	
IRLI540NPBF	TO-220 Si MOSFET	100	23	A 200
FQU13N10LTU	TO-251 I-Pak Si MOSFET	100	10	

Table 1: Different discrete devices

1.2.3 Power electronic modules

Power modules are widely used, especially in converter applications. They are comprehensive assemblies that contain multiple power chips, primarily power semiconductor devices, as well as insulating materials, electrical connections, mechanical supports, and encapsulation. These components work together for efficient power conversion. In some cases, these modules also include control electronics like gate drivers, sensing components, and protection functions. When these control elements are integrated within the power module package, they are known as Intelligent Power Modules (IPMs) [16].

Power modules offer several benefits, including the tight integration of multiple power semiconductor devices, the capability to handle high current and power ratings by paralleling multiple semiconductor dice within the module, effective thermal management, and mechanical durability. Perhaps the most significant advantage is the minimization of parasitic elements, especially parasitic inductances, thanks to this close integration.

Figure 5 illustrate different components of standard power module. The semiconductor chips/dice are brazed on a Direct Bonded Copper (DBC) substrate and interconnected with wire bonds. The substrate is then fixed onto a sole which provides mechanical support for the assembly and heat transfer to the cold source. The ceramic substrate also plays an insulating role. The electrical connections inside the power modules are achieved by wiring, or bonding. Finally, the assembly is boxed and encapsulated with a silicone gel to enhance the performance, reliability, and longevity of power modules. To maintain the junction temperature of components below a critical value during the operating cycle, the power module is fixed on a cooling system [16]. It can be clearly seen that the power electronic modules have a combination of materials that will behave differently under thermal and vibrational loading [17].



Figure 5: Standard power module [18]

Different elements of the power module are described below:

- (a) *Semiconductor chips*: it serves as the foundation of a power electronic module, where semiconductor chips dictate the voltage, current, and power specifications of the module. Power modules come in various power converter configurations, like half-bridge and full-bridge, based on how the semiconductor chips are interconnected internally. To achieve a high current capacity, multiple semiconductor chips can be parallel within the power electronic module [16].
- (b) Direct bonded copper (DBC) substrate: the DBC "Direct Bonded Copper" substrate acts as a bridge between the electric components in the power module and the heat sink (cooling system). It comprises a ceramic insulator layer with copper bonded to one or both sides by a high-temperature melting and diffusion process. Its primary role is to provide electrical insulation between the active elements (chips) and the sole (in contact with the outside environment). The upper layer of the copper allows the chips to interconnect. This substrate adds thermal resistance between the chips and the sole, which mainly depends on the properties of the insulation material used and significantly characterize the efficiency of the heat exchange [19].
- (c) The baseplate: the baseplate functions as a foundational support for all the elements within a power module. Its primary purpose is to provide mechanical stability for the module's components and facilitate their placement on heat exchangers. To fulfill its role effectively, the baseplate needs to possess desirable mechanical attributes such as stiffness, low weight, and a minimal coefficient of Thermal Expansion (CTE). Typically crafted from copper, it is usually a few millimeters thick.
- (d) The solder: the soldering case serves a multifaceted role by simultaneously fulfilling several functions. It enables the assembly of various components and plays vital role in facilitating the thermal transfer between the active elements and the substrate. Furthermore, it establishes the connection between the semiconductor and the metalized substrate, which in turn connects to the external power interfaces. The lower and upper solder layers provide mechanical integrity between the substrate (DBC) and the chip. The thickness of the soldering layer can vary from a few tens to hundreds of micrometers. It is essential for this soldering to exhibit low thermal resistance and excellent electrical conductivity, especially in the context of the lower part of the chip, which corresponds to an electrode connected to the DBC through the upper solder layer [16].
- (e) *Dielectric gel*: the module case, once assembled, is filled with silicone gel. This gel serves as a protective barrier with stable dielectric strength, enhancing resistance to partial discharges and safeguarding the module from oxidation and ambient humidity. However, it comes with the drawback of having a restricted temperature tolerance, up to 200 °C, and relatively low thermal conductivity.
- (*f*) *Case*: the entire power module is enclosed within a polymer or metal casing to shield it from environmental contaminants and fluctuations. This casing is designed with low thermal resistance, ensuring efficient heat transfer between the modules and its external surroundings.
- (g) Wire bonding: the electrical connection between the top connections of semiconductor chips and module terminals are established through a process known as wire bonding [16]. Wire bonding is a solid-phase metal welding method that employs heat, pressure, and/or ultrasonic energy to create a bond between a

wire and a pad through the sharing of electrons or atom interdiffusion [20]. Wire bonding is the most established and widely adopted technology in the industry due to its simplicity, versatility, and cost-effectiveness. Currently, it is estimated that over 90% of manufactured packages rely on this method [21]. Wire bonds can be formed using a range of machines, from manual to automated models. The primary aim is to create a connection with minimal resistance, strong mechanical durability, and exceptional reliability under various conditions. Nevertheless, achieving these fundamental goals depends on factors such as the substrate material and its characteristics as well as various wire bonding parameters like temperature, duration, and applied force during the wire bonding procedure [22]. The bonding wires used for the power part are often aluminum and have a diameter between 100 μ m and 150 μ m. For the transport applications, specifically for railways it can go to maximum of 500 μ m. The aluminum of bonding wires is often combined with alloys which reduce the risk of corrosion (Nickel) or even increase its hardness (Silicon) [21].

Two basic techniques are currently used: *wedge wire bonding* and *ball wire bonding*. For each technique, there are three wire-bonding processes shown in Figure 6: *thermo-compression* (thermal energy is applied to form a wire bond), *ultra-sonic* (energy for the weld comes from ultrasonic forces), and *thermo-sonic* (uses ultrasonic and thermal energy to form a wire bond). Figure 6 presents the schematic illustration of different bonding process.



Figure 6: Schematic illustration of different bonding processes [22]

Process	Force (cN)	Temperature °C	Ultrasonic Power	Wire	Pad
Thermocompression (TC)	30 - 150	250 - 500	-	Au	
Ultrasonic (US)	25 - 45	Ambient	100 - 150	Al, Au	
Thermosonic (TS)	30 - 90	80 - 200	mw (@ 60 – 120 kHz)	Au	Al, Au

Table 2: Parameter description of Wire-bonding processes [20]

Wedge wire bonding typically uses the thermo-sonic and ultra-sonic techniques depending on the application requirements. The aluminum wire is placed in a movable head comprising a guide and a knife. The welding between the wire and the metallization is carried out by applying a force of the order of 150 gf (gram force) on the wire, combined with a vibration whose energy is adjustable in time and power [20]. This ultrasonic energy causes heating of the bonding foot and its welding. The head then rises and moves horizontally before descending and making one or more additional welds, if necessary. The knife then makes it possible to cut the wire.

Ball wire bonding involves passing a wire through a heated capillary to create a molten ball at the end, followed by applying force to crush the ball, enabling atom diffusion and chip metallization. Subsequently, the tool is lifted to form a loop, perform a second weld, and cut the wire. Parameter descriptions for the process are available in Table 2. *Ribbon bonding* is another possible bonding wire technique presented in Figure 7. Ribbon bonders are essentially wedge bonders with flat ribbon wire, offering a larger bond area for potentially increased reliability. The advantages of this technique are as follows [21]:

- Higher current density
- > Stronger attachment area with respect to thermo-mechanical cycling
- At higher frequency, the low thickness to the width ratio makes it possible to reduce the parasitic inductance

Also ribbon connection provides low impedance and the considerable heat dissipation. Due to these characteristics' ribbons are frequently used, for example in RF technology [23].



Figure 7: Bonding process with ribbon wedge [23]

Other techniques are possible such as connection by balls (solder bump) or connections by nano and micro-posts. However, these techniques are still far from the industrial applications.

To assess the quality of a wire bond, electrical testing is carried out to confirm the establishment of a low-resistance path, and pull tests are commonly employed to gauge the bond's strength. Challenges arise when making wire bonds on substrates with smaller bond pads compared to larger ones, as the increased vertical pressure from the wire bonder on smaller pads can lead to potential deformation of the bonding pad and substrate material, especially at elevated bonding temperatures [22].

1.2.4 Power module packaging

Packaging is an important step in the assembly process of an electronic chip. A package must assure the following functions [21]:

- Die protection and mechanical resistance: the aim is to ensure the die disposing (as a function of package dimensions, shape, weight, etc.), and its mechanical and chemical protection against environment (vibrations, temperature variations, dust, moisture, etc.).
- Consistence with the needs of the system: a specific interest is granted to electrical properties (electrical insulation and conduction), heat transfer capacity.
- Interface between the die and the electrical system (outside world)
- ➢ Favorable costs

The field of power electronic packaging is experiencing rapid technological progress. It is driven mainly by the expanding market for power electronic applications. This applications include automotive, railway, home electronics, consumer electronics, and high-power industry [24]. However, due to intrinsic high-power dissipation, the performance requirement for power electronics is incredibly high, especially in handling harsh thermal and electrical environments. The advancement of power packages depends on the integration progress of power devices. Current power devices have two major integration mode: *Monolithic integration* and *hybrid integration*.

- Monolithic integration includes power integrated circuits, High Voltage Integrated Circuits (HVIC), and intelligent discrete power devices combined with functional integration and the integration of passive elements
- Hybrid integration includes the standard power module and the intelligent power module

Today, the trends of monolithic integration favor 3D heterogeneous and hybrid integration for higher switching frequencies, reduced bulky components, and soft switching for efficiency and low harmonics. Silicon carbide (SiC) and other wide band gap (WBG) semiconductor devices are ultimately important elements for hybrid integration to advance system dynamic characteristics, overload capability, device ruggedness, and thermal and electrical performance [25].

The power integration is usually presented in three subsets shown in Figure 8:

- Semiconductor elements (packaging level 0)
- The assembly, composed of the metallized insulating substrate, the sole, the electrical connections, and soldering allowing the mechanical maintenance of the whole (packaging level 1)
- Protection to the device with the case and the gel (packaging level 2)



Figure 8: Typical power module packaging levels [26]

Integration in power electronics is rather a complex process due to incompatibility of materials, processing methods used in fabrication, high density levels, and electrical isolation requirement. Packaging involves the solution of electrical, mechanical, and thermal problems [24]. Once the device is packaged, the next step is to assemble the rest of the power electronic circuit [27].

1.2.5 Power module assembly

Assembly manufacturing processes can be categorized into two blocks: Front of Line (FOL) and End of Line (EOL), with multiple process steps in each.

Front of line (FOL): in *FOL* manufacturing, the standard procedure involves the wafer handling process. This procedure includes picking up dice from a tape, which can become more intricate as dice thinning becomes more extreme, die-attach, and wire bonding [24].

End of line (EOL): the typical processes in EOL includes molding process, molding ejection, and clamping process.

Here, the major focus is on the Die Attach Process (DAP). Inspecting all components thoroughly before die assembly is the recommended step. Regardless of precise assembly processes, the component condition, as well as the environment, greatly influence the final assembly quality [28]. The selection of die attach material becomes critical to ensure package robustness and reliability [29].

Die attach: die attach is the process of attaching a die/chip to a substrate or package. For example, in the power module of Figure 9, the IGBT chip and the diode chip are attached to the top copper layer of the DBC substrate [16].



Figure 9: Cross section of IGBT power electronic module [16]

There are different die attaching techniques. The two most commonly used are *eutectic die attach and adhesive die attach*. Both of these processes use special die attach equipment and die attach tools to mount the die.

a) Eutectic die attach: this technique is commonly employed in hermetic packages, uses a eutectic alloy to attach the die to the cavity. A eutectic alloy is the alloy with the lowest melting point possible for the metals combined in the alloy. The gold-silicon (Au-Si) eutectic alloy is the most commonly used die attach alloy in semiconductor packaging [30]. For example, the preform formed by combining gold and silicon contains melting point of 363°C while the individual melting point of gold and silicon is 1640°C and 1414°C respectively [16]. Table 3 presents different composition of alloys and their melting points in liquids and solids state.

Composition	Temperature (°C)	
	Liquids	Solids
80% Au, 20% Sn	280	280
92.5% Pb, 2.5% Ag, 5% In	300	-
97.5% Pb, 1.5% Ag, 1% Sn	309	309
95% Pb, 5% Sn	314	310
88% Au, 12% Ge	356	356
98% Au, 2% Si	800	370

Table 3: Compositions and Melting Points of some Eutectic Die Attach Preforms [30]

A typical soft solder DAP is shown in the Figure 10. A lead frame is held on the surface of the heater block. The soft solder is then placed on the lead frame. A die holder (vacuum collect head) picks the die with metallization from the tape. The temperature of the heater block is raised up to the melting temperature of the solder wire which makes the wire fuse. Finally, the die which is held by the die holder is placed on the melt solder which on the lead frame, and as soon as the solder cools down a solid connection is established. The most commonly used preforms for the power electronics nowadays are SAC305 or SnAg.



Figure 10: Soft solder die attach process [24]

b) Adhesive die attach: this technique uses a polymer-based die attach adhesive, typically epoxy resin for attaching the die to the substrate. Figure 11 presents the adhesive DAP as the grainy material between the die and the die pad. Due to its lower thermal and electrical conductivity properties this technique is limited its application. In addition, power modules often experience high levels of thermal stresses due to their operational demands. Adhesive materials may not withstand repeated thermal stresses as effectively solder or eutectic materials. Over time, the

adhesive can degrade, leading to potential reliability issues and module failure [16].



Figure 11: Adhesive DAP as the grainy material between the die and the die pad [30]

In all of the methods discussed above, to select the right material and maintaining the correct thickness of soldering is the key to optimizing the reliability. Great care must be taken when placing the die into wet paste. The die needs to be flat and level, with respect to the substrate.

1.3 Semiconductor device functioning and characteristics

A power semiconductor device is typically employed in a "commutation mode" (i.e., it is either on or off), and therefore has a design optimized for this specific mode of operation. The most common power semiconductor devices used in power electronics are power MOSFETs, power diodes, IGBTs, and thyristors [16]. Power MOSFETs and power diodes function similarly to low-power counterparts but handle higher current and tolerate larger reverse-bias voltage in the off-state.

1.3.1 Power diode

A power diode, frequently employed in power electronics circuits, shares the fundamental attributes of a standard diode. It possesses two terminals and allow current flow in a single direction. Nevertheless, a power diode is specially designed to accommodate higher current ratings, leading to variations in its construction compared to a standard diode [31].

Diodes represent the most basic semiconductor devices, characterized by their simple structure comprising just two layers, two terminals, and a single junction. In the case of typical diodes, this junction is created by the combination of p-type and n-type semiconductors. The lead connected to the p-type is known as the anode, while the opposite lead attached to the n-type is referred to as the cathode [31].



Figure 12: (a) Structure of diode (b)symbol of diode [31]

Figure 12 presents the structure of an ordinary diode and its symbol. Regular diodes have a PN junction, where both P and N sides have the same doping level. In contrast, power diodes feature a junction between a heavily doped P^+ and a lightly doped N^- layer, with the N-layer epitaxially grown on a heavily doped N^+ layer, resulting in the structure shown in Figure 13 [31].



Figure 13: Power diode structure [31]

The light doping of the N- layer increases the thickness of the depletion region, allowing the diode to withstand higher reverse-biased voltages, resulting in a greater breakdown voltage. However, this N- layer also raises the diode's ohmic resistance, causing increased heat generation during forward conduction. Consequently, power diodes require specific heat dissipation methods and mountings [31].

Figure 14 presents the I-V characteristics of a power diode. In signal diodes, forward bias results in exponential current growth, but in power diode, high forward current causes a significant ohmic drop, leading to a nearly linear current increase [31].



Figure 14: I-V characteristics of diode [31]

The diode's maximum reverse voltage tolerance is represented by V_{RRM} , known as peak reverse repetitive voltage. Exceeding this voltage causes a sudden surge in reverse current, potentially damaging the diode as it is not designed to handle such high heat. This voltage is also referred to as peak inverse voltage (PIV) [31].



Figure 15: Reverse recovery characteristics of power diodes [31]

Figure 15 illustrates a power diode's reverse recovery behavior. When the diode turns off, the current decreases from I_F to zero and further continues in reverse direction owing to stored charges in the space charge and semiconductor regions. This reverse current reaches a peak, I_{RR} , and gradually returns to zero, signifying the diodes off state after the t_{rr} time. The t_{rr} , or reverse recovery time, is the duration between the point where the forward current reaches zero and when the reverse current drops to 25% of I_{RR} , indicating that the diode has regained its reverse blocking capacity [31].

1.3.2 Power MOSFET

The power metal-oxide semiconductor field-effect transistor (MOSFET) is a unipolar, majority carrier, and voltage-controlled device. It is of the most commonly used power device because of its high attractive properties like fast switching speed, easy gate driving, and low loss dissipation.

Over recent years, power semiconductor electronics have undergone rapid advancements to fulfill the demands of emerging applications characterized by shrinking technology sizes and increasing current density. Vertical trench technology is the prevailing configuration in the market for low-power and high-current-density applications. Figure 16 presents the DMOSFET design featuring a double-diffusion structure, comprising of a P-base region and an N⁺ source region [32]. The channel of electrons is formed in the p-type region under the gate when the gate to source voltage is polarized above the threshold. From the packaging point of view, most importantly, the source (S) terminal is placed over the drain (D) terminal forming a vertical structure. As a result, the power current flows beneath the gate area vertically between the source and drain terminals through numerous n⁺ sources conducting in parallel.



Figure 16: Schematic of n-substrate power MOSFET [33]

Due to its vertical design, the primary advantage of a VDMOS (Vertical Double-Diffused Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor) device lies in its capacity for extensive integration of numerous small symmetrical cells. These cells are interconnected parallel to the same surface source metallization and drain layer, directly linked to the device's substrate. In this configuration, the gate width becomes the critical factor determining the number of

cells that can be incorporated within a single VDMOS device. In a vertical structure, the VDMOS transistor's voltage rating is determined by the doping and thickness of the N^+ epitaxial layer, while its current rating is based on the channel width. This feature enables the VDMOS to support both high blocking voltage and high current in a compact silicon package, setting it apart from planar structure [34].

Power MOSFET characteristics:

The static behavior of the device is defined by the output characteristics which is shown in the Figure 17.



Figure 17: Output characteristics of N-channel MOSFET [35]

It has regions labeled as Cut-off, Ohmic, and Current saturated. In power electronics applications the normal functioning is ohmic. In the ohmic region, the device acts as a resistor with almost a constant on-resistance, $(R_{DS(on)})$ defined by V_{ds}/I_{ds} [35].

The MOSFET's dynamic behavior is highly dependent on the parasitic capacitances. In a power MOSFET, the gate is insulated by a thin silicon oxide [36]. Therefore, a power MOSFET has capacitances between the gate-to-source C_{gs} , gate-to-drain C_{gd} , and drain-to-source C_{ds} as shown in Figure 18. The capacitance C_{gs} and C_{gd} are determined by the capacitance of the gate oxide film and C_{ds} is the junction capacitance of the parasitic diode.



Figure 18: Location of intrinsic capacitances of a power MOSFET [37]



Figure 19: Power MOSFET equivalent circuit including parasitic capacitances [38]

Figure 19 presents the power MOSFET equivalent circuit including parasitic capacitances. Semiconductor capacitances typically depend on both voltage and the frequency at which capacitance is measured. Gate-to-drain capacitance, C_{gd} , exhibits non-linear behavior with voltage and holds paramount significance as it establishes a feedback loop between the circuit's output and input. It is often referred to as the Miller capacitance because it increase the total dynamic input capacitance, surpassing the sum of the static capacitances [36].

Typical values of input (C_{iss}), output (C_{oss}), and reverse transfer (C_{rss}) capacitances are provided in the datasheets and are used by circuit designers as a starting point in determining circuit component values. The datasheet capacitances are defined in terms of the equivalent circuit capacitances as presented in Eq. 1, Eq. 2, and Eq. 3:

$$C_{iss} = C_{gs} + C_{gd}$$
, C_{ds} shorted Eq. 1

$$C_{rss} = C_{gd}$$
 Eq. 2

$$C_{oss} = C_{ds} + C_{gd} \qquad \qquad Eq. \ 3$$

C_{iss} is the input capacitance and is the capacitance as a whole, as seen from the input. To activate the MOSFET, this capacitance must be charged. It is important parameter to study the drivability of an input device or input losses [39].

 C_{rss} is the gate-drain capacitance C_{gd} itself, and is called reverse transfer or feedback capacitance. If C_{rss} is large, the rise and fall in drain current is delayed even after the gate is turned on and off respectively. It other words, this parameter greatly affects switching speed.

 C_{oss} is the output capacitance and is the total capacitance on the output side. If C_{oss} is large, a current arising due to C_{oss} flows at the output even when the gate is turned off, and time is required for the output to turn off completely [39].

1.3.3 Power IGBT

The Insulated-Gate Bipolar Transistor (IGBT) Blend the advantages of MOS gate with the high current-carrying capacity and low saturation voltage found in bipolar transistors, as depicted in Figure 20. They are preferred choice for high-current and high-voltage applications. The operation of IGBTs closely similar to that of MOSFETs. When a positive voltage is applied from the emitter to the gate terminals, it initiates an electron flow toward the gate within the body region. Suppose the gate-emitter voltage equals or exceeds the threshold voltage. In this case, electrons migrate toward the gate, forming a conductive channel across the body region. This enables the current flow from the collector to the emitter (electrons moving from the emitter to the collector). This electron flow also attracts holes or positive ions from the p-type substrate toward the drift region near the emitter [40].



Figure 20: Cross section of a trench field-stop IGBT [40]

Figure 21 present the transfer characteristics of IGBT. To obtain the essential static characteristics of an IGBT, the gate-emitter voltage (V_{GE}) is adjusted while measuring the collector-emitter voltage (V_{CE}) and collector current (I_C). Subsequently, a graph representing the relationship between I_C and V_{CE} is constructed [40].



Figure 21: IGBT static characteristics [40]

The other important parameter is $V_{CE (sat)}$. It is the collector-to-emitter voltage drop during IGBT conduction, signifying power dissipation. It depends on collector current (I_C), gateemitter voltage (V_{GE}), and junction temperature (T_J). The specified values for V_{CE (sat)} are at rated I_C, V_{GE} of 15 V, and the three temperatures: 25°C, 125°C, and 175°C. IGBTs are typically used as switches within the saturation region of V_{CE} . Raising V_{GE} enhances channel conductivity, lowering $V_{CE (sat)}$, while increasing I_C also elevates $V_{CE (sat)}$ [40].

The dynamic characteristics of IGBTs are impacted by parasitic capacitances. These capacitance values are typically determined under specific conditions: $V_{CE} = 25$ V, f = 1 MHz, and $V_{GE} = 0$ V. The reduction in capacitance is inversely related to the voltage applied across the collector-to-emitter junction [40]. Figure 22 illustrates the IGBT section and equivalent model with parasitic capacitance between the terminals.



Figure 22: IGBT section and equivalent model with parasitic capacitances between terminals [40]

Eq. 4, Eq. 5, and Eq. 6 gives the typical input, reverse transfer, and output capacitances of IGBT.

$$C_{ies} = C_{ge} + C_{gc}$$
, C_{ce} shorted Eq. 4

$$C_{res} = C_{gc}$$
 Eq. 5

$$C_{oes} = C_{ce} + C_{gc} \qquad \qquad Eq. \ 6$$

The input capacitance, known as C_{ies} , is mesasured between the gate and emitter terminals while the collector is shorted to the emitter, specifically for AC signals. C_{ies} is a combination of the gate-to-emitter capacitance (C_{gc}) and the gate-to-emitter capacitance (C_{ge}). Charging C_{ies} to the threshold voltage is necessary for the device to start turning on, and discharging it to the plateau voltage is essential for the device to begin turning off. Consequently, both the impedance of the drive circuitry and C_{ies} directly affect the turnon and turn-off delays of the device [40].

The reverse capacitance (C_{res}), is measured between the collector and gate terminals with the emitter grounded. It is identical to the gate-to-collector capacitance and is commonly called the Miller capacitance. It is one of the significant factors in voltage rise and fall times during switching, tends to decrease as the collector-to-emitter voltage increase, particularly in the case of the output and reverse transfer capacitances. This various is associated with gate charge data [40].

 C_{oes} is the output capacitance, determined by measuring it between the collector and emitter terminals while shorting the gate to the emitter for AC voltages. C_{oes} combines the collector-to-emitter capacitance (C_{ce}) and the gate-to-collector (C_{gc}) in parallel. In soft switching applications, C_{oes} can have an impact on the circuit's resonance [40].

1.4 Aging mechanisms and failure modes in power electronics

The power electronic devices experience thermal, chemical, electrical, mechanical stresses, and degrade gradually, leading to a complete failure [41]. The familiar failure rate curve (bathtub curve), as illustrated in Figure 23, distinguish several cases between early failures, random failures (failures with constant failure rate), and failures resulting from wear-out and fatigue.



Figure 23: The "bath-tub" failure curve of a large population of statistically identical items, for two ambient temperatures $\theta_2 > \theta_1$ for electronic components [42]

It is reliable to mitigate the early failures at the manufacturing level to be cost-effective [24]. During the infant mortality phase, the elevated failure rate is linked to significant inherent defects that promptly lead to part failures. Random (or sudden) failures are normally referred to the catastrophic failures as a result of component defects or overstress conditions. Their occurrences are mainly reduced by manufacturing and fabrication quality control, optimized design and de-rating operation [43]. Wear-out failures are attributed to the accumulation of incremental physical damage under the functional and environmental load (stress) conditions. If left untreated, the progressive degradation may

exceed a yield point to trigger an imminent overstress failure mechanism (i.e., fracture, melting or another thermal fault, etc.) [43].

Modern semiconductor designs, manufacturing processes, and process controls, there have been substantial advancements, leading to almost negligible failure rates in the early stages (infant mortality) and throughout the operational lifespan of semiconductor devices. Furthermore, when a device operates within specified limits, the wear-out phase of its performance curve has been significantly delayed, extending well beyond the typical useful life of most products [44]. Power semiconductor devices are central to power electronic systems and are crucial for reliability. As power electronic converters play a growing role in critical applications particularly in safety-sensitive human transport, attributes like reliability, lifespan, health monitoring, and predictive maintenance have gained greater importance [45].

1.4.1 Reliability challenges

Reliability is the ability of an item to work properly; it is its feature not to fail during its operation. It is today defined as the probability that an item will perform its required function under given conditions for a stated time interval. The component reliability involves the study of both reliability physics and reliability statistics. They have an important contribution to a better understanding of the ways in which the components fail, and how the failures are developing in time. This provides an invaluable background for understanding and assessing the real-world failure patterns of component reliability that come to us from field failure studies [42]. To fully understand the concept of reliability it is essential to clarify additional terms like failure and operating time. The failure is the termination of the ability of an item to perform a required function. The operating time is the period of time during which an item performs its required functions. For a non-repairable item, the operating time until the failure is named lifetime [42].

Power electronics enables efficient energy conversion and control through innovative solutions in components, circuitry, control methods, sensors, digital processors, and system integration. While efficiency goals for power electronic systems are within reach, increasing reliability requirements are creating new challenges due to the following factors [46]:

- Mission profiles critical applications (e.g., aerospace, military, more electrical aircrafts, railway tractions, medical electronics, etc.);
- Emerging applications under harsh environment and long operation hours (e.g., onshore and offshore wind turbines (WTs), photovoltaic (PV) systems, air conditioning, and pump systems);
- Cost constraints, reliability requirements and stricter safety standards, such as the demand for failure rates in the parts per million (ppm) range in future products;
- Ongoing need for higher power density in power converters and further integration of power electronics systems, which can lead to new failure mechanisms and thermal problems;
- Uncertainty of reliability performance for new materials and packaging technologies (e.g., SiC and GaN devices);

Figure 24 presents the evolution of reliability challenges from industry point of view.

	Yesterday	Today	Tomorrow
Customer	 Replacement if failure 	 Low risk of failure 	 Peace of mind
expectations	 Years of warranty 	 Request for maintenance 	 Predictive maintenance
Reliability target	 Affordable market returns (%) 	 Low market return rates 	 ppm market return rates
R&D approach	 Reliability test 	 Robustness tests 	 Design for reliability
	 Avoid catastrophes 	- Improve weakest components	 Balance with field load / mission profile
	 Product operating and 	 Testing at the limits 	- Understanding failure mechanisms, field load, root cause
R&D key tools	function tests		 Multi-domain simulation

Figure 24: Reliability challenges in industry [46]

From this perspective, there are opportunities for power electronics to expand its role in efficient and reliable energy processing in various types of applications. Similarly, future research on power electronics reliability involves multidisciplinary knowledge as defined and presented in Figure 25:

- analytical analysis to understand the nature of why and how power electronic products fail;
- Design For Reliability (DFR) and robustness validation process to build reliability and sufficient robustness into power electronic products during each development process;

 intelligent and control monitoring to ensure reliable field operation under specific mission profiles.



Figure 25: Power electronics reliability research needs seen from today [46]

1.4.2 Aging test

In the one hand, in many applications, there is a growing interest for power electronics which can operate at high temperature environment or high temperature cycling. In the other hand, the longevity of these have become an essential factor in the qualification of the component [45]. Aircraft applications pose a unique challenge, as the device and packaging may undergo severe temperature cycling, ranging from -55°C to 200°C, with a rate of approximately $\pm 10^{\circ}$ C per minute, mainly when converters are situated within the engine. This can influence the transmitted power and therefore, its ability to accomplish its mission. Moreover, these applications necessitate an operational duration of approximately 50,000 hours, which translates to 5,000 to 20,000 cycles. The realm of power electronics operating in high-temperature environments is particularly relevant to drilling and automotive applications [47]. Therefore, many industries adopt accelerated aging test to make reliability studies of the product before releasing it into the market. In order to accelerate this aging process accelerated aging tests are adopted.

The aging tests are set up in order to reproduce identified failure modes and mechanisms, as illustrated in [48]. Thus, probability of occurrence and critical combinations and cycles of stress are highlighted. This approach involves the implementation of accelerated aging tests, coupled with destructive and non-destructive methods [3], which will be detailed later in the following.

There exist different reliability testing methods, the major ones are addressed. In the case of encapsulated power semiconductors (power MOSFETs, diodes, Insulated Gate Bipolar

Transistors (IGBTs), etc.) the main stressors are maximum junction temperature, temperature swings during a single thermal cycling, blocking voltage, relative humidity, and gate voltage. Each of these stressors accelerate at least one of the failure modes [49]. The origin of temperature cycles is twofold: *passive temperature cycles* coming from the environment (climate) and *active temperature cycles* generated by power module operation. *Temperature cycling* and *power cycling* tests represent these conditions [50].

Temperature cycling: In Temperature Cycling Test (TCT), the temperature of a power module is changed by variation of the ambient temperature (TST: Thermal Shock Test) or the temperature of the case (TC: thermal Cycle Test) without electrical stressing. This test is applied mainly to evaluate the lifetime of the solder joints and to evaluate the resistance to the sudden changes in temperature the device can experience during storage or transportation [42], [50].

Power cycling: Active Power Cycling (APC)test is performed to assess the durability on the system receiving stress repetition effect and also to determine the resistance of a semiconductor device derived from chip ON/OFF switching. Thermal stress is repeatedly applied during self-heating and cooling operations at the time of ON and OFF. The PCT is representative to high temperature operating life [42], [49].

Accelerated aging tests are done according to the monitoring of an indicators. For example, on-state voltage-drop (Von) at the applied heating current, Junction temperature (T_j) , the thermal resistance between the junction and the baseplate (R_{TH}), and on state resistance ($R_{DS (on)}$), etc., for power cycling test.

The aging test process, experimental setup, and more information on this part will be detailed in chapter 4.

1.4.3 Failure mechanisms and failure modes in power electronics

To establish the failure modes and mechanisms, life test results and operation failures must be investigated through the characterization and classification of the failure mechanisms which occur either during the accelerated tests or in the field applications [42], [51]. This information will be useful for the establishment of the error and failure

sources. As far as power electronics' failure modes are concerned, the state of the art allows pointing out the main failure modes and mechanisms [45].

Previous studies have grouped failure mechanisms of power electronic devices into two categories, namely chip-related (or intrinsic) failures and package-related (extrinsic) failures. Intrinsic failure mechanisms are mostly related to electrical overstress i.e., high current and high voltage, while extrinsic failures are commonly induced by thermomechanical overstress. The primary cause of the failure is almost always (excepting the overvoltage) an abnormal increase of the temperatures, often spatially limited ("hot spot") and consecutive to an abnormal operation (second breakdown – avalanche operation – wrong base command). All these phenomenon produces:

- An abnormal operation of the component (electron hole pairs formed by thermal agitation) that may lead later to a thermal turn-on.
- A variation of the physical properties of the component (solders surface damages – local melting of the eutectic silicon/metal)

Sometimes, some abnormal stresses, even limited and occurring once, lead to a progressive degradation (in normal operating conditions), going up to the failure of the component. This progressive degradation occurs after some minutes or even thousands of hours after the initial accident [42].

As technology advancements continue to mature, addressing issues within the manufacturer's production processes, intrinsic failures are reduced. Consequently, emphasizing the growing importance of extrinsic failures in ensuring device reliability [42]. A power module when exposed to severe temperature cycles of different origins, experience different failure mechanisms. The typical degradation mechanisms caused by these are given in Figure 26. The main cause of failures is different heating of the individual area/layers and the different thermal expansion coefficients of the materials used in the inside of the power module. The typical wear-out mechanisms are as follows [50]:

- Bond wire lift-off
- > Delamination of the upper side copper layer
- Solder cracks between the base-plate and DBC



Figure 26: Wear out mechanisms of standard technologies [50]

Wire bonding failure modes, are known as the main defects. Wire bond failures primarily result from fatigue, either due to shear stresses at the bond pad-wire interface or from repeated wire convolution. The failure modes differ depending on the stress level that the devices are encountered with.

Bond wire failures can be further classified into two types: (1) bond wire heel cracking (2) bond wire lift-off.

Bond wire heel cracking: Wire bond heel (Figure 27) cracking occurs when the wire breaks above the bonded region due to fatigue from the repeated expansion and contraction of the wire loop during temperature cycling. This failure mechanism is primarily attributed to thermo-mechanical effects [45].



Figure 27: Bond wire (a) Heel crack (b) Heel crack due to low-cycle fatigue stressing (c) Heel crack due to improper bond wire coating [45], [51]

Bond wire lift-off: In power modules, one of the most common failure modes during active cycling is bond wire lift-off. The main reason for bond wire lift-off is the mismatch of a coefficient of thermal expansion (CTE) between Si and Al interfaces. The bond wire has a high coefficient of thermal expansion (CTE) compared to the other components of the power module shown in Table 4. The significant difference in CTE between aluminum (23-24 ppm/k) and silicon (2.6 ppm/k) results in thermomechanical stress at the bonding wire / chip interface. The primary malfunction in bond wires begins with cracks at the point of contact with the metallization shown in Figure 28 (a), which when progressed leads to the bond wire lift-off shown in Figure 28 (b). This chain reaction causes an increase in current density in nearby wires, leading to localized temperature rises due to surface irregularities on the chip. Over time, these factors contribute to the gradual failure of all interconnect wires [45], [51].



Figure 28: (a) Bond wire fracture (b) Bond wire lift-off [45]

	Material	CTE (ppm/K)
Chip	Silicium	2,6
Ceramic	AIN	3,1
	AI203	5,5
Baseplate	Cu	16
	AlSiC	6,5 - 12
Wire Bondings	Aluminium	23 - 24

Table 4: CTE values of power assembly material [42]

Delamination of the upper side of copper layer: This failure mode also results from the incompatibility of CTE between the different layers of power module. During the thermal

cycling, periodical compressive and tensile stresses are introduced in the thin metallization film by different CTEs of aluminum and of the silicon chip. Due to the large thermomechanical mismatch between both the materials and due to the stiffness of the silicon substrate, the stresses, which rises within the aluminum thin film during pulsed operation of the device can be far beyond the elastic limit. In such a scenario, the failure is observed in particular at the level of the thin copper metallization layer which leads to its deformation. Figure 29 presents the comparison of metallization before and after cycling.



Figure 29: (a) Metallization before active cycling, (b) Reconstruction of metallization after cycling [45]

Soldering cracks: As far as the reliability of the electronic packages and modules are concerned, their weakest links are usually the solder interconnections such as mechanical shocks, temperature changes caused by device on/off operation, and ambient temperature variations, just a few to mention. The impact of these issues can be made smaller by taking them into consideration in the design aspect [52].

A power module is a multi-layer structure (silicon, copper, ceramic, etc.), each material has its own coefficient of thermal expansion. As seen in Figure 26, there are two solder layers in a typical power module, i.e., one between the Si device and DBC and another between the substrate and the baseplate. A larger CTE mismatch is between the substrate and baseplate which makes it more susceptible to solder fatigue [41]. This incompatibility of the CTE requires that the solder be compliant to avoid stresses at the level of the silicon components. Degradation of the solder anywhere increases the thermal resistance between the silicon component and the heat sink. Indeed, it results in the change of temperature cycle during the operation producing the shear strains and eventually produces cracks due to fatigue, which reduces the critical capacity for heat transfer [52].

1.5 Failure mode characterization

There are different inspection methods to characterize failure modes. *Shear strength testing* (MIL-STD-883, method 2019) and *pull testing* methods which are based on the application of force on to the die. These tests can also recover the force required to induce failure. Both of these tests are destructive and hence are only used for initial evaluation of materials and final sampling. The other testing methods X-ray, Scanning Acoustic Microscopy (SAM), Infrared Thermography (IRT), and visual inspection testing can be performed if 100% non-destructive screening is required.

1.5.1 Destructive testing methods

Destructive testing: This test destroys or changes the testing device in some way such that even if it passes the test, it is no longer fit for the service. For example: shear strength testing, pull testing, etc.,

Shear strength testing: this test can be performed to determine the strength of a die and bond wires referred as die shear strength and bond shear testing, respectively. This aim of these tests is to determine the strength of the component under test. In this test, a chisel-shaped shear tool is used [53]. Figure 30 presents the shear strength test on ball bond, wedge bond wire, and die shear.



Figure 30: Shear strength test (a) ball bond [54] (b) wedge bond [54] (c) die [53]

For the bond wire shear test, the tool is placed parallel to the bond foot on the pad and a horizontal force is applied. The force required to shear the bond from the pad is measured and recorded together with the failure mode (first bond lift, pad lift, cratering).

Die shear test (Figure 30 (c)) evaluates the die attach process quality using a shear tool to apply uniform force alongside the die's edge. This force is applied perpendicularly to the die edge and parallel to the substrate plane, and required force to shear the die from the substrate is measured. Typical die shear failures include die interface break, fracture, and substrate interface break [53].

Pull testing: wire or bond pull test is one of several available tests used to assess the strength and quality of bond wires. In the wire pull test, an upward force is applied on the bond wires, drawing the wire away from the substrate or die using the hook, as illustrated in Figure 31. This process continues until there is a bond failure or the wire breaks. The test can be conducted on various bonds, including wire-to-die, wire-to-substrate, and wire-to-package lead bonds within the wire-connected devices, which are bonded using soldering, thermo-compression, ultrasonic, or relayed techniques [55].



Figure 31: Wire bond strength test (Bond pull test) [55]

1.5.2 Non-Destructive testing (NDT) methods

Non-destructive testing: This test does not destroy or change the device under test such that it is still fit for service if it passes the test.

This is the reason why it is interesting and is adapted by many industrial applications. This section briefs about the non-destructive testing, most used methods in NDT.

Usually, the reliability studies are done prior to market product availability. Nevertheless, during its operating, it is relevant to monitor sensitive parameters in order to establish lifetime prediction. For that purpose, it could be interesting to use Non-Destructive Test (NDT) for online health monitoring [56].

Non-Destructive Testing (NDT) consists a range of non-invasive inspection techniques employed to assess material properties, components, or entire process unit. The techniques can also be utilized to detect, characterize, or measure the presence of damage mechanisms (for example corrosion or cracks). NDT, known as Non-Destructive Examination (NDE), Non-Destructive Evaluation (NDE), and Non-Destructive Inspection (NDI), involves techniques to locate and characterize defects in components, including size, shape, and orientation. The goal is to inspect equipment safely, reliably, and costeffectively without causing damage or halting operations.

NDT can be conducted during or after manufacturing and even on equipment in service. While in operation, NDT inspections help evaluate the current equipment condition, track damage mechanisms, and inform decisions regarding remaining equipment life [56], which is the scope our study.

NDT employs multiple techniques for collecting diverse data types, each demanding specific tools, training, and preparation. Some techniques enable full volumetric inspections, while others are limited to surface inspections. Additionally, the effectiveness of certain NDT methods depends on the material type, with some techniques, like Magnetic Particle NDT, restricted to specific materials that can be magnetized [57].

In the following, the most commonly used NDT methods are described briefly. These methods include X-ray, Scanning Acoustic Microscopy (SAM), Infrared Thermography (IRT), and visual inspection. These are often employed methods in reliability studies of power electronic components and devices. They are used for fault detection, failure analysis, quality control, and performance assessment studies [58].

X-ray: When an X-ray is emitted from a source and directed towards a receiver, X-ray photons interact with the specimen. Some X-ray photons are observed by the specimen. The extent of X-ray absorption is contingent on the material's elemental composition and the specimen's geometries. Consequently, the presence of defects leads to variations in

the absorbed or transmitted X-ray enery detected by the receiver. These properties allow X-ray to measure and inspect the density and shape of various objects [57]. Figure 32 presents the detection of cracks in solder interconnects (with size of less than $10 \,\mu$ m) using improved X-ray methods.



Figure 32: Crack detection in a micro solder bump: (a) metallographic microscopic image, (b) slice-by-slice inspection of µCT images [58]

Enhanced X-ray inspection methods show promise in assessing micro bump soldering and component alignments in packaging, even for parts under 10 μ m. However, challenges remain, particularly in achieving sub-micron defect detection to resolution limitations. Additionally, extended data acquisition and processing times (several hours) and radiation concerns are drawbacks associated with current X-ray methods [58].

Scanning Acoustic Microscopy (SAM): the SAM method employs acoustic waves to generate visual images that depict variations in the mechanical properties of samples. The main part of the acoustic microscope is the probe or transducer (usually a piezoelectric or loudspeaker depending on the applications), which converts electrical signals into acoustic signals. The acoustic waves are focused and transmitted to the sample through a coolant (normally water). When the generated waves interact with the sample, a portion of the waves reflects back to the transducer while the rest is transmitted. Subsurface imaging is also possible due to the fact that acoustic waves can penetrate opaque solids. As a result of the interaction of sound with samples. SAM can accurately determine properties such as thickness, stiffness, density, shape roughness, and attenuation.

The utilization of SAM method for failure analysis of the surface and internal microstructure of solid or IC packaging goes back more than two decades. Figure 33

provides schematic illustration of SAM method for inspection of IC packaging and the actual SAM setup available in TNO Eindhoven (The Netherlands) [59].



Figure 33: SAM method for inspection of IC packaging (a) schematic diagram of SAM method, (b) SAM inspection setup [59]

SAM method can detect flaws (Figure 34) such as solder bump defects, laminar cracks (with sizes less than 50 μ m and frequency range of 100-150 MHz), void defects (as small as 125 μ m in diameter).



Figure 34: Various types of defects detected by SAM: (a) Black void below under fill level, (b) White void above under fill, (c) Micro-crack at wafer level, and (d) Delamination between the die top and the encapsulates [59]

Scanning Acoustic Microscopy (SAM) is an effective method for assessing layer thickness, delamination, underfill delamination, and void defects within the materials. However, it cannot detect defects at packaging edges due to the "edge effect." SAM requires a coupling medium (typically deionized water) for acoustic energy transmission and has sub-micron resolution limitations. Resolution can be enhanced by using higher GHz frequencies, but this reduces penetration depth, leading to a trade-off between resolution and depth [59].

Figure 35 presents the detection of crack formations following the thermal cycling using SAM. The crack has mainly propagated in the ceramic-metallization interface during the first 300 cycles. The solder joints are represented as circle in the image.



Figure 35: SAM image of crack propagation in solder joints for different thermal cycles [52]

Infrared Thermography (IRT): infrared thermography (IRT) stands as one of the prevalent NDT methods for material assessment. The fundamental principle of the IRT method involves capturing the heat radiated from a surface within the electromagnetic spectrum's infrared (IR) wavelength range (2 -14 μ m). It records the surface's temperature distribution, with temperature resolution varying 0.020 °C to 0.075 °C, depending on the type of IR detector. IR detectors function in various infrared bands, with the middle wave (2–5 μ m) and the long wave (8–12 μ m) being the most common. The application of thermography for IC packaging inspection has a history goes back to more than half a century. IRT is used to inspect flip chips, solder joint defects, edge defects, misalignment of solder bumps, presence and location of micro solder bumps (as small as approximately 100 μ m in diameter and 250 μ m in pitch), silicon crack, under fill void, delamination defects with minimum size about 2 μ m, and subsurface defects (up to 4 mm in depth). Figure 36 present the defect detection using IRT method [59].



Figure 36: Defect detection using infrared thermography method: (a) missing bumps with lower temperature and (b) failed device emitting increased heating [59]

Though this method proved its place in NDT applications, there are still challenges: It primarily detects surface or near-surface defects due to limited heating penetration depth. Spatial resolution is constrained by camera pixel resolution and infrared wavelength. Active methods may risk damaging the specimen due to heat propagation [58].

Surface Acoustic Waves (SAW): Surface Acoustic Waves (SAWs) are waves travelling along a material's surface, with their amplitude decreasing as they penetrate deeper. SAWs can be generated and measured using contact transducers (like piezoelectric materials), contact actuators with non-contact sensors, or fully non-contact systems like laser-based or air-coupled transducers. One approach involves using a pulsed laser to induce heat, generating ultrasound waves in electronic packages. A laser Doppler vibrometer measures the resulting displacement response. This method helps to identify defects like mission solder bumps by analyzing response variations across the specimen surface.

SAW is effective at detecting voids and cracks with a lateral spatial resolution of around 100 μ m. However, it cannot access areas like underfill and regions with bump pitches smaller than 100 μ m. A limitation is the relatively long inspection time required.

There exists several other techniques not used for power electronics [56].

Online health monitoring has become a crucial tool for real-time device state-of-health (SOH) assessment to enhance reliability and prevent catastrophic failures. Tracking electrical parameters is crucial for identifying device degradation or early faults. Since monitoring all electrical parameters is impractical in power converters, specific ones

should be selected based on the dominant aging mechanisms. In recent years, considerable research has been devoted to identifying aging indicators in Si devices. The gradual change in the ON-state resistance ($R_{ds(on)}$) of MOSFETs and the saturation voltage of IGBTs are commonly used indicators of aging. In contrast, there is limited research of failure indicators in SiC MOSFETs. The primary reliability concerns for SIC MOSFETs are gate oxide degradation and bias-temperature instability. As a result, most SiC MOSFET reliability studies concentrate on identifying the indicators related to gate oxide issues, with the threshold voltage (V_{th}) being the most commonly used indicator for monitoring gate oxide charge trapping. Eventually, the degradation of SiC MOSFET packaging is evaluated through accelerated high-temperature power cycling tests, revealing an increasing trend in ON-state resistance during the aging process. Additionally, the voltage drop across the body diode (V_{SD}) and thermal impedance are recognized as indicators for packaging-related degradations [60]. Each new technology raises the problem of finding good monitoring parameter for a specific failure mode.

In addition to these traditional NDT methods, the research interest in power electronics is now more attracted towards the wide frequency band characterizations connecting the NDT techniques. This thesis is more dedicated to this approach while adopting some of the above discussed NDT methods. Each NDT method has its own particular advantages, disadvantages and applications. A suitable selection among all the NDT methods for a specific case is up to the users. Some aspects (i.e., types of damage to be monitored, detection reliability, cost, portability, equipment setup, scanning time, and safety concerns) must be well understood.

Many studies have proposed different NDT methods but radio frequency (RF) based NDT techniques are not well covered while they are receiving extensive attention in recent years. The frequency of interest is in the range of around 3 kHz to 300 GHz which occupies the lower range of the whole electromagnetic (EM) spectrum. The instrumentation becomes complicated when the inspection frequency goes above 300 GHz [61]. However, the frequency range is limited or adapted following the equipment limitations and application requirement. Based on the detection mechanism, the RF NDT methods can be classified into four groups:

Electromagnetic induction methods: the induction methods are primarily based on the Faraday's principle of electromagnetic induction. Commonly used electromagnetic induction method is Eddy Current Technique (ECT), this method is widely used for the detection of corrosion and cracks, and measurement of thickness and conductivity for metals. The other type of technique is the microwave open-ended waveguide imaging, the microwave frequency extends from 300 MHz to 300 GHz with the corresponding wavelength from 1 m to 1 mm, respectively. In this test, the electromagnetic wave radiates from an open-ended waveguide or horn antenna to the specimen under test. This technique reveals the information of the cracks or dents on the surface by the attenuation/phase images of the reflection coefficient (S_{11}), which can be acquired from Vector Network Analyzer (VNA) [61].

Resonance methods: the resonance methods mainly transform the defect information into the variation of the resonance frequency in the resonant circuit. A typical type of resonance method is near field scanning microwave microscopy (NSMM), which is generally composed of a resonant cavity and a sharp tip [61].

RF-based thermography: one of the efficient RF-based thermography techniques is Pulsed Eddy Current (PEC) thermography (Figure 37). It was developed for damage detection, which is fast and efficient method. This technique works on the phenomenon that any change in the microstructure of the composites could locally change the electrical conductivity of the medium. Thus, by applying electrical potential difference, the temperature of the medium rises due to joule effect. Changes in the induced current flows would be revealed by an infrared (IR) camera. The pulsed excitation provides a low frequency spectrum, which subsequently offers a greater penetration depth than the eddy current technique (ECT) [61].



Figure 37: Basic principle of the pulsed eddy current imaging (PECI) device [62]

RF wave propagation method: the active Radio Frequency Identification Technology (RFID) with the capability of remote inspection and long-term structural health monitoring has also attracted extensive attention [63], [64]. Each RFID tag contains an integrated circuit (IC) chip (which is made up of the impedance matching network, energy harvesting system and microcontroller) and an antenna encapsulated together with the help of suitable packaging. The defect information is transferred from antenna to the detector by backscattering [61].

Following the state of the art, it is noticed that monitoring the state of the health of a package ask for prior knowledge about the package. Therefore, it becomes difficult to manage the state of the health of an unknown package. It is interesting to look for such kind of methods which monitor the state of the damage of package, whatever the die technology is and can detect any potential failures.

1.6 Conclusion

This chapter presents the packaging and assembly of discrete and power modules detailing the constituent elements. The reliability challenges following the evolution of power electronics technologies are pointed out. Concerning these challenges, there is a need for multidisciplinary knowledge, which is main interest of today's research. Eventually the problems related to packaging failures like bond wire related, solder fatigue related failures are described. Concerning the reliability studies, the research interest to combine
failure characterization techniques with the online monitoring of electrical parameters represent an effective way of detecting the potential failures.

This thesis focuses on the development of a non-destructive characterization methodology to detect the failure mechanisms of switch assemblies in power electronics. The method is based on the electromagnetic characterization over a wide frequency range. The characterization technique towards the NDT adds value to this method. A characterization technique, S – parameter also known as scattering parameter acquired from Vector Network Analyzer (VNA) is followed. The S – parameters represent the reflection and transmission waves following the power injection. As the simulations aids design for reliability (DFR), the characterization can help future monitoring. The working principles, experimental setups, characterizing process, etc., of these equipment's will be detailed in the coming chapters.

Chapter 2 :

Wide frequency band characterization and its equivalent model construction

2.1 Introduction

Power electronics have recently experienced remarkable evolution in terms of Wide Band Gap (WBG) semiconductors and power electronics packaging techniques. Whereas these new trends in packaging also create new challenges in electrical and thermal characterization [65]. The chip package is an essential and integral part of any semiconductor product. It is a critical competitive factor, as it affects operating frequency, power, complexity, reliability, and cost. As a result, it is desirable to account for an equivalent electrical model, representing both the chip and the package behavior effects early in the design stage. Of primary interest are the bonding and the insulation which make each packaging process a unique problem [66]. One of the obstacles related to package characterization is usually due to the strong mechanical interface made by adhesive glue or epoxy matrices. On the one hand, internal on-chip package ports cannot be probed from the outside without partially destroying the sealing [67], [68]. On the other hand, electromagnetic simulations may be used to overcome this problem [69], [70]. Unfortunately, the electromagnetic simulations require detailed knowledge of the 3D package and bonding structure, the material parameters, and the grounding schema [66]. In this context, the research shows great interest in characterizing techniques more prone towards Non-Destructive Testing (NDT). This chapter provides the broadband characterization applied to different types of packages. It addresses different broadband characterization techniques while focusing more on the frequency domain characterization process.

The broadband characterization techniques are mainly addressed in two main domains: Time-domain network described in section 2.2 and Frequency-domain network described in section 2.3.

2.2 Time-domain network

The time-domain network involves the examination of mathematical functions or physical signals with respect to time. In the time domain, the value of a signal or function is defined across all real numbers in continuous time or at distinct discrete moments in discrete time. A time-domain plot illustrates the evolution of a signal over time [71]. The Time-Domain Network Analyzer (TDNA) is used to measure the time-domain networks. The operation

of the TDNA is based on the well-known echo principle [72]. The general working principle of the TDNAs is as follows: the generator injects a pulse or step-like signal E_i in the Device Under Test (DUT) as shown in Figure 38. Some of the injected power is reflected at the discontinuities of the Device Under Test (DUT). The incident (E_i) and the reflected (E_r) voltage waves compose the Time-Domain Reflection (TDR) signal. The signal that propagates through the DUT is measured as the transmitted signal (E_t). The voltage wave in transmission is named the Time-Domain Transmission (TDT) signal. The TDR/T-signals are measured with a broadband digital oscilloscope [72].



Figure 38: Time-Domain Reflectometry (TDR) and Transmission (TDT) set-up [72]

The TDR/T-measurement technique has been originally developed for the localization of defaults in cables [72]. The TDR/T-technique has diverse applications, including interconnection modeling, dielectric material measurements, and interconnection and package-related applications [73].

Reflectometry is a non-destructive technique for analyzing physical systems, highlighted for its application in Spread Spectrum Time-Domain Reflectometry (SSTDR) for live electrical system monitoring. This includes various domains like airplane cabling, power systems, and battery health. The study [74] presents SSTDRs principles, challenges such as detecting minor and intermittent faults, and potential advancements including its application in medical imaging and the improvement of signal processing through machine learning. Further exploration into SSTDR circuitry customization for specific applications suggests a future of enhanced diagnostic capabilities. [75] evaluates SSTDR and Sequence Time-Domain Reflectometry (STDR) for cable fault localization, particularly in AC and digital signal transmission, underscoring SSTDR's superior performance in high-noise environments and with digital signals, including those meeting the Mil-std 1553 standard. This study emphasizes the critical role of these methodologies in ensuring safety by early fault detection, including open and short circuits. It supports the careful optimization of test signals to minimize interference and accurately detect impedance changes. This approach facilitates the development of preventative maintenance strategies, potentially preventing system failures.

On the other hand, [76] [77] study focused on diagnosing and monitoring the health of Insulated Gate Bipolar Transistor (IGBT) modules following the SSTDR technique. [76] focused on using SSTDR to detect bond-wire lift-offs in IGBTs, a common aging-related issue that significantly affects the performance and reliability of these devices. The study outlines the experimental setup and methodology, where SSTDR signals are applied to IGBT modules subjected to accelerated aging processes to simulate bond-wire lift-off. The results showcase the capability of SSTDR to identify minute changes in the electrical characteristics of the IGBT modules, indicative of the early stages of bond-wire lift-off.

[77] addresses reflectometry, which is not detailed but presumably includes techniques like SSTDR for active power cycling and condition monitoring of IGBT modules. This approach suggests a proactive strategy in managing the lifecycle and reliability of IGBT modules by detecting defects such as bond-wire lift-off and assessing the modules' overall condition through active power cycling. This method likely involves the application of stress through controlled power cycles to evaluate the robustness and aging status of the IGBTs, combined with reflectometry to monitor changes in their electrical characteristics that could indicate impending failures.

Eventually, [78] [79] conducted their study on condition monitoring of power electronics. [78] presents a new method for online condition monitoring of IGBTs and IGBT modules using SSTDR. This technique aims to detect bond wire lift-offs and estimate the state of health of IGBT power modules. The research focuses on the gate terminals of the IGBT device rather than the collector side. It proposes a novel RL-equivalent circuit to represent the bond wires for simulation and measurement of reflection amplitudes. The RLequivalent of the bond wires in the IGBT module is detailed, and simulation results using CST Studio Suite are presented, showing a correlation between the simulated and experimental data. The study demonstrates the effectiveness of SSTDR-based condition monitoring, independent of current levels and locations, providing valuable insights for future researchers in the field and contributing to improving the reliability of power electronic semiconductors and converters. The experimental results further validate the capability of SSTDR in detecting bond wire liftoffs and estimating the state of health of IGBT power modules.

[79] presents a preliminary experimental study on the condition monitoring of power modules using S-parameters, time-domain reflectometry (TDR), and time-domain transmission (TDT) measurements. The study aims to demonstrate the viability of using these techniques to monitor the degradation of a power module. The research was conducted on a standard high-current power module, artificially aged by cutting wire bonds one by one. The study reveals that it is feasible to use these techniques, mainly scattering parameters, to continuously track the simulated wear and tear of the power module.

However, the intricate architecture of the power module (PM), coupled with a design unsuitable for RF applications, results in the measurement data exhibiting complex and somewhat unpredictable patterns. These complexities hinder the straightforward physical interpretation of the data.

Despite these challenges, the observed alterations in RF behavior serve as indicators of the PM's deterioration, especially significant for S-parameters within the 200 MHz to 1 GHz range. Monitoring various components of the scattering matrix, both in reflection and transmission, makes it possible to pinpoint the deterioration's location and characteristics.

Though these techniques are widely used in various applications, including RF, there are some limitations which needs to be considered when applying these techniques in RF contexts. Some of these limitations are mentioned in the following

 Frequency dependency: TDR measurements, conducted at a fixed frequency, may inadequately represent the behavior of RF systems that function over a spectrum of frequencies. This discrepancy can lead to incomplete assessments of broadband quality and impedance variations at different frequencies.

- Discontinuity detection: Reflectometry techniques excel in identifying discontinuities, such as open or short circuit, on transmissions lines. However, in scenarios with multiple discontinuities, the accuracy of Standing Wave Ratio (SWR) measurements in isolating these faults can be compromised.
- Complex structures: TDR relies on a simple transmission line model. For intricate RF architectures, like multi-layer PCBs, inter-layer reflections can interact, leading to ambiguous results.
- Signal-to-Noise Ratio (SNR): TDR measurements are challenged by low signalto-noise ratio due to the wideband receiver design. In RF environment, where detecting small impedance changes or discontinuities is crucial, noise interference can mask the signal, compromising the accuracy of measurements.

In addition to these, propagation effects where dispersion, skin effect, and dielectric losses are neglected by TDR techniques. In RF applications, these effects become significant, affecting the accuracy of measurements.

2.3 Frequency-domain network

The frequency domain involves analyzing mathematical functions or signals in terms of frequency rather than time. To put in simple terms, a frequency-domain graph shows how much of the signal lies within each given frequency band over a range of frequencies [80]. The two basic measuring instruments that exist for signal characterization of gigabit interconnects following frequency domain are: Impedance analyzer and Vector Network Analyzer (VNA).

2.3.1 Impedance Analyzer

Impedance analyzer or *LCR* (inductance-capacitance-resistance) *analyzer* is used for the measurement of an impedance. The instrument applies a time-harmonic voltage to the DUT's access port and measures the current's amplitude and phase in that port. BY dividing the voltage by the current, the input impedance at the port is calculated. To reduce inaccuracies, four-terminal measurements are performed with 4 shielded needles and the SOL (short, open, and load)- calibration compensates for the parasitic elements of the set-

up [72]. The one-port calibration, known as a Short/Open/Load (SOL) calibration, effectively eliminates source matching, directivity, and frequency response errors [81].



Figure 39: Schematic set-up for a four-terminal pair impedance measurement [72]

Figure 39 presents schematic set-up for a four-terminal pair impedance measurement. By using independent signal current paths and voltage sensing cables, the effect of the measurement wire impedance is reduced. Following the measurement of the input impedance at the package leads or interconnection line in out, it becomes feasible to establish a straightforward circuit model utilizing lumped elements such as resistors, capacitors, and inductors. This model can then be utilized in a circuit simulator like SPICE. One of the major limitations of this measuring technique is that, the lumped element model is only valid for frequencies for which the length of the leads or interconnection lines is small with respect to the wavelength (λ) of the time-harmonic signals propagating on the leads or lines $(\lambda = \frac{\nu}{f})$, where $\nu =$ propagation speed, f =frequency). Therefore, this measurement can introduce non negligible uncertainties when the device under test (DUT) violates limiting conditions. These uncertainties arise due to frequency range restrictions and signal propagation effects, especially in the context of packages, connectors, and interconnects, where accounting for transmission line effects is essential to maintain accurate signal integrity and minimize losses. Additionally, in NDT applications, precise material characterization necessitates the measurement of properties like dielectric constant and loss tangent, which can vary with frequency. Accounting wavelength effects becomes crucial to ensure reliable results.

This thesis took the opportunity to compute the dielectric constant using the capacitance measurement from the Impedance analyzer (E4990A from Keysight's' Technologies). The operating frequency of this impedance analyzer range from 20 Hz to 120 MHz. The dielectric constant, a fundamental parameter of insulating or dielectric materials, is calculated from the capacitance value when the material is used as a dielectric. There are three measurement methods (Appendix 4-1), Contacting Electrode method (Rigid Metal electrode), Contacting Electrode method (Thin film contact) shown in Figure 40, and non-Contacting method (Air Gap method) to obtain the dielectric constant and dissipation factor. Each method follows a typical measurement procedure, assumptions, and experimental requirements which are detailed in [82]. The contacting method (Thin film contact) is adapted to test the epoxy dielectric material. The method is chosen based on the testing device material, and dimensions.



Figure 40: Contacting Electrode method (Thin film Electrode) [82]

The dielectric constant and dissipation factor of a test material can be obtained using the following equations [82].

Parameters needed:

- C_p Equivalent parallel capacitance [F]
- D Dissipation factor
- t_a Average thickness of test material [m]
- A Area of Guarded thin film electrode $[m^2]$
- d Diameter of Guarded thin film electrode [m]
- ϵ_0 Vaccum permitivity = 8.854 * 10⁻¹² [F/m]

Equations:

$$\epsilon_r = \frac{t_a * C_p}{A * \epsilon_0} \qquad \qquad Eq. \ 7$$

Eq. 7 can be updated to Eq. 8 for DUT in cylindrical shape

$$\epsilon_r = \frac{t_a * C_p}{\pi * \left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^2 * \epsilon_0} \qquad \qquad Eq. 8$$

$$\tan(\delta) = D \qquad \qquad Eq. 9$$

Where,

- ϵ_r Dielectric constant of test material
- $\tan(\delta)$ Dissipation factor of test material

The dielectric fixtures (16451B) provide two applicable electrodes, Electrode-C (electrode for large thin film electrodes) and Electrode-D (electrode for small thin film electrodes). The electrode is chosen following the test material dimensions and the test requirements (Appendix 4-2).

2.3.1.1 *Characterization of epoxy substrate*

A cylindrical epoxy tablet (Figure 41) of diameter 15.8 mm and dielectric thickness of 1.47 mm is considered as test material. This is an epoxy based dielectric material which is quite used during the thesis and will be detailed in coming chapters. For instance, it will be used in every specific interface. A part of this dielectric material (epoxy) in cylindrical shape is considered to compute the dielectric constant and dissipation factor. The diameter and thickness of copper layer are 14.2 mm and 35 μ m, respectively.



Figure 41: Cylindrical epoxy substrate

Characterization process:

- The SOL calibration is performed
- \blacktriangleright The test material is set between the electrodes (Appendix 4-3)
- > The capacitance (C_p) and the dissipation factor (D) are measured



Figure 42: (a) Parallel capacitance (Cp) and (b) Dissipation factor (D) measurements from impedance analyzer

By taking the measurement data from Figure 42 and following the equations (Eq. 7, Eq. 8, and Eq. 9), the dielectric constant and the dissipation factor of the test material are calculated.

A material's relative permittivity is not constant but varies with frequency. At extreme low frequencies near DC, conductivity plays a significant role in the material's behavior. Conversely, different electromagnetic effects come into play at very high frequencies (GHz and above). Using a 1 MHz frequency range strikes a balance, as it is in a range where extreme effects are less pronounced, making it a practical choice for a wide range of real-world applications. Also, 1 MHz has gradually become a standard reference frequency for indicating relative permittivity in numerous data sheets and specifications. Therefore, the capacitance of 5.28 pF and dissipation factor of 0.0169 are recovered at 1 MHz from Figure 42 (a) and (b), respectively. Having dielectric thickness of 1.47 mm, copper diameter of 15 mm and substituting these values into Eq. 8 and Eq. 9 gives relative permittivity and dissipation factor of 4.959 and 0.0169 respectively. The obtained values for relative permittivity and dissipation factor are under the range of standard values of 3.5 to 4.8 (at 1 MHz) and 0.01 to 0.03 (at 1 MHz), respectively. The achieved tan (δ) and ϵ_r values are confirmed from Figure 43 (a) and Figure 43 (b) respectively.



Figure 43: (a) Relative permittivity (b) dissipation factor as a function of frequency

2.3.2 Vector Network Analyzer (VNA)

Vector Network Analyzers (VNAs) are test instruments that measure electrical network parameters. They are essential for radio frequency (RF) and microwave component analysis of various passive and active devices including filters, antennas, and power amplifiers [83]. They are mostly used for the high frequency applications ranging from 1 Hz to 1.5 THz. Special types of network analyzers can also cover low frequency ranges down to 1 Hz [84]. Scattering parameters (detailed in section 2.4) are typically measured with a vector network analyzer [72].

VNA has several ports, commonly 2, to connect the DUT. Each VNA port include both signal source and receiver. The receivers detect changes to the output signal from a device (or network) and compares that to the source signal input into that device. To assess the device's effect on the current and voltage, a VNA measures both the amplitude and phase responses of the scattering parameters caused by the device [83].

In order to understand fully how a vector network analyzer operates to generate the scattering parameters, it is useful to see a basic block diagram (Figure 44) of the test instrument.



Figure 44: Block diagram of an RF Vector Network Analyzer (VNA) [84]

The Figure 44 shows the essential parts of a typical 2-ports vector network analyzer. The two ports of the DUT are denoted port 1 (P1) and port 2 (P2). PC1 and PC2 are the precision cables which are extended and connected to P1 and P2 using suitable connector adaptors A1 and A2 respectively. The test frequency is generated by a variable frequency Carrier Wave (CW) source and its power level is set using a variable attenuator. The position of the switch SW1 activates the source connection to the selected port and therefore, sets the direction that the test signal passes through the DUT. Initially consider that SW1 is at position1 so that the test signal is incident on the DUT at P1 which is appropriate for measuring S_{11} and S_{21} . The test signal is fed by SW1 to the common splitter

1 whose one arm (the reference channel) feeding a reference receiver for P1 (RX REF1) and the other (the test channel) connecting to P1 via the directional coupler DC1, PC1, and A1. The third port of the DC1 couples off the power reflected from P1 via A1 and PC1, then feeding it to the test receiver 1 (RX TEST1). Similarly, signals leaving P2 (from P1 through DUT) pass via A2, PC2 and DC2 to RX TEST2. RX REF1, RX TEST, RX REF2, RX TEST2 are known as coherent receivers as they share the same reference oscillator, and they are capable of measuring the test signal's amplitude and phase at the test frequency. All of the complex receiver output signals are fed to a processor which does the mathematical processing and displays the chosen parameters and format on the phase and amplitude display. When SW1 is set to position 2, the test signals are applied to P2, the reference is measured by RX REF2, reflections from P2 are coupled off by DC2 and measured by RX TEST2 and the signals leaving P1 (from P2 through DUT) are coupled off by DC1 and measured by RX TEST1. This position is appropriate for measuring S₂₂ and S₁₂ [84].

Several key specifications must be considered when determining the need for a VNA. The top four specifications that can guide the selection process are frequency range, dynamic range, trace noise, and measurement speed [85].

The frequency range selection is typically determined by the instrument's specific application requirements or constraints related to its operating frequency. Nevertheless, it is advisable to take into account both immediate requirements and potential future needs when making this choice.

The dynamic range represents the measurable attenuation span from maximum to minimum within a specific frequency range. To achieve the desired performance of the DUT, it is essential to ensure that the DUT's maximum attenuation specifications are at least three to six dB lower than the VNA's dynamic range specification. Most modern VNAs provide an excellent dynamic range, typically around 120 dB, which is generally suitable for various applications [85].

Trace noise quantifies how much a VNA introduces random noise into measurements. This noise is commonly expressed in milli-dB (0.001 dB) units [86]. Consequently, trace noise can play a significant role in assessing the precision of specific components. Another vital specification is measurement speed, which signifies the time needed to carry out a single sweep or measurement. Minimizing test at very high volume is critical to the success of the component measurement. Nevertheless, in numerous research and low-volume applications, the measurement speed of the VNA is typically sufficient [85].

Calibration and error corrections:

Although a factory calibration can be beneficial for confirming the accuracy of specific aspects of a VNA, like the stimulus power and receiver frequency response, other characteristics related to the measurement setup, such as cable length, cannot be accurately addressed through factory calibration. Consequently, user calibration becomes a critical step, addressing variables due to measurement configurations and compensating for instrument variations across temperature and frequency [87]. Therefore, before making any measurements with the VNA, it must be calibrated to reduce the systematic errors affecting the measurements [88]. An understanding of measurement error is helpful before proceeding to calibrate a VNA because not all errors can be minimized this way [85].



Figure 45: Type of VNA measurement errors [85]

There are three main types of measurement error (Figure 45). The measurement error types include systematic, random, and drift errors. Systematic errors are imperfections in the test equipment or setup and are typically predictable [14]. A vector network analyzer attains exceptional measurement precision by rectifying systematic errors inherent in the instrument and the properties of cables, adaptors, and test fixtures. This corrective procedure, often called calibration, is distinct from other processes and may be conducted

multiple times within an hour. At times, it is referred to as user calibration to distinguish it from periodic calibrations carried out by manufacturers or third parties [85].

The second source of measurement error is caused by random error. This error arises from fluctuating noise generated by the test equipment or setup over time. Notably, this error persists in the measured outcomes even after user calibration. It plays a pivotal role in defining the achievable measurement accuracy. As previously mentioned, trace noise is a prime illustration of random errors [85].

A third error category is drift error, which pertains to the gradual changes in measurements over time. These fluctuations manifest in both the test equipment and the test setup after a user calibration has been executed. This can include temperature shifts, humidity variations, and mechanical movement within the test setup. Employing controlled environments, such as temperature and humidity-regulated rooms, helps mitigate drift errors. The extent to which the test setup undergoes drift over time dictates the frequency at which recalibrations are required [85].

Among RF and microwave test equipment, VNAs have a unique calibration technique. While they are equipped with a factor calibration feature like any other RF and microwave test equipment, VNAs offer an additional user calibration option that users can execute before conducting measurements. The unique advantage of VNAs lies in their integrated stimulus and receivers within a single instrument, facilitating this "user calibration. As previously mentioned, VNAs measure both magnitude and phase, enabling the user calibration to perform vector error correction. This capability sets VNAs apart as one of the most precise RF instruments. User calibration empowers VNAs to account for the impact of cables, adapters, and various accessories used in correcting the DUT. By eliminating the influence of these accessories, user calibration enables the VNA to achieve precise measurements of the DUT's performance in isolation [85].

There are wide range of methods to calibrate a VNA, depending on the number of ports, the frequency range, the available calibration standards, and even the port type of the DUT. The port type of the VNA can be coaxial, on wafer, in fixture, or waveguide. Furthermore, different types of VNA calibration also involve a trade-off between precision and speed. In the case of a two-port VNA designed for full S-parameters measurements, distinct calibration methods are applied based on the specific measurement needs. The three most commonly used calibration types are presented in Figure 46.



Figure 46: VNA calibration methods [85]

Frequency response calibration: It is the simplest of all calibration types, primarily addressing the instrument's frequency response. Typically, it is used when a basic understanding of the linear performance of a DUT is adequate [87]. For example, if only S_{11} or S_{22} measurement is needed, an open or short standards can be employed to measure the test setup response. Likewise, for S_{12} or S_{21} measurement only a through (thru) standard can be performed [85].

Two-port one path calibration: This method is accurate and works well when interested in measurement of limited set of S-parameters (e.g., S_{11} and S_{21} for $a_2 = 0$). In this case, the VNA exclusively transmit from port 1 [85] presuming that port 2 is optimally matched and enabling reasonably accurate S_{11} and S_{21} measurements [87].

Two-port two path calibration: This is the most common and complete calibration approach for a two-port VNA, often called full two-port or S-parameters calibration. This method is highly accurate and all four S-parameters are fully corrected using various calibration techniques. In coaxial systems, the widely employed calibration technique is SOLT (Short, Open, Load, and Through) which uses the 12-term error model [88]. SOLT is the simplest method, which requires access to known standards with a short circuit and open circuit, a precision load (usually 50 ohms), and a through connection [84]. However, this method requires an 8-step procedure to get both ports calibrated [88]. This thesis employed a 2-port VNA (E5061B from Keysight's Technologies) for characterizations. The calibration process and the operation of this VNA are detailed in section 2.5.

2.3.3 Comparison between impedance analyzer and vector network analyzer

A VNA is capable of measuring a wider array of parameters, including S-parameters whereas impedance analyzers are primarily geared toward impedance measurements. Nevertheless, it is worth noting that measurements obtained with both instruments can be transformed from one format to another. However, when undertaking such conversions, it is vital to take into account any particular requirements or specifications that may apply [72].

A notable difference between a VNA and an impedance analyzer is their handling of reference impedance. VNAs commonly employ a fixed reference impedance, often set at 50 ohms, which allows for easy matching with transmission lines. This setup facilitates the use of cables and Printed Circuit Board (PCB) fixtures with matched lines, thereby reducing the impact of parasitic inductance and capacitance, especially at higher frequencies. In contrast, an impedance analyzer can dynamically adjust its reference impedance to suit specific measurement requirements, thereby improving measurement accuracy. Nevertheless, utilizing cables and fixtures in this manner introduces additional parasitic elements into the system [72].

Furthermore, it is essential to emphasize that an impedance analyzer is typically designed as a one-port device, restricted to measuring the input impedance at the single port of multi-port devices. In contrast, a VNA can measure both reflection and transmission between ports.

SOL calibration is commonly employed to address linear systematic errors introduced in the setup of an impedance analyzer. Conversely, VNAs offer more advanced error correction techniques [72]. Consequently, both instruments hold significance, particularly in distinct frequency ranges. VNAs excel in high frequency applications, whereas impedance analyzers are better suited for low-frequency applications. Typically, impedance analyzers find utility in the DC to 10s of MHz range, while VNAs prove valuable in the MHz to 10s of GHz range.

2.3.4 Comparison between Time-domain and Frequency-domain network

Although both techniques are complementary and even in principle, equivalent- scattering parameters and TDR/T-data can be converted into each other through the use of Fourier Transform which has both advantages and drawbacks.

TDR/T-measurements use a step-like or pulse-like signal with a broadband frequency spectrum, due to which the measurements are very sensitive to the noise in the broad spectrum of the time-domain signal. Also, the dynamic range of TDNA is limited. On the other hand, frequency-domain measurements are small-banded and hence less sensitive to noise which provides a technique with a large dynamic range ($\sim 120 \ dB$). The bandwidth is variable. They are preferrable if the resonant circuits must be characterized. Therefore, they are suitable to characterize analogue systems. The TDR and TDT techniques are mainly used to study the reflection and transmission properties of linear stationary circuits. However, non-linear and/or non-stationary circuits may also be characterized with the TDNA [72]. In general, a VNA measures and displays data in the frequency domain. One example is scattering coefficients of a component versus frequency. The S-parameters are coefficients of linear model and are ratio of absolute quantities where the stimulus frequency is the same as the response frequency. However, if a component exhibits nonlinear behavior, there may not be one-to-one relationship between the input and output frequencies [89]. The analyzers to model the nonlinear characteristics are quite available but are at high cost. The time-domain analysis and frequency-domain analysis are invaluable analysis tools. The use of either networks depends on individual design needs [90].

Taking into account various considerations, this thesis opts for the characterization of Sparameters using a Vector Network Analyzer (VNA). VNAs have the advantage of operating across an extensive frequency spectrum, typically ranging from RF to microwave frequencies, rendering them well-suited for diverse applications, especially those involving high-frequency RF and microwave circuits. With their inherent two-port measurement capabilities, VNAs facilitate the concurrent measurement of both forward and reverse scattering parameters. This dual assessment of transmission and reflection coefficients is instrumental in understanding how power electronic components interact with input and output signals, thus enabling the timely detection of potential failures through the analysis of reflection and transmission waves. Furthermore, VNAs offer advanced calibration techniques that ensure precise measurements by mitigating the influences of test fixtures and cables. In contrast, in this context, impedance and time-domain network analyzers exhibit reduced versatility. Consequently, the chosen approach aligns with the thesis objectives, presenting a well-suited technique for characterizing the system under study.

2.4 S-parameters (Scattering parameter) characterization

Any linear network can be described using S-parameters and Y-parameters (Admittance parameters), Z-parameters (Impedance parameters), T-parameters (Scattering transfer parameters), H-parameters (Hybrid parameters), and ABCD-parameters (Cascade or transmission parameters). Each of these has its specific advantages and disadvantages. In comparison, S-parameters are more familiar as they are easier to measure and calculate on a network analyzer. Additionally, S-parameters do not use open or short circuit conditions to characterize a linear network. Instead, matched loads are used [91]. All the other parameters relate their measurements to total voltages and currents at each port. However, this becomes a challenge at higher frequencies as the equipment cannot measure total voltages and currents. Also, active devices become unstable when terminating by a short or open circuit. Therefore, it is more suitable to use traveling waves instead of total voltages and currents. Hence S-parameters are a preferred method of characterizing a device at RF and microwave frequencies as they are expressed in terms of reflected and transmitted waves with respect to the incident wave.

This section focuses more on answering three questions: what are scattering parameters? Why are they used? And how are they used?

S-parameters describe the electrical behavior of linear electrical networks when undergoing various steady-state stimuli by electrical signals [91]. They represent the linear characteristics of radio frequency electronic circuits and components. To understand how to use a VNA to characterize a DUT, it is essential to understand the basics of Sparameters [85]. S-parameters provide a relationship between the incident wave (denoted a_i , i being 1 or 2) and reflected (denoted b_i) and transmitted (denoted b_{i+1} or b_{i-1}) wave at each port over a range of frequencies. Both a and b waves are phasors, having both magnitude and phase at the specified terminals of the network port [85]. For a 2-ports device, a four-element matrix of S-parameters data represents the bidirectional behavior of the network as a function of frequency [92], as shown in Figure 47. The S-parameters denoted S_{11} , S_{21} , S_{12} , and S_{22} are obtained through a relation between a_1 , a_2 , b_1 , and b_2 [93].



Figure 47: Two-ports S-parameters representation

 S_{11} = Input reflection coefficient

 S_{21} = Transmission from port 1 to port 2

 S_{12} = Transmission from port 2 to port 1

 S_{22} = Output reflection coefficient

In the S-parameters nomenclature, S_{yx} , the second number (x) represents the originating port, while the first number (y) is the destination port [85]. The common practice used to evaluate the behavior of a multi-port network is to use incident waves as excitations at each port and to measure the resulting exiting waves that are either reflected from the port where power is applied or transmitted through the DUT to the remaining port.

The S-parameters generation from VNA has been clearly explained in the Figure 44. Using this knowledge, the S-parameters theory can be more elaborated. Firstly, a portion of the stimulus signal is taken as a reference signal. S-parameters are defined as ratios of signals coming from various ports relative to this reference. The four-element matrix of S-parameters obtained from 2-port network as shown in Figure 47 is as follows:

$$\begin{bmatrix} b_1 \\ b_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} S_{11} & S_{12} \\ S_{21} & S_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a_1 \\ a_2 \end{bmatrix}$$
 Eq. 10

$$b_1 = S_{11}a_1 + S_{12}a_2 \qquad \qquad Eq. \ 11$$

$$b_2 = S_{21}a_1 + S_{22}a_2 \qquad \qquad Eq. \ 12$$

Considering 2-ports network, the VNA measurements uses the two following cases to get four S-parameters (i.e., when the source is connected to port 1 and to the port 2) shown in Figure 44.

Case 1: Forward case, depicted in Figure 48.



Figure 48: S₁₁ and S₂₁ measurement [85]

Port 1 is transmitting the a_1 signal (incident wave) and a matched load is applied to port 2, resulting in zero signal reflection at the load ($a_2 = 0$). Substituting the condition ($a_2 = 0$) in Eq. 11 and Eq. 12 provides S_{11} (Eq. 13) corresponds to the reflection coefficient at port 1 and S_{21} (Eq. 14) the forward transmission coefficient through the DUT.

$$S_{11} = \frac{b_1}{a_1} | a_{2=0}$$

$$S_{21} = \frac{b_2}{a_1} | a_{2=0}$$
Eq. 13
Eq. 14

Case 2: Reverse case is depicted in Figure 49.



Figure 49: S₁₂ and S₂₂ measurements [85]

In the reverse case, port 2 is transmitting the a_2 signal and a matched load is applied at port 1 ($a_1 = 0$). Substituting the condition ($a_1 = 0$) in Eq. 11 and Eq. 12 provides S_{22} (Eq. 15) corresponds to the reflection coefficient at port 2 and S_{12} (Eq. 16) the reverse transmission coefficient through the DUT.

$$S_{22} = \frac{b_2}{a_2} \mid a_{1=0}$$
 Eq. 15

$$S_{12} = \frac{b_1}{a_2} \mid a_{1=0}$$
 Eq. 16

Finally, four S-parameters are obtained. The S-parameters can also be expressed in terms of voltage and current. Consider a 2-port network consisting of a single impedance Z connected in series (Figure 50).



Figure 50: Example for a 2-port network: a series impedance Z [94]

The generator and the load impedances are denoted as Z_G and Z_L , respectively. In the case where, Z = 0 and $Z_L = Z_G$ (assuming real Z_G), a matched load is achieved, resulting in the maximum available power being delivered to the load, and $U_1 = U_2 = U_0/2$. It is important to note that all the voltages and currents are given as peak values. Now, U_0 , U_1 , and U_2 can be related to a and b power waves. The waves travelling towards port 1 and port 2 are a_1 and a_2 , respectively. The waves travelling away from the port 1 and port 2 are b_1 and b_2 , respectively. Likewise, for the n-ports the waves travelling towards and away from the port can be generalized as $(a_1, a_2, ..., a_n)$ and $(b_1, b_2, ..., b_n)$, respectively. By definition, currents entering the n-port are considered positive, while currents leaving the n-ports are considered negative. The wave a_1 , entering the n-port at port 1, is derived from the voltage wave entering a matched load. To maintain consistency with the conservation of energy, the voltage is normalized by $\sqrt{Z_0}$. Z_0 is typically an arbitrary reference impedance, but often used as the characteristic impedance of a line (e.g., $Z_0 = 50 \Omega$), and frequently, $Z_L = Z_G = Z_0$. The general definition of the waves a_i travelling into and b_i out of an n-port are provided in Eq. 17 and Eq. 18 [94].

$$a_i = \frac{U_i + I_i Z_0}{2\sqrt{Z_0}}$$
 Eq. 17

$$b_i = \frac{U_i - I_i Z_0}{2\sqrt{Z_0}}$$
 Eq. 18

Now, substituting Eq. 17 and Eq. 18 in equations from Eq. 13 to Eq. 16, gives the S-parameters in terms of voltage and current waves.

$$S_{11} = \frac{b_1}{a_1} = \frac{U_1 - I_1 Z_0}{U_1 + I_1 Z_0}$$
 Eq. 19

$$S_{21} = \frac{b_2}{a_1} = \frac{U_2 - I_2 Z_0}{U_1 + I_1 Z_0} \qquad \qquad Eq. \ 20$$

$$S_{22} = \frac{b_2}{a_2} = \frac{U_2 - I_2 Z_0}{U_2 + I_2 Z_0}$$
 Eq. 21

$$S_{12} = \frac{b_1}{a_2} = \frac{U_1 - I_1 Z_0}{U_2 + I_2 Z_0}$$
 Eq. 22

2.4.1 Relationship between S-parameters and Z-parameter (Impedance parameter)

S-parameters are analytically convenient to measure when working with RF and microwave systems [93]. Network parameters are traditionally used in circuit design to represent the behavior of components or subcircuits. Frequently, these components or subcircuits can be represented by equivalent circuit models composed of lumped passive components as well as controlled voltage and current sources. In such context, it is interesting to read these propagation waves (S-parameters) in terms of parasitic elements behavior (RLCG). Therefore, the measured S-parameters can be converted into Z-parameters using the conversion expression given in Eq. 23 to Eq. 30 [93]. The various

scattering parameters are all normalized considering $Z_0 = 1$. This impedance is usually the characteristic impedance of the transmission line in which the network of interest is embedded. Normalizing the scattering parameters makes them readily applicable to transmission lines of any impedance. Therefore, the conversion of S-parameters at any network parameters is normalized to Z_0 .

$$Z_{11} = Z_0 \frac{(1+S_{11})(1-S_{22}) + S_{12}S_{21}}{(1-S_{11})(1-S_{22}) - S_{12}S_{21}} \qquad Eq. \ 23$$

$$Z_{21} = Z_0 \frac{2S_{21}}{(1 - S_{11})(1 - S_{22}) - S_{12}S_{21}} \qquad Eq. \ 24$$

$$Z_{12} = Z_0 \frac{2S_{12}}{(1 - S_{11})(1 - S_{22}) - S_{12}S_{21}} \qquad Eq. \ 25$$

$$Z_{22} = Z_0 \frac{(1+S_{22})(1-S_{11}) + S_{12}S_{21}}{(1-S_{11})(1-S_{22}) - S_{12}S_{21}} \qquad Eq. \ 26$$

To point out that for the four above conversion equations S_{11} , S_{21} , S_{12} , S_{22} are complex. A specific Scilab script is developed to make this conversion. Though there is straightforward conversion between S-parameters and Z-parameters, it is important to understand the fundamental theory of Z-parameters.

Z-parameters or impedance parameters describes the behavior of any linear network that can be regarded as a "black box" with number of ports. In this context, a port refers to a set of electrical terminals through which equal and opposite currents flow into and out of the network, and between which a specific voltage exists. Although a network may have any number of ports, let us consider a network with only two ports, an input port and an output port, like the network shown in Figure 51.



Figure 51: General two-port network of Z-parameters

Z-parameters are often used to describe the small-signal (linearized) response of nonlinear networks [95]. They are also useful in the design and analysis of impedancematching networks and power distribution networks [96].

From the Figure 51, the terminal voltages can be related to the terminal currents as follows:

$$V_1 = Z_{11}I_1 + Z_{12}I_2 Eq. 27$$

$$V_2 = Z_{21}I_1 + Z_{22}I_2 Eq. 28$$

Eq. 27 and Eq. 32 can be expressed in the matrix form, where Z terms are called impedance or Z-parameters and have unit of ohms.

$$\begin{bmatrix} V_1 \\ V_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} Z_{11} & Z_{12} \\ Z_{21} & Z_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I_1 \\ I_2 \end{bmatrix}$$
 Eq. 29

The Z-parameters are determined by open circuiting conditions, i.e., $I_x = 0$, where x = 1, 2 refer to input and output currents flowing through the ports (of a two-port network in this case), thus the name open-circuit impedance parameters [95].

Case 1: Open-circuit at port 2 (i.e., $I_2 = 0$) is depicted in Figure 52.



Figure 52: Finding Z_{11} and Z_{21}

Applying input current I₁ at port 1 measures the voltages V₁ and V₂ at ports 1 and 2, respectively. Substituting the condition (I₂ = 0) in Eq. 27 and Eq. 28 provides Z₁₁ (Eq. 30) open-circuit input impedance at port 1 and Z₂₁ (Eq. 31) open-circuit transfer impedance from port 2 to port 1.

$$Z_{11} = \frac{V_1}{I_1} \mid I_{2=0}$$
 Eq. 30

$$Z_{21} = \frac{V_2}{I_1} \mid_{I_2 = 0} Eq. 31$$

Case 2: Open-circuit at port 1 (i.e., $I_1 = 0$) is depicted in Figure 53.

$$\begin{array}{c|c} I_1 = 0 \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & V_1 \\ & & \\ &$$

Figure 53: Finding Z₂₂ and Z₁₂

Applying input current I₂ at port 2 measures the voltages V₁ and V₂ at ports 1 and 2, respectively. Substituting the condition (I₁ = 0) in Eq. 27 and Eq. 28 provides Z_{22} (Eq. 32) open-circuit output impedance at port 2 and Z_{12} (Eq. 33) open-circuit transfer impedance from port 1 to port 2.

$$Z_{22} = \frac{V_2}{I_2} \mid_{I_1 = 0} Eq. \ 32$$

$$Z_{12} = \frac{V_1}{I_2} \mid_{I_1 = 0} Eq. \ 33$$

In this way all the four Z-parameters can be obtained. Let us remark that, S-parameters are converted into Z-parameters only when it is needed to study the propagation waves in terms of parasitic elements. Specifically, to build the electrical equivalent circuits and perform circuit simulations. The fundamental theory of Z-parameters helps to extract the RLCG elements from Z-parameters explained in Section 2.4.2.

2.4.2 RLCG extraction from Z-parameters

In the literature, there are two primary approaches to extract the parasitic elements: calculation-based and measurement-based approach. The calculation-based approach can rely on techniques such as Finite Element Analysis (FEA) or electromagnetic solvers like

ANSYS Q3D (detailed in Section 2.8.1). This method involves computations based on package property and material properties. However, it has drawbacks, including extended computation times and convergence issues, especially when dealing with complex or poorly understood package structures. On the other hand, measurement-based approach can be subdivided into two categories: time-domain measurements and frequency-domain measurements. Time-domain measurements, which is based on transmission line theory extracts parasitic components by analyzing the reflected signal in relation to time delay. Nevertheless, this method has seen limited practical adoption due to uncertainties mentioned in [97].

Frequency-domain measurements can be carried out using impedance or vector network analyzers (as mentioned in Section 2.3.1 and 2.3.2). Though the impedance analyzers can compute RLC parameters, their limitations compared to VNA measurements are explained in Section 2.3.3. Therefore, the RLCG extraction process considering the VNA measurements (S-parameters) and converted Z-parameters are detailed in the following.

Each of the two-port network Z-parameters Z_{11} , Z_{21} , Z_{12} , and Z_{22} reveals a second-order RLC circuit, formed in a series combination of the individual inductances, capacitances, and resistances. Figure 54 shows a typical impedance plot (Z_{11}) of a series RLC circuit, where the frequency dependent impedance has its minimum value at the Self-Resonating Frequency (SRF). The low-frequency impedance is dominated by the capacitive components while the high-frequency impedance is dominated by the inductive components. The resistive components determine the minimum value at the SRF [97].



Figure 54: Z₁₁ magnitude for RLC computation

The total impedance is represented as shown in Eq. 34,

$$Z_T = R + j(X_L - X_C) \qquad \qquad Eq. \ 34$$

 Z_T = Total impedance in Ohms

R = Resistance (Real part of Z_T) in Ohms

 X_L = Inductive reactance (imaginary part of Z_T) in Ohms and

 X_C = Capacitive reactance (imaginary part of Z_T) in Ohms

The inductive and capacitive reactance can be further expressed as $X_L = 2 * \pi * f * L_{eq}$ and $V_{eq} = 1$

and
$$X_C = \frac{1}{2*\pi * f * C_{eq}}$$

The impedance recovered from the impedance plot is in Decibel. For the computation the impedance is usually used in ohms. Therefore, Eq. 35 gives the conversion expression from dB to ohms. Furthermore, $Z_{(linear)}$ consist of real part, denoted as $Z_{(real)}$ and imaginary part, denoted as $Z_{(img)}$.

$$Z_{(linear)} = 10^{(\frac{Z_{(dB)}}{20})}$$
 Eq. 35

From the impedance plot (for example Figure 54), to extract the capacitance the zone below SRF is considered which is dominated by capacitive components. Therefore, in this case the inductive and resistive elements are neglected [97]. From which the Eq. 34 can be simplified to Eq. 36.

$$|Z_{1(img)}| = \frac{1}{2 * \pi * f_1 * C_{eq}} \qquad \qquad Eq. \ 36$$

By rewriting Eq. 36 in terms of C_{eq} Eq. 37 is obtained.

$$C_{eq} = \frac{1}{2 * \pi * f_1 * |Z_{1(img)}|}$$
 Eq. 37

To compute inductance, the self-resonating expression given in Eq. 38 is used. By rewriting Eq. 38 in terms of L_{eq} and substituting the required values, the value of inductance is obtained.

$$SRF = \frac{1}{2 * \pi * \sqrt{L_{eq} * C_{eq}}} \qquad \qquad Eq. \ 38$$

$$L_{eq} = \frac{1}{(2 * \pi * SRF)^2 * C_{eq}}$$
 Eq. 39

The resistance value is obtained by using the minimum impedance value at self-resonating frequency.

$$\left|Z_{SRF(real)}\right| = R_{eq} \qquad \qquad Eq. \ 40$$

$$R_{eq} = 10^{\left(\frac{|Z_{SRF(real)}|}{20}\right)} \qquad \qquad Eq. \ 41$$

Consequently, the conductance (the parallel resistance to capacitance) value is computed at the low frequency (i.e., 100 kHz). The average value of magnitude (Z_G) is considered as measurement contain noise at frequency (f_G). To compute the average first 50 default values are used. The computation is similar to the resistance value computation presented in Eq. 40 and Eq. 41.

$$|Z_G| = R_G \qquad \qquad Eq. \ 42$$

$$R_G = 10^{(\frac{|Z_G|}{20})} Eq. 43$$

99

2.5 Understanding different steps of the NDT methodology using a simple case study (microstrip line)

This section is dedicated to demonstrate different steps of the NDT methodology using simple example of two-port microstrip transmission line. The idea is to introduce the two-port characterization process using VNA, which covers defining parameters on VNA, calibration process, measurement process, analysis of S-parameters.

Printed transmission lines are widely used specifically at RF and microwave frequency applications, with microstrip lines being common type. The microstrip line is a transmission-line configuration consisting of a single conductor trace on one side of a dielectric substrate and a single ground plane on the opposite side, as depicted in Figure 55. This open structure facilitates straightforward interconnections and adjustments [98].



Figure 55: Microstrip line (a) Top view and (b) Bottom view

A microstrip line consists of a conductor of width *W*, thickness *T*, and length *l*, a dielectric substrate of thickness *d* and relative permittivity ϵ_r . Figure 56 and Table 5 presents the dimensions of the microstrip line.



Figure 56: Microstrip line representation

Parameter	Value (mm)	Description
D	1.47	Thickness of the dielectric
W	2.67	Width of the microstrip line
L	51.05	Length of the transmission line
Т	0.035	Thickness of copper conductor

Table 5: Dimensions of microstrip lin

The relative permittivity (ϵ_r) value of epoxy substrate used here is 4.959 which was computed in section 2.3.1.1.

The proposed NDT methodology is explained in different steps.

Step 1: Defining parameters of VNA

Vector Network Analyzer (E5061B) from Keysight technologies, shown in Figure 57, is used for the characterization during this thesis. It is a two-port network analyzer, and the operating frequency of this equipment is from 5 Hz to 3 GHz. Figure 57 is captured just after performing SOLT calibration on VNA, that is why a stable curve is displayed.



Figure 57: Vector Network Analyzer (E5061B)

Firstly, a VNA is turned on at least half an hour before performing any action on VNA. Like any test equipment, a VNA is subject to some degree of thermal drift, and it is essential to address this issue. To achieve the highest measurement accuracy, a VNA should be allowed to warm up and stabilize its internal temperature to match the ambient conditions. Then, the VNA is preset to ensure no previous data is stored and influencing the current measurements. Then after, the coaxial cables are connected to each port to transmit the RF signals from the VNA to the device under test (DUT) and back. Usually, coaxial cables are equipped with connectors (e.g., SMA, N-type, BNC) that are compatible with the VNA's ports. These connectors ensure a secure and reliable electrical connection between the VNA and the DUT. Coaxial cables are designed to have a specific characteristic impedance (e.g., 50 ohms) to match the impedance of the VNA and the most RF components. The cables are included in the calibration, thereby any effects due to cables can be removed from the measurements of the DUT. During this thesis, the coaxial cables of SMA connector type with an operating frequency of 0 to 12.4 GHz and 50 Ω connector impedance (Appendix 4-4) are used. The cables are marked at the connecting points to VNA ports to identify and maintain a similar cable connection to respective ports for every measurement. Before performing the calibration, it is to be noted that it is essential to use identical hardware and software settings to calibrate the VNA and measure the DUT. Typical parameter settings are presented in Table 6 and are followed throughout the thesis.

Parameters	Settings
(Frequency) _{low}	10 kHz
(Frequency) _{high}	3 GHz (max)
Sweep type	Log
No. of points per sweep	1601 (max)
Averaging factor	16 (max)
IF Bandwidth	30 kHz
Source power	10 dBm (max)

Table 6: VNA parameter settings

The start frequency is set to 10 kHz to avoid noise traces, and the stop frequency to the maximum frequency available (3 GHz). A considerable trade-off exists between averaging factor and IF bandwidth, as both refer mainly to the measurement speed and accuracy. Decreasing IF bandwidth will reduce the uncertainty of the measurements at the cost of increased measurement time and is an alternative to averaging. In this case, the IF bandwidth is considered concerning the future potential, i.e., the measurement speed, as

more measurements are expected to be performed in a limited time. Therefore, the maximum averages are used throughout the calibration and measurement. The source power is chosen as high as possible to achieve the slightest uncertainty for a given IF bandwidth.

Step 2: Calibration process

Calibration kits can be either manual (mechanical) or automatic (electronic). The VNA (E5061B) is provided with individual mechanical standard calibration kit, 85032E (N-Type) shown in Figure 58. The most popular coaxial calibration technique SOLT (Short-Open-Load-Through) has been adopted.



Figure 58: Calibration kit (85032E)

This calibration technique involves the process of connecting well-known reference standards to each port. Next, both the ports are physically connected to each other. In simple case, when preparing to measure an insertable coaxial device, which has mating connectors, both calibration ports can be directly connected to each other resulting in a zero-length through or flush through [87]. The calibration procedure consists in measuring 7 different reference standards (2 Opens, 2 Shorts, 2 Loads (50 Ω), and a Thru) illustrated in Appendix 4-5. Once 7 different reference standards are performed, the calibration is finally validated. Thereby, it allows to move to the next step to perform measurements.

Step 3: S-parameters measurements

The DUT is connected between the two ports as shown in Figure 59. Two female 50 Ω adapted SMA connectors are connected on either side of the copper conductor. This SMAs are coaxial connector type which fits into the male coaxial cables (Appendix 4-4). Once

DUT is well connected all four S-parameters are saved in Touchstone format (S₁₁, S₂₁, S₁₂, S₂₂).

Figure 59: VNA characterization of microstrip line

Step 4: S-parameters analysis

The measured S-parameters from VNA are plotted using Scilab. A Scilab script has been developed to read the Touchstone files of VNA and plot S-parameters as a function of frequency. The DUT contains a conducting path (transmission line) with two connecting points on either side, providing the two-port connection. Therefore, it is expected to transmit injected signal from originating port to the destination port when looking into transmission parameters (S_{12} or S_{21}). On the other hand, it is expected to have low reflection when looking at reflection parameters (S_{11} or S_{22}). The magnitude is measured in decibel (dB) and phase in degree.



Figure 60: S-parameters magnitude of microstrip line

The most important parameters to analyze in this case would be the transmission parameters (S_{21} and S_{12}). As shown in Figure 60, considering -3 dB standard reference, S_{12} and S_{21} recovers 100% transmission from 10 kHz to 300 MHz and gradually drops to -1.8 dB at 3 GHz. On the other hand, the reflection parameters (S_{11} and S_{22}) recover the low reflection as expected. However, it is important to know why 3 dB is considered as the standard reference.

The decibel (dB) is a logarithmic way for expressing a ratio. The ratio can be based on power, voltage, current in electrical engineering. It is often referred as a logarithmic unit however it is actually not the base unit. The base unit is the Bel (which was named after famous scientist Alexander Graham Bell). Bel is defined as the logarithm to the base 10 of a ration of two powers P_1 and P_2 as shown in Eq. 44. The Bel is converted to decibel by multiplying Eq. 44 with 10.

$$Bel = \log_{10}\left(\frac{P_2}{P_1}\right) \qquad \qquad Eq. \ 44$$
$$dB = 10 * \log_{10} \left(\frac{P_2}{P_1}\right)$$
 Eq. 45

Power gain in decibel is expressed using Eq. 45. In the ratio of power P₁ and P₂, the denominator P₂ is referred as reference value. Therefore, the numerator P₁ is compared to the reference value. The Eq. 45 can also be expressed in terms of voltage and currents following Ohm law (i.e., P = V * I, V = I * R).

$$dB = 20 * \log_{10} \left(\frac{V_2}{V_1}\right)$$
 Eq. 46

$$dB = 20 * \log_{10} \left(\frac{I_2}{I_1} \right)$$
 Eq. 47

Bandwidth refers to the frequency range between the upper and lower limits within which the signal or communication channel functions adequately. Figure 61 presents a graphical definition of the bandwidth. Usually, 3 dB point (at f_L and f_H) is considered as a threshold value relative to the maximum value. At this point the output power of the signal reduced to half of its input power (70.7% of its maximum).



Figure 61: Definition of bandwidth

To illustrate, consider a system like in Figure 62 which has input power P_1 and output power P_2 .



Figure 62: A system with input and output

For the case when the output power is halved (i.e., $P_1 = 1$ W, $P_2 = 0.5$ W)

$$dB = 10 * \log_{10}\left(\frac{0.5}{1}\right) = -3 \ dB \qquad \qquad Eq. \ 48$$

Therefore, considering different factors like the VNA (E5061B) measurement sensitivity [99] and output behavior following power injection -3 dB is referred as an standard reference. It is the point at which the power at the output is half than the input.

Likewise, Figure 63 represents the S-parameters phase of a microstrip line. In general, the S-parameters phases are not often used in analysis. Whereas, they play an important role in the conversion of S-parameters to Z-parameters and mainly for the extraction of parasitic elements.



Figure 63: S-parameters phase of microstrip line substrate

To understand the behavior of DUT in electrical parameters, reading the propagation waves in terms of parasitic (RLCG) elements would be interesting. They can also bring additional information, which indeed deepens the analysis.

Step 5: S-parameters to Z-parameters conversion

The S-parameters can then be converted into Z-parameters, thanks to the conversion expressions (Eq. 23 to Eq. 26) [93]. The converted Z_{11} parameter (magnitude and phase) is presented in Figure 64.



Figure 64: Z₁₁ parameter converted from measured S-parameters (a) Magnitude (b) Phase

As annotated on the curve Z_{11} , it delivers RLC behavior. The steady downward slope, indicated by the term $(\frac{1}{\omega C_{eq}})$, signifies capacitive behavior with an associated phase of -90°. Conversely, the consistent upward slope denoted by (ωL_{eq}) signifies inductive behavior and corresponding phase is +90°. At the resonance frequency, where the impedance is minimum (R_{eq}) , this signifies a resistance with a phase of 0°. Similarly, Figure 65 presents the other three Z-parameters $(Z_{21}, Z_{12}, \text{ and } Z_{22})$ which also delivers the RLC behavior.



Figure 65: Magnitude and phase of Z₂₁, Z₁₂, and Z₂₂ parameters

As it can be seen, at low frequency from 10 kHz to about 100 kHz the noise signal is measured. It can be due to two main reasons:

1) parameter settings to speed up the measurement time concerning number of measurements to be performed in limited time.

2) the equipment low frequency measurement accuracy

As the behavior of the curves in this frequency range (i.e., from 10 kHz to 100 kHz) is known, further curves are presented from 100 kHz to 3 GHz. Once the impedance plots are established, the RLC parameters can be extracted to construct the equivalent model.

2.6 Equivalent model construction

Equivalent models are effective method of representing the experimental measurements. They help to predict the behavior of components, circuits and systems [93]. Two-port networks are extensively employed in linear circuit analysis and design. The system being studied is characterized by a descriptive matrix that establishes the relationship between its input and output variables, including voltages and currents. Such models simplify the input/output response of active and passive devices and circuits into a "black boxes" where the internal details become irrelevant [100].

A two-port equivalent model made of three impedances can be used as an equivalent model. To establish this model, the system should pass through a mandatory step i.e., to respect reciprocity (i.e., Z_{12} is strictly equals to Z_{21}) [100].

Step 6: System reciprocity check

In networks, reciprocity refers to the principle that the impedance observed when examining one terminal of the network from another terminal remains consistent with the impedance encountered when investigating the first terminal from the second terminal. This holds true regardless of the signal flow's direction, signifying that the network exhibits analogous behavior for signals moving in either direction. In electrical terms, this step states that the current at one point in a circuit due to a voltage at a second point is the same as the current at the second point due to same voltage at the first point [101]. Where one point and second point can be related to port 1 and port 2 respectively. The measurement parameters (S_{12} and S_{21}) of the microstrip line substrate undergo for reciprocity check as shown in Figure 66. It is also verified using converted Z-parameters (Z_{21} and Z_{12}) as shown in Figure 67.



Figure 66: Reciprocity check of S-parameters $(S_{21} \text{ and } S_{12})$ (a) Magnitude (b) Phase



Figure 67: Reciprocity check of Z-parameters $(Z_{21} \text{ and } Z_{12})$ (a) Magnitude (b) Phase

Thereby, a two-port three impedances model can be built using two reflection coefficients $(Z_{11} \text{ and } Z_{22})$ and one of the transmission coefficients $(Z_{21} \text{ or } Z_{12})$. Let us remark that, this model is only considered if the network pass reciprocity checks otherwise the model can be complex (should consider all the parameters of the network). It is one of the important steps to build equivalent models and perform simulations which is followed and validated throughout this thesis.

Step 7: Two-port equivalent impedance model

The port-based impedance parameters are considered based on total port voltages and currents for the two-port as described in Figure 51 and Eq. 29. The equivalent impedance model for a reciprocal network can be described as a T-network shown in Figure 68.



Figure 68: General equivalent circuit from a reciprocal impedance matrix

Knowing the impedances matrix, the equivalent impedances Z_A , Z_B , and Z_C can be deduced following Eq. 49, Eq. 50, and Eq. 51.

$$Z_B = Z_{22} - Z_{12} Eq. 50$$

$$Z_C = Z_{12} = Z_{21}$$
 Eq. 51

The steps that are presented so far i.e., from step 1 to step 7 remains as common steps for this proposed NDT methodology. The next step is to identify the parasitic elements representing the impedance network shown in Figure 68. As a matter of facts, the equivalent RLCG model is rather dependent on the device under test.

Step 8: Equivalent RLCG circuit construction

For example, if considered the same study case i.e., microstrip line, the equivalent RLCG elements are represented as shown in Figure 69.



Figure 69: Lumped-element model for a microstrip line

Where R_1 , L_1 are the resistance and inductance of conducting path corresponding to port 1 connection. Likewise, R_2 , L_2 are the resistance and inductance of conducting path corresponding to port 2. C and G are the capacitance and conductance of the dielectric. As it can be seen, the RLCG elements represented are following the two-port measurement therefore they indeed represented as lumped parameters.

The next step is to compute the RLCG values and perform simulation. Thereby, the final step will be to make comparison between the experimental and simulation.

2.7 RLCG elements extraction and simulation analysis of a microstrip line

The parasitic elements are extracted considering the impedance plot and following the computation process described in Section 2.4.2 (from Eq. 35 to Eq. 43). Therefore, the Z-parameter curves achieved in step 5 are used to extract RLCG elements. As prior mentioned, the internal equivalent circuit made of RLCG is rather dependent on the device





Figure 70: T-network representing transmission line

R2, L2, C2, and RG are the values respectively assigned to resistance, inductance, capacitance, and parallel resistance or conductance. These values need to be identified, which is demonstrated in step 9.

Step 9: Parasitic element extraction

The RLCG extraction of microstrip line from Z_{11} , Z_{21} , Z_{12} , and Z_{22} parameters following the extraction process detailed in Section 2.4.2 (from Eq. 35 to Eq. 43) are presented in Table 7.

Parameters	Z ₁₁	Z_{21}	Z_{12}	Z ₂₂
$R_{eq}(m\Omega)$	505.755	21.068	21.068	744.873
Leq (nH)	6.26	6.07	6.07	6.26
C _{eq} (pF)	8.36	8.35	8.35	8.35
$R_G(k\Omega)$	422.127	422.128	422.128	422.126

Table 7: RLCG values of microstrip line extracted from experimental data (converted Z-parameters)

As it can be seen, Figure 70 only presents the transmission line modelling, whereas to complete, the SMA model needs to be added. To remind, the DUT constitutes a transmission line with two SMAs connected on either side to provide two-port characterization. To perform the final simulation, the RLCG elements corresponding to the transmission line were extracted given in Table 7. To be realistic, the RLCG elements

corresponding to two SMAs needs to be identified. To do so, an epoxy interface with two SMAs connected through a small 50 ohms adapted transmission line was developed as shown in Figure 71.



Figure 71: Epoxy interface to model SMAs (a) top view (b) bottom view

The outer part of the SMA is connected to ground plane shown in Figure 71 (b). The dimensions of the interface are shown in Table 8.

Parameters	Length (mm)	Width (mm)	Height (um)
Microstrip line	10.63	2.67	35
Epoxy substrate	_	_	1.48

Table 8: Epoxy substrate with short microstrip line dimensions

Two-port characterization explained in (section 2.5) is now applied on to this epoxy substrate (Figure 71). Figure 72 shows an electrical equivalent circuit of SMA connectors representing Figure 71. The circuit constitutes two T-networks presenting SMA 1 and SMA 2 assuming that the impact of microstrip is negligible.



Figure 72: Electrical equivalent circuit of SMA connectors

Applying a similar RLCG extraction methodology, i.e., from Eq. 35 to Eq. 43, the RLCG values of SMA 1 and SMA 2 are obtained given in Table 9. The values R1, L1, C1, and G1 corresponds to SMA 1 and R2, L2, C2, and G2 corresponds to SMA 2.

Parameters	SMA 1	SMA 2
$R_{i}(m\Omega)$	166.23	129.67
L _i (nH)	1.48	1.60
C _i (pF)	1.08	1.08
G _i (kS)	22.29	22.35

Table 9: RLCG values of SMA connectors extracted from experimental data

Table 9 presents Ri, Li, Ci, and Gi (where i = 1,2), i being 1 presents SMA 1 values and 2 for SMA 2 values. It is interesting to point out, the RLCG values obtained for SMA 1 and SMA 2 are close to each other. These values are plugged into the electrical equivalent circuit (as detailed in Figure 72) to perform the LTspice simulation. Thereby, the experimental and simulation results are compared as presented in Figure 73.



Figure 73: Experimental and simulation comparison of SMA modelling

The comparison of experimental and LTspice curves are shows a good agreement from 10.5 MHz to 3.5 GHz with any difference between experimental and simulation curves less than 2 dB. At low frequency, using the parallel resistance R_G , it fits the experimental curve from 100 kHz to 500 kHz. Whereas, in the bandwidth highlighted in black box the

difference of around 5 dB is noticed as it is difficult to obtain the exact conductance value due to some high oscillations at low frequency.

Having modelled the SMA connectors, the equivalent electrical schema shown in Figure 70 is updated to Figure 74.



Figure 74: Two-port electrical equivalent circuit of a transmission line with SMA connectors

The RLC values presented in Table 7 are the values of microstrip line which includes SMA. For a precise modelling the RLC values of SMA alone are extracted given in Table 9. The RLC values given in Table 9 are plugged into SMA 1 and SMA 2 model of Figure 74. As the transmission line model includes the SMA, the SMA model values are deduced from the transmission line model in Figure 74. The parallel resistance (RG) is not included in the equivalent circuit as it exhibits no impact. The experimental and LTspice simulation curves are compared and shown in Figure 75.



Figure 75: Experimental and simulation comparison of microstrip line substrate

As highlighted in Figure 75, the experimental and LTspice simulation curves are in good agreement from 500 kHz to 1 GHz with any differences less than 3 dB. Modeling the microstrip line by a single T-network is justified by the fact that its length is much shorter than the wavelength λ up to 1 GHz. It means to approximate the transmission line as a single RLC cell (or single T-network) the line should be electrically short (i.e., shorter than $\frac{\lambda}{10}$). A simple way to overcome the fact that the length of the studied line is longer than $\frac{\lambda}{10}$ is to subdivide this line.

$$\lambda = \frac{v}{f} \qquad \qquad Eq. 52$$

Where, λ is the wavelength, *v* is the velocity of propagation (m/s), and *f* is the operating frequency transmission line (Hz). The wave speed of the transmission line can be obtained using Eq. 53.

$$v = \frac{l_T}{\sqrt{L_{eq} * C_{eq}}} \qquad \qquad Eq. \ 53$$

Where, l_T is the length of the transmission line in mm, L_{eq} and C_{eq} are the inductance and capacitance of the transmission line expressed in nH and pF, respectively. For l_T of 51.054 mm, L_{eq} and C_{eq} being 6.26 nH and 8.35 pF (given in Table 7), the velocity of propagation computed is 2.23e⁸ m/s. For a frequency of 2 GHz, the wavelength $\lambda = 11 \text{ cm}$ and so $\frac{\lambda}{10} = 1.1 \text{ cm}$. Therefore, to achieve an accurate model until around 2 GHz, the transmission can be subdivided by 1.1 cm sublines. The electrical equivalent schema presented in Figure 74 has been updated to Figure 76 with two T-networks for the transmission line. RLC parameters constituting to transmission line are distributed accordingly following the division of the line (i.e., divided by 2), identified in Figure 76. The experimental and LTspice simulation curves are compared and presented in Figure 77.





Figure 76: Electrical equivalent circuit with 2 T-networks for microstrip line

Figure 77: Experimental and simulation comparison of an equivalent circuit with 2 T-networks for microstrip line

The results are in good agreement from 500 kHz to 2.6 GHz following the post-processing of experimental and simulation data (Figure 77). Let us remark that below 500 kHz, the experimental data generate some oscillations. It is difficult to perfectly fit the simulation curve below 500 kHz, however, it recovers the slope. From 500 kHz to 2.6 GHz, some slight variations are observed (Figure 77). The differences are less than 1.5 dB. Modeling transmission line while respecting the wavelength is crucial for designing efficient and high-performance systems, especially in high-frequency applications. To achieve such models, it is important to take into account the physical dimensions of the transmission line relative to the wavelength of the signal being transmitted.

2.8 Other simulation tools

This section provides information about the other NDT simulations tools that are used during the thesis. Though an in-depth study has not been made on these tools, an attempt was made to support the future work. As mentioned, at the begin of this chapter using electromagnetic solvers like Ansys Q3D is one of the ways to extract parasitic elements. The other tool is Advanced Design Systems (ADS) from Keysight Technologies. To begin with these tools a simple microstrip line substrate is chosen.

2.8.1 Ansys Q3D case study on microstrip line

The first step to proceed is designing 3-dimensional (3D) model on Q3D software. Considering the geometry and material information of the microstrip line prototype (Table 5), a 3D model was built on Q3D as illustrated in Figure 78. The design is assigned with "Nets" to define an electrical connection of conductors into an entity that interests for simulation. The current path is defined by exciting the conducting paths using source and sink terminals. The source and sink terminals are inputs and outputs. The terminals can be assigned before or after assigning nets. But every net needs one current sink and at least one current source in order to run the AC RL (AC Resistance and Inductance) solver [102]. The capacitance and conductance (CG) solver, can be run without any sources and sinks. The terminals are usually get assigned to 1D or 2D elements in the 3D modeler.



Figure 78: 3D design of microstrip line substrate on Ansys Q3D

For structures like a microstrip line, which has a large ground plane, a ground net can be used which is the ideal solutions. In the one hand, the ground plane can be excited by source and sink terminals which produce a path for the current and inductance in the ground plane. The next step is to define the analysis setup which specifies a solution frequency given in Appendix 4-6. This step allows to choose the matrix values (C, G and R, L) for the solution selection solvers. The frequency sweep is also possible explained in [102]. Having set all these parameters the simulations can be run and the solve setup display pops up determining what simulation results became available based on the choice made (Appendix 4-7). The extracted values from Q3D are plugged into the electrical

equivalent circuit developed to represent the microstrip line and compared with the experimental data given in Figure 79. The results agree with difference of close to 3.5 dB between experimental and LTspice simulation from 100 kHz to 500 MHz. The differences could be due to the fact that the SMA connectors are not included in the design. Whereas, the impact of SMA connectors is usually noticed at high frequency, which could justify that the resonances are not exactly recovered. On the other hand, a small difference of 1.5 dB observed in capacitance dominating region can be related to grounding considerations and type of capacitance matrix that is used for the extraction. This part of work still needs to be explored to give better conclusions.



Figure 79: Comparison of experimental and LTspice simulation (using RLC extracted from Q3D) of a microstrip line

However, to give a try, we have updated the design, an SMA model is built and simulation of complete model (i.e., microstrip line substrate with SMA model) has been performed which is presented in Figure 80. The results agree with a difference of 2 dB between experimental and LTspice simulation from 100 kHz to 1.2 GHz for transmission coefficients and from 100 kHz to 350 MHz for reflection coefficients. However, the shift in resonance is pronounced from 170 MHz to 230 MHz. We have expected to see improvement in simulation results with updated model but difference in curves is still observed which is more pronounced above 1.2 GHz. We assume that it can be due to

grounding considerations, type of capacitance matrix that is used for the extraction. This part of work still needs to be explored to give better conclusions.



Figure 80: 3D design of microstrip line substrate with SMA and experimental and LTspice simulation comparison

For the frequency application above 1 GHz there is high possibility of significant inaccuracy following Q3D extractions. However, there are certain methods like segmentation method where the DUT can be divided into a set of electrically small segments to improve the accuracy of high frequency simulations [103]. This method can improve the accuracy but would be complicated with complex geometries. This thesis is not much focused on it however it can be a possibility for the future.

2.8.2 Advanced Design Systems (ADS)

ADS (Advanced Design System) is a wide-frequency finite element simulation software package, also used for electromagnetic compatibility modeling. It offers two simulation environments generating S parameters: a 2D environment (electrical circuit and cosimulation), and a 3D environment (EMPro). This section demonstrates the 2D and 3D simulations and its comparison with experimental data. This part of work is carried out with the help of an intern candidate (Gontran MANDAMBA) [104]. The microstrip line prototype is still chosen as a demonstrator. The homemade packaging will be studied later. The ADS environment allows several simulation possibilities i.e., it is possible to build a circuit simulation and then process to 2D and 3D models and vice versa. In addition,

tunning mode option in ADS allows to perform modeling by optimizing the parameters to be as close as possible to the experimental results. Figure 81 presents different possible simulation environments.



Figure 81: (a) Circuit simulation, (b) 2D model, and (c) 3D model

Circuit simulation which does not take into account all the elements of the module, the results obtained are quite far from the experimental measurement, and only precise tuning is able to correct certain discrepancies. Therefore, a 3D model is developed making the most of all the microstrip line's constructive elements. It is developed using 3D simulation environment. In this environment, the model established by defining the substrate (here epoxy) material and its properties on which the copper conductors rest are given in Appendix 4-8. Once having designed 3D model, a finite element simulation is run and is compared with experimental data given as illustrated in Figure 82. The transmission curves (S_{21} and S_{12}) are in good agreement with experimental with any difference 0.7 dB from 100 kHz to 1.5 GHz.



Figure 82: Comparison of VNA results and ADS simulation of the 3D model

A cosimulation is performed by adding the SMA circuit model and the 3D microstrip line symbol generated from the layout given in Figure 83. RLCG values used for SMA model are extracted from SMA characterization given in Table 9. Thereby, the simulation and the experimental data are provided in Figure 84.



Figure 83: Cosimulation in the ADS circuit environment



Figure 84: Comparison of VNA results and ADS cosimulation

The results obtained are interesting as the real structure of the module is respected as much as possible, taking all its components into account. The tuning mode allowed to get a model more precisely. The results recover good transmission with any difference < 0.4 dB from 100 kHz to 1.5 GHz and also recovers the resonance highlighted on reflection coefficient.

2.9 Conclusion

This chapter presents the NDT methodology, constituting the experimentation, computation, and equivalent model construction. The experimentation presents the twoport S-parameters characterization using Vector Network Analyzer (VNA). Although several parameters (Z, Y, H) can describe any two-port network, measuring total voltages and currents at high frequencies is challenging by performing open and short circuits. Also, the active devices become unstable when terminating by a short and open circuit. Hence S-parameters are the preferred method of characterizing, as they express the electrical networks using matched impedances. The methodology is explained in different steps considering a simple case study (microstrip line). For example, step 1 to 4 describes the calibration process, S-parameters measurement, and analysis, followed by S-to-Z parameter conversion in step 5. In step 6 to 7, described the construction of an equivalent model constituting the lumped-element model by validating the requirements to build the model. The parasitic element extraction which is one the crucial steps of the methodology allow to perform circuit simulations and compare with the experimental data. Wavelength of the transmission line is essential for accurate modeling, especially in high-frequency applications. It allows to predict and mitigate certain issues like impedance matching,

signal reflections, resonance, and other wavelength-dependent effects. Therefore, an effort has been made to improve the accuracy of modeling for a microstrip line prototype which led us to have quite interesting results. In addition, this chapter also discusses time-domain and frequency-domain networks and makes a comparison. The frequency-domain network and their corresponding measurement types of equipment are described in detail. The following chapter continues to describe the methodology and focuses more on experimental and simulation aspects applied to power electronic assemblies. In addition, two other simulation tools (Ansys Q3D and ADS) which were tried during this thesis are presented. Though these tools were not study in-depth, there were some interesting results which are presented.

3.1 Introduction

Power electronic assemblies often operate at high frequencies, comprising various passive and active components like capacitors, inductors, diodes, and transistors. Therefore, it is essential to study the behavior of these assemblies as they play crucial role in leading the reliability and efficiency of the system. The wide frequency band characterization is a measurement technique that addresses design, analysis, and validation of power electronic assemblies, especially in high-frequency and high-power applications. By considering the system as a black box, this characterization enables to assess the assembly's behavior as the signal integrity. Power electronic assemblies may have specific frequency response. In such a case, S-parameters measurements provide data on how the assembly behaves over a range of frequencies, helping to ensure that it meets performance specifications. This Chapter demonstrates the application of NDT methodology for a wide frequency band characterization of healthy power assemblies. The power assemblies that are specifically studied are TO packages and power modules based onto an Active Metal Brazing (AMB) ceramic substrate. The behavior of the assemblies is analyzed through reflection and transmission S-parameters coefficients and their conversion to Zparameters. Electrical equivalent circuits and respective circuit simulations are also addressed.

3.2 Application of NDT methodology to discrete power devices

This section details the NDT methodology applied to discrete power devices. It is applied to different TO packages, some listed in Table 1. The global idea of the methodology is explained in different steps in Chapter 2. The TO packages that are used during this thesis have three connection pins. Therefore, the methodology is updated. The update is based on how these three terminals are used to perform the two-port characterization and its corresponding simulation.

3.2.1 Two-port S-parameters power device characterization

Before performing the S-parameters measurement, there are several requirements. The first preparation is to design an interface to ensure reliable and low inductance connections between the device terminals and VNA. To achieve high accuracy, the design should consider negligible loss, flat frequency response with linear phase, and good impedance

match [97]. Therefore, an epoxy interface was developed for interfacing between the VNA and DUT, which integrates two 50 Ω SMA female connectors. Figure 85 presents the epoxy interface where the discrete power device is vertically placed on the interface. The thickness of epoxy and metallization are 1.5 mm and 35 μ m, respectively. The characteristic impedance of the access pad tracks is also designed to be 50 Ω adapted to ensure impedance matching. Figure 85 presents the interface designed to support the TO-247. Likewise, an interface is also developed for the packages following TO-220 package dimensions presented in Appendix 4-9.



Figure 85: Epoxy interface of TO-247 package vertically placed (a) top view, (b) bottom view, and (c) footprint of top view For any power device having three terminals, SiC MOSFETs or IGBTs, there exist three straightforward configurations given in Table 10. Figure 85 presents the interface

corresponding to configuration 1, denoted config1. In similar way the interfaces corresponding to config2 and config3 are designed and manufactured.

Configuration's name	Gate	Drain/Collector	Source/Emitter
config1	Grounded	Port 1	Port 2
config2	Port 1	Port 2	Grounded
config3	Port 1	Grounded	Port 2

Table 10: Two-port configurations for three terminals TO packages

Sometimes a notation is used to represent configurations for this study (i.e., config1 = GCOM, eventually SCOM and DCOM for config2 and config3, respectively). In the following, the generic NDT methodology is applied to a three-terminal TO-247, SiC MOSFET (C2M0160120D) from "Wolfspeed" whose details are provided in [105]. The application of the methodology to other TO packages is summarized at the end of the Section 3.2.1.

In the following, the config1 (given in Table 10) is considered i.e., drain connected to port 1, source connected to port 2, and gate terminal grounded. However, a comparison with the other configurations (given in Table 10) is also made. The characterization is performed under zero DC biasing (i.e., when the device is in the off state). Figure 86 presents the two-port S-parameters characterization for a discrete power device.



Figure 86: Two-port S-parameters measurement for a SiC power MOSFET

The S-parameters magnitude measured from VNA considering config1 are presented in Figure 87. When operating with zero DC bias, the graphs depicted in Figure 87 (a) & (b) demonstrate minimal transmission and significant reflection, ranging from 100 kHz to 550 MHz. These findings align with our expectations when the switch is in the "off" state. The measurements highlighting the high reflection and low transmission between the drain and source, affirm that the device is functioning as an electrical open circuit.



Figure 87: S-parameters magnitude (a) transmission (S₁₂ & S₂₁) and (b) reflection (S₁₁ & S₂₂)

The measured S-parameters are then converted into Z-parameters using conversion expressions presented in Chapter 2 (from Eq. 23 to Eq. 26). Figure 88 presents the Z-parameters converted from S-parameters. Figure 88 (a) & (c) presents the magnitude and phase of reflection coefficients ($Z_{11} \& Z_{22}$), respectively. Likewise, Figure 88 (b) & (d) presents the magnitude and phase of transmission coefficients ($Z_{12} \& Z_{21}$), respectively. All the four parameters (Z_{11}, Z_{21}, Z_{12} , and Z_{22}) exhibit the RLC behavior confirmed from phase plots with -90°, 0°, and +90° representing the capacitive, resistive, and inductive behavior respectively.



Figure 88: Z-parameters magnitude and phase of a TO-247 SiC MOSFET in a healthy state

The reflection parameters given in Figure 88 (a) & (c) presents some variations between Z_{11} and Z_{22} in magnitude and phase, meaning that the system is not symmetrical. On the other hand, the magnitude and phase graphs of Z_{21} and Z_{12} are superposed. This reveals the facts that the system respect reciprocity (i.e., Z_{21} is strictly equal to Z_{12}). Therefore, the two-port and three equivalent impedance model can be built given in Figure 89 (b).



Figure 89: Two-port equivalent model representation (a) device model (b) three impedance model

Figure 89 presents the general equivalent two-port T-network considering config1 (D-G as port 1 and S-G as port 2) like presented in [97]. Under zero DC biasing, the small signal equivalent circuit is represented as shown in Figure 90 with all parasitic resistors, inductors, and capacitors.



Figure 90: Two-port small signal equivalent circuit under zero DC biasing

The parasitic elements are identified following the assumptions. For example, from impedance plot shown in Figure 88, for the frequency below self-resonating frequency $(f_{low} < SRF)$ the plot is dominated by capacitive components. Therefore, in such case the inductor and resistor elements are neglected and Figure 90 can be simplified to Figure 91 (a) which is then converted to star connection (Figure 91 (b)).



Figure 91: Simplified two-port network at low frequency for capacitance extraction (a) Delta and (b) Star connection The complex capacitance in Delta connection is converted into Star connection following Eq. 54, Eq. 55, and Eq. 56 [97].

$$X_{C_{G}} = \frac{X_{C_{GS}} * X_{C_{GD}}}{X_{C_{GS}} + X_{C_{GD}} + X_{C_{DS}}}$$
 Eq. 54

$$X_{C_D} = \frac{X_{C_{DS}} * X_{C_{GD}}}{X_{C_{GS}} + X_{C_{GD}} + X_{C_{DS}}}$$
 Eq. 55

$$X_{C_{S}} = \frac{X_{C_{DS}} * X_{C_{GS}}}{X_{C_{GS}} + X_{C_{GD}} + X_{C_{DS}}}$$
 Eq. 56

Where, X_{C_i} (i being G, S, and D) is capacitive reactance and is expressed as $\frac{1}{j*\omega*C_i}$ in ohms. ω is the angular frequency and indeed expressed as $2*\pi*f$.

Therefore, the capacitance contribution at low frequency (in the following at 1 MHz) for the two-port network, Z-parameters are defined [97] as follows referring to the Figure 91 (b):

$$Z_{11(low)} = \frac{V_1}{I_1}|_{I_2=0} = X_{C_D} + X_{C_G}$$
 Eq. 57

$$Z_{21(low)} = \frac{V_2}{I_1}|_{I_2=0} = X_{C_G}$$
 Eq. 58

$$Z_{12(low)} = \frac{V_1}{I_2}|_{I_1=0} = X_{C_G}$$
 Eq. 59

$$Z_{22(low)} = \frac{V_2}{I_2}|_{I_1=0} = X_{C_S} + X_{C_G}$$
 Eq. 60

132

Having respected reciprocity, either considering Eq. 58 or Eq. 59 and following the extraction process explained in Section 2.7, capacitance C_G can be extracted given in Eq. 61. Likewise, Eq. 57 and Eq. 60 gives combined equivalent capacitances presented in Eq. 62 and Eq. 63. To point out, the wording "*low*" and "*high*" added to impedances and frequencies into the following the equations represent the region below and above SRF, respectively. For example, f_{low} is the frequency below SRF and $Z_{12(low)}$ is the impedance value taken at f_{low} from Z_{12} graph. The impedance value used are in ohms.

$$C_G = \frac{1}{2 * \pi * f_{low} * |Z_{12(low)}|}$$
 Eq. 61

$$\frac{C_D * C_G}{C_D + C_G} = \frac{1}{2 * \pi * f_{low} * |Z_{11(low)}|}$$
 Eq. 62

$$\frac{C_S * C_G}{C_S + C_G} = \frac{1}{2 * \pi * f_{low} * |Z_{22(low)}|}$$
 Eq. 63

The capacitances C_D and C_S can be computed by substituting C_G value in Eq. 62 and Eq. 63. Using C_D , C_G , and C_S values and solving Eq. 54, Eq. 55, and Eq. 56 the capacitances between the terminals C_{DG} , C_{GS} , and C_{DS} can be extracted.

Likewise, at self-resonating frequency (i.e., SRF) the model is simplified to Figure 92 (a). Following the resistance extraction process explained in Chapter 2, resistances R_G , and R_D , and R_S are computed from Eq. 64 to Eq. 66.



Figure 92: Simplified two-port network for (a) resistance extraction (b) Inductance extraction

$$R_G = 10^{\left(\frac{|Z_{12(low)}|}{20}\right)} \qquad Eq. \ 64$$

$$R_D + R_G = 10^{\left(\frac{|Z_{11(low)}|}{20}\right)} \qquad Eq. \ 65$$

133

$$R_S + R_G = 10^{\left(\frac{|Z_{22(low)}|}{20}\right)} \qquad Eq. \ 66$$

The terminal inductances L_G , L_D , and L_S are extracted using the self-resonating frequency expression given in Eq. 67, Eq. 68, and Eq. 69, respectively. To point out, SRF used in Eq. 67, Eq. 68, and Eq. 69 is the self-resonating frequency taken from Z_{12} , Z_{11} , and Z_{22} impedance plots respectively.

$$L_G = \frac{1}{(2 * \pi * f_{SRF})^2 * C_G}$$
 Eq. 67

$$L_D + L_G = \frac{1}{(2 * \pi * f_{SRF})^2 * \frac{C_D * C_G}{C_D + C_G}}$$
 Eq. 68

$$L_{S} + L_{G} = \frac{1}{(2 * \pi * f_{SRF})^{2} * \frac{C_{S} * C_{G}}{C_{S} + C_{G}}}$$
 Eq. 69

All the parasitic elements that are extracted following NDT methodology for a discrete power device (C2M0160120D) are listed in the following Table 11.

Parameters	NDT methodology	Datasheet	B1505A
	@ 1 V	(CV curves)	(Curve tracer)
		@ 1 V	@ 1 V
C _{GS} (pF)	552.33 @1 MHz	580 @1 MHz	547.36 @100 kHz
C _{DS} (pF)	530.58 @1 MHz	490 @1 MHz	433.1 @100 kHz
C _{GD} (pF)	229.21 @1 MHz	220 @1 MHz	233.53 @100 kHz
L _G (nH)	7.2	-	-
L _D (nH)	1.87	-	-
L _S (nH)	5.14	-	-
$R_{G}\left(\Omega ight)$	2.64	-	-
$R_{D}\left(\Omega ight)$	0.013	-	-
$R_{S}(\Omega)$	0.4	-	-

Table 11: Parasitic elements extraction comparison

Let us remark that the Table 11 compares the capacitances extracted from the NDT methodology and those taken from the datasheet at 1 MHz. The capacitances extracted from methodology are verified by comparing with datasheet values and Keysight B1505A

power device Analyzer/Curve tracer. B1505A curve tracer can accurately evaluate and characterize the power devices [106]. The usual techniques performed by this power device analyzer are electrical I-V characterization for wide-bandgap semiconductor devices and capacitance (CV) measurements at high voltages bias (3 kV). The details about the CV and I-V-measurements from B1505A are presented in Chapter 6 and Chapter 7 of [106]. Appendix 4-10 presents the CV-measurement setup of B1505A. The capacitances extracted from NDT methodology are in good agreement with the datasheet and CV measurements. Following the NDT methodology all the parasitic elements can be extracted as listed in Table 11. On the one hand, datasheet hardly provides any information about inductance and resistance and B1505A curve tracer measures only capacitance. Let us point out that the proposed NDT methodology brings added value compared to datasheet information about R_{DSon} and it can be computed from I-V characteristics of B1505A. Following the methodology, the resistance computed under zero DC biasing is the equivalent resistance.

The extracted parasitic elements are plugged into a two-port LTspice model shown in Figure 93. Thereby the LTspice simulation is compared with the experimental measurements given in Figure 94.



Figure 93: LTspice two-port electrical equivalent circuit with RLC extracted values of C2M0160120D



Figure 94: Experimental and simulation Z-parameters magnitude comparison of vertically placed TO-247 SiC MOSFET (C2M0160120D)

Figure 94 presents the four Z-parameters (magnitude), which compare the experimental and simulation curves of TO-247 SiC MOSFET (C2M0160120D). The results (Figure 94) agree from 100 kHz to 500 MHz with a difference of less than 3 dB. Likewise, Figure 95 presents the experimental and simulation comparison of Z-parameters phase.



Figure 95: Experimental and simulation Z-parameters phase comparison of vertically placed TO-247 SiC MOSFET (C2M0160120D)

The results (Figure 95) are in good agreements with any difference less than 3 deg from 100 kHz to 500 MHz for Z_{11} and Z_{22} and from 100 kHz to 200 MHz for Z_{21} and Z_{12} .

The electrical schema presented in Figure 93 can be updated by adding the SMA connectors to represent the interface (Figure 85) used to perform the two-port characterization. The updated schema and its comparison with the experimental curves are presented in Figure 96. The results are in good agreement from 100 kHz to 1 GHz with differences less than 3 dB. Besides, they also recover the resonances at high frequencies. It is interesting to highlight, the results are improved in the range of frequency from the previous case.

Chapter 3 : Application of NDT methodology for a wide frequency band characterization of power electronic assemblies (experimental and simulation analysis)



Figure 96: TO-247 SiC MOSFET (C2M0160120D) LTspice model (including SMA model) and its comparison with experimental data

Likewise, this methodology is applied to different TO packages. The experimental and LTspice simulation of three of these TO packages are presented in Appendix 4-11, Appendix 4-12, and Appendix 4-13. To point out, having added the SMA model to device model (Figure 93) recovers the resonance at high frequencies. However, to match the experimental curves the updated model still needs to be improved.

3.2.2 Improvement in measurement protocol of discrete power device

This section details the improvement made in measurement protocol. The improvement is mainly made on the interface used to perform the two-port characterization of discrete power devices. Like presented in the Figure 85, the TO package is placed vertically on to the epoxy interface by maintaining minimum length of device terminals (Appendix 4-14). It is due to the fact that having more than 1 cm of device terminal in air adds external

inductance. Though this measurement protocol is effective by providing interesting results as discussed but it suffers from certain factors:

- Firstly, having different configurations (Table 10) possible to perform two-port characterization, three interfaces (one per configuration following Table 10) need to be prepared for the characterization.
- Characterizing the same power device requires three different configurations (Table 10), each of which entails three soldering and unsoldering operations. Consequently, assuming the integrity of the power device and its interface cannot be taken for granted. Moreover, the soldering/unsoldering operations consumes a significant amount of time.
- Appendix 4-10 illustrates the capacitance characterization using B1505A curve tracer. Considering Figure 85, it implies that the device must be characterized for CV measurements priory to eliminate the extra length of terminals for VNA measurement.

Therefore, to overcome these uncertainties the interface has been updated as illustrated in Figure 97. Figure 97 is designed for TO-247 dimensions. The interface is made of three 50 Ω adapted access pad tracks on which the three terminals of the power device are placed and connected to three respective SMA connectors. A supporting box is fixed: it covers the maximum length of the device terminals and ensure the electrical connection onto the line length. The supporting box is made of Polylactic acid (PLA) and its dimensions are provided in Appendix 4-15. At the beginning of the characterization process, the power device terminals connections to the access pad tracks are checked by a DC meter measurement.



Figure 97: Epoxy interface of TO-247 package horizontally placed (a) top view, (b) bottom view, (c) interface with device, and (d) interface footprint

The two-port characterization is performed by connecting two terminals to port 1 and port 2 respectively, and the third terminal is short circuited. To be clear, for example considering config1 (refer Table 10), drain and source terminals are connected to port 1 and port 2 respectively while gate terminal is connected with a short circuit load. The measurement setup and port connection visuals are provided in Appendix 4-16. Likewise, the interface to support TO-220 dimensions is presented in Appendix 4-17.

The NDT methodology is again applied to TO-247 SiC MOSFET (C2M0160120D) now using the optimized interface given in Figure 97. From Figure 98, the results are in good agreement from 100 kHz to 200 MHz with any difference of less than 2 dB in this bandwidth.



Figure 98: Experimental and simulation comparison of horizontally placed TO-247 SiC MOSFET (C2M0160120D)

The electrical equivalent model is further updated by adding three SMA connectors. Two SMAs are used for two-port connection and the third SMA is grounded using short circuit load. The connection to the ports and grounding are based on configurations given in Table 10. The updated model and its results are presented in Figure 99. The RLC values used for the SMA1, SMA2, and SMA3 are similar and are the average values of SMA model (mentioned in Table 9). The experimental and simulation curves are in good agreement from 100 kHz to 200 MHz with any difference less than 2 dB. In addition, the updated model recovers the resonances at high frequencies. To enhance the simulation model, can imagine to formulate certain hypothesis as follows:

- The interface can be characterized and extract RLCG values when no device is connected
- Thereby an electrical equivalent circuit representing the interface can be built
- To improve the accuracy of model, the transmission lines can be split into number of cells (as described in Chapter 2 for the modelling of microstrip line)
- Finally, the device model can be added and common elements can be deduced
Chapter 3 : Application of NDT methodology for a wide frequency band characterization of power electronic assemblies (experimental and simulation analysis)



Figure 99: Epoxy interface horizontally placed device (TO-247 SiC MOSFET (C2M0160120D)) LTspice model including SMA and its comparison with experimental data

3.3 Application of NDT methodology to a ceramic substrate

This section demonstrates the application of NDT methodology to a homemade package. Firstly, it provides the details about the homemade packaging. Secondly, to understand the behavior of prototype in healthy state by applying NDT methodology. An initial study has been made on an isolated prototype made of epoxy. The two copper tracks were connected with several wire bonding. Based on that study, our prototype is a Silicon nitride (Si_3N_4) ceramic substrate, which is sometimes used as ceramic substrate in highly constrained power assemblies. More precisely, this ceramic substrate specified in previous study for an aeronautical application [107]. The prototypes base on such a ceramic are denoted for this thesis as "homemade packaging". Therefore, the detailed description about the homemade packaging and the improvements made for an accurate characterization, are presented in Section 3.3.1.. This substrate is chosen due to several reasons as follows:

- They can support the objective of this thesis
- They are readily available and in bulk
- Silicon nitride is a high-performance ceramic known for its excellent mechanical, thermal, and electrical properties. These properties make it suitable for a wide range of applications, particularly in high-temperature and high-stress environments. Therefore, this thesis aims to perform reliability study on such substrate to investigate different failure mechanisms.

3.3.1 Homemade packaging details

The homemade packaging is based on Active Metal Brazing (AMB), Silicon nitride (Si_3N_4) ceramic substrate as usually done is power electronics modules shown in Figure 100. The copper tracks are brazed onto the ceramic substrate using AMB technique which provides excellent mechanical properties and high temperature resistance. The metallization presented in Figure 100 are made of copper and covered with a thin layer of passivation gold. The thickness of ceramic substrate and metallization is 330 µm and 225 µm respectively. The dimensions of the ceramic substrate are presented in Appendix 4-18. On the top side of the substrate, 4 copper tracks numbered Track 0 to Track 2b as illustrated in Figure 100. The tracks allow the brazing of semiconductor dies, the soldering of the interconnections like bonding wires or clips. The underside features a large copper surface to dissipate the excess heat generated during switching operation. Usually, it is connected to the thermal dissipator.



Figure 100: Active Metal Brazing ceramic substrate (a) top view (b) bottom view

To support two-port VNA characterization of a ceramic substrate a specific interface made of epoxy has been developed shown in Figure 101 (a). This interface was designed for being 50 ohms adapted and using non-electromagnetic materials for mechanical supports. The dimensions of the interface are precisely detailed in Appendix 4-19.



Figure 101: (a) Epoxy interface and ceramic substrate with epoxy interface in measurement condition, top view (b), bottom view (c)

The interface contains 3 SMA connectors whose center pin (measurement pin) is connected to 50 Ω adapted tracks. The top plane of the interface and the outer part of the SMA are grounded together. In measurement condition, the ceramic substrate is connected

to the epoxy interface using plastic screws depicted in Figure 101 (b). This connection achieves the electrical connection between the interface and ceramic substrate by connecting the 50 Ω adapted tracks to its respective homemade prototype tracks (Track 1, Track 2a, and Track 2b) shown in Figure 101 (c).

Therefore, the 3 tracks denoted Track 1, Track 2a and Track 2b are connected to three SMA connectors, through the epoxy interface. Thereby, to perform a two-port characterization there exists several possible configurations detailed in the Table 12.

Parameters	Track 1	Track 2a	Track 2b	
config1	Port 1	Port 2	Short or 50 Ω load	
config2	Port 1	Short or 50 Ω load	Port 2	
config3	Short or 50 Ω load	Port 1	Port 2	

Table 12: Measurement configurations of ceramic substrate

It is noticed that Track 1, Track 2a, and Track 2b are used to perform two-port characterization while Track 0 and Track 3 are not used. To prevent any undesired electromagnetic coupling with the unused tracks, Track 0 and Track 3 are grounded as shown in Figure 102. At first, the Track 3 was connected to the outer part of SMA connectors through additional grounding wires as illustrated in Figure 102 (a). Then, Track 0 is also connected to the Track 3 through two smaller grounding wires as depicted in Figure 102 (b). The use of additional grounding wire will be later discussed.



Figure 102: Ceramic substrate with epoxy interface and grounding floating tracks in measurement condition

3.3.2 Ceramic substrate healthy state characterization

This section presents the two-port characterization of the ceramic substrate to study its behavior in healthy state. The measurement setup is detailed in Appendix 4-20. Let us consider config1 from Table 12 meaning that, port 1 and port 2 of VNA are connected to Track 1 and Track 2a, respectively, and Track 2b is grounded. As there is no connection between the two tracks the injected signal demonstrates pronounced reflection ($S_{11} \& S_{22}$) and diminished transmission ($S_{21} \& S_{12}$) as shown in Figure 103.



Figure 103: S-parameters magnitude of two-port healthy state characterization of ceramic substrate

From 100 kHz to 440 MHz, considering -3 dB reference the injected signal is highly reflected. A low transmission is noticed. Above 440 MHz (highlighted with black box), the substrate exhibit changes in behavior which can be due to other elements of the prototype. Track 2a and Track 2b have same dimensions as shown in Figure 100. Therefore, config1 and config2 exhibit almost similar behavior with a shift in first resonance and above depicted in Figure 104. The difference can be due to the track length of Track 1 involved in measuring config1 and config2. On the other hand, config3 (i.e., measurement between Track 2a and Track 2b while Track 1 is grounded) measures different behavior compared to config 1 and config2 shown in Figure 105. It is due to the fact that, config3 involves different geometry of tracks measurement compared to config1 and config2.









3.3.3 Ceramic substrate with copper tracks connected by bonding wires

Bonding wires play a crucial role in power electronic modules, facilitating electrical connection between various components such as semiconductor chips, substrates, and lead frames. Apart from electrical connections bonding wires also play important role in signal transmission, providing mechanical support to fragile semiconductors from mechanical stresses and vibrations. However, bond-wire failures are the most dominant failures in power electronic components. Therefore, is the interest of this thesis to study its behavior and detection of bond-wire related failures. This section demonstrates the two-port characterization of homemade packaging with copper tracks connected by bonding wires (in healthy state). The bonding wires used during this thesis are made of aluminum. As shown in Figure 106, Track 1 and Track 2b are connected through 4 bonding wires of 300 µm diameter each using wedge bonding technique (ultrasonic energy is used to connect the bond wires as mentioned in Chapter 1). The measurement setup to perform the twoport characterization remains similar. In the following example the config2 is analyzed. In such a case, the healthy state two-port characterization measures high transmission (S_{21} & S₁₂) and low reflection (S₁₁ & S₂₂) from 100 kHz to 100 MHz as shown in Figure 107. Some variations are observed above 100 MHz (highlighted with black box).



Figure 106: Ceramic substrate with bonding wires connected between two tracks in measurement condition



Figure 107: S-parameters magnitude of healthy state two-port characterization following config2

3.3.4 Homemade packaging with IGBT die mounted on a copper track

This section demonstrates the application of NDT methodology to homemade packaging with an IGBT die (1200 V, 25 A, part number: FGH25T120SMD) from Fairchild is brazed on one of the copper tracks. Figure 108 presents the top view of the prototype with the IGBT die mounted on to the Track 2a. The bottom view is similar to the one presented in Figure 102 (a). The technical details of the IGBT die (FGH25T120SMD) is given in [108]. Top side of the die is metallized with emitter and gate pads while the bottom side with

collector. The die is brazed on Track 2a making this track connected to the collector. Track 2b is connected to emitter of the die through 5 bonding wires. The gate pad is connected to Track 1 through 1 bonding wire. The diameter of the bonding wires is $300 \,\mu\text{m}$ and are connected using ultrasonic wedge bonding technique.



Figure 108: Homemade packaging with IGBT die mounted on Track 2a in measurement condition

Having three terminals (gate, collector, and emitter) of the die connected to Track 1, Track 2a, and Track 2b respectively, implies that there exist the three possible configurations to perform a two-port characterization as detailed in Table 13.

Parameters	Gate	Collector	Emitter		
config1	grounded	Port 2	Port 1		
config2	Port 2	grounded	Port 1		
config3	Port 2	Port 1	grounded		

Table 13: Two-port configuration of homemade packaging with IGBT die mounted on Track $2 {\rm a}$

In total 5 prototypes, namely Proto1, Proto2, Proto3, Proto4, and Proto5 were developed. They are presented in Appendix 4-21. It is noticed that Proto4 is no longer used nor presented, as it has defects. Therefore, Proto4 is eliminated for further study. Considering the config1 from Table 13, the healthy state two-port characterizations of Proto1 (under zero DC biasing, meaning $V_{GS} = 0$ V) are presented in Figure 109.



Figure 109: Proto1 S-parameters magnitude healthy state characterization following config1

As the characterization is performed between collector and emitter while the gate is grounded, high reflection and low transmission is expected. It is recovered in the frequency bandwidth (100 kHz to 120 MHz) as demonstrated in Figure 109. Likewise, Figure 110 and Figure 111 present the reflection coefficients magnitude following config2 and config3, respectively.



Figure 110: Proto1 Reflection parameters magnitude healthy state characterization following config2



Figure 111: Proto1 Reflection parameters magnitude healthy state characterization following config3

Considering -3 dB reference, config2 recovers reflection from 100 kHz to 500 MHz while config3 recovers from 100 kHz to 100 MHz. In both the configurations (config2 and config3), it doesn't recover full reflection as difference in magnitude is observed in the mentioned bandwidth.

Likewise, two-port characterization performed on Proto2, Proto3, and Proto5 recovered dominant reflection behavior and minimal transmission. Once having S-parameters measured and analyzed for 4 samples (Proto1, Proto2, Proto3, and Proto5) they are converted into Z-parameters using conversion expression. The converted Z-parameters for 4 samples provide RLC behavior. Thereby, following parasitic elements extraction process, RLC elements for respective samples are extracted. In order to compare capacitance values, the CV measurements are performed using B1505A curve tracer for every sample. Let us remark that a specific interface is used to support the homemade packaging to perform CV measurements. The measurement setup, the interface details and description are provided in Appendix 4-22. The average capacitance values extracted from the NDT methodology (at 1 MHz) are compared to the datasheet values (at 1 MHz) and to the CV measurements from B1505A (at 100 kHz). The comparison is done in Figure 112. The indicator denoted "Error1 %" is calculated between datasheet values and averages capacitance values (B1505A and NDT methodology). The values obtained from methodology shows good agreement with data sheet values recording lowest error percentage of 0.28% (Coes) and highest of 21.12% (Cres). The indicator denoted "Error2 %" is calculated between average capacitance value of B1505A and NDT methodology. The results present lowest error percentage of 8% (Cies) and highest of 19% (Coes). This difference could be due to the fact that the capacitance is measured at 100 kHz with B1505A curve tracer, while the methodology extracts capacitance at 1 MHz.



Figure 112: Comparison of capacitances extracted from methodology to the datasheet and CV measurements from B1505A curve tracer

For the electrical equivalent circuit, the device model presented in Figure 93 is adapted and updated with IGBT terminology as presented in Figure 113. The values used here are the average values of RLC extracted from NDT methodology. More precisely, for example, R_{g1} used here is the average of R_g extracted from (Proto1, Proto2, Proto3, and Proto4). Thereby, the LTspice simulation is compared with the experimental data as shown in Figure 114.



Figure 113: LTspice two-port electrical equivalent circuit (GCOM) with RLC extracted values of IGBT die (FGH25T120SMD)



Figure 114: Experimental and LTspice comparison of healthy state homemade packaging with IGBT die following config1

For config2 and config3, the comparison is presented in Appendix 4-23. As presented in Figure 114, the simulation results are in good agreement from 100 kHz to 100 MHz for all possible configurations (listed in Table 13) with <1% of error. It is possible that the impact of die is dominant in this bandwidth (100 kHz – 100 MHz) which is recovered using the device model. The other elements of the prototype can have a significant impact above 100 MHz which are not included in the electrical equivalent model. The other elements include copper tracks, bonding wires, epoxy interface. Therefore, the electrical

equivalent circuit can be improved by considering every element of the DUT involved in measurement.

3.3.5 Characterization of a ceramic substrate with IGBT die and bond wires by polarizing the die

In contrast to RF applications, power electronics transistors necessitate characterization under high voltage and current conditions. To assess the S-parameters of these transistors at various bias voltages, specialized devices known as « Bias Tee » are developed. These devices facilitate the coupling of DC bias signals with high-frequency signals sourced from the VNA [109]. The equivalent circuit of a bias tee device is given in Figure 115.



Figure 115: Equivalent circuit of a bias tee

A bias tee is a three-port network made of inductor and capacitor. The C_{bias} capacitor allows high-frequency signals to flow and blocks DC signals. Conversely, the L_{bias} inductor allows the DC signal to circulate, blocking the high frequency part of this signal. Capacitor C_{dec} is used to decouple the DC supply to the tee.

This part of the thesis explains the design of our own bias tee to polarize the DUT. The bias tee design is adapted to our application requirements. The process to design bias tee explained in [110] is followed. One of the most important factors to be considered while designing a bias tee, is the operating bandwidth. In our case, the interested bandwidth is from 100 kHz to 3GHz. However, it is difficult to achieve bias tee design for such a huge bandwidth. Therefore, the bandwidth is compromised to 100 MHz to 1.5 GHz. In order to detect failures that appear close to 1 GHz such as bond wire lift-off. The required passive elements are chosen accordingly. The WE-SD inductor, manufactured by Wurth Electronics, was chosen and its details are given in Table 14. Additionally, its equivalent

schematic, sourced from the manufacturer's data is used. The equivalent impedance is made of parallels parasitic capacitance (C_{Lbias}) and resistance (R_{Lbias}), as depicted in Figure 116.

Parameters	Value	Unit
Inductor	6 (±25% tolerance)	uH
Rated current	2.5	А
Self-Resonant Frequency	140	MHz

Table 14: Specifications of the Inductor from Wurth Electronics



Figure 116: (a) Inductor used in bias tee (b) Electrical equivalent model of the inductance

After selecting the inductor, the C_{bias} capacitor is then determined in a manner that ensures the characteristic impedance of the Z_{bias} tee is precisely 50 Ω . The value of the capacitor can be derived using the relationship defined in [110].

$$C_{bias} = \frac{L_{bias}}{Z_{bias}^2} = 2.4 \ nF$$
 Eq. 70

The C3216C0G2J222K115AA, a ceramic capacitor manufactured by TDK, is chosen. The capacitor details and its corresponding equivalent circuit with series parasitic inductance and resistance is presented in Table 15 and Figure 117.

Parameters	Value	Unit
Capacitor	2.2 (±25% tolerance)	nF
Rated voltage (DC)	630	V
Self-Resonant Frequency	90	MHz

Table 15: Specifications of the ceramic capacitor from TDK



Figure 117: (a) Ceramic capacitor (b) Electrical equivalent model of the capacitor

To decouple the DC supply within the frequency range of 100 MHz to 1.5 GHz, a ceramic capacitor of 1 nF with its series connected parasitic inductance of 1.12 nH and resistance of 60 m Ω are employed. Before proceeding with the device implementation, an initial validation step is conducted using ADS circuit simulation diagram depicted in Figure 118.



Figure 118: ADS circuit simulation of an electrical equivalent modelled of the bias tee designed

This validation entails performing an S-parameters simulation between the RF input and RF+DC output of the bias tee circuit simulation. The outcome, represented by the S_{21} magnitude is displayed in Figure 119 (a). The bandwidth suitable for S-parameters measurement is insured. This theoretical bandwidth ranges from 1.7 MHz to 4.26 GHz, comfortably encompassing the intended frequency range of 100 MHz to 1.5 GHz for S-parameters measurement. In addition, the simulation performed between RF input and DC output defines the bandwidth related to the isolation between RF and DC. Figure 119 (b) determines the isolation bandwidth of 6 MHz to 1.8 GHz between RF and DC signal.



Figure 119: S-parameters magnitude measurement between (a) RF and RF+DC (b) RF and DC

Figure 120 (a) is the CAD PCB design layout of a bias tee. The S-parameters measurements are performed on Figure 120 (b) between RF input and RF + DC output by connecting DC connection to 50 Ω load, to validate the design.



Figure 120: Bias tee PCB design (a) ADS design (b) bias tee realization

In fact, four bias tees shown in Figure 120 (b) are developed concerning the application requirement. S-parameters measurement of four individual bias tees between RF input and RF + DC output are presented in Figure 121. Considering the standard reference of -3 dB, the lower cut-off frequency achieved is 1.25 MHz and the higher cut-off frequency is 1.52 GHz for the transmission between RF and RF + DC. For the isolation between RF and DC a bandwidth of 1.48 MHz to 800 MHz is achieved considering -20 dB reference. All the four bias tees present similar characteristics.



Figure 121: S-parameters measurement between (RF and RF + DC) in S_{12} and (RF and DC) in S_{11}

In this section, a bias tee with a bandwidth that encompasses the desired characterization frequency range, spanning from 1.25 MHz to 1.52 GHz is developed. The completed system allows to bias power device.

3.3.5.1 Experimental setup

This section describes the test plan considering the equivalent circuit given in Figure 122. The idea is to see if the polarization of the die brings some new results. The main use of the bias-tee is to isolate the DC and RF side to avoid any damage to VNA and DC supply. Considering a three terminal IGBT given in Figure 122, each terminal is connected to the RF + DC side of respective bias – tee. V_{com} is used to bias the gate of the IGBT, which is connected to gate and emitter through bias – tee 1 and 2. Port G and port E provide port connections to the VNA. R_{load} is placed between DC port of bias-tee 3 and positive pole of V_{dc} . The other end of the V_{dc} is connected to DC port of bias – tee 2 to close the circuit. The R_{load} allows to vary the applied current. Likewise, port C provides the port connection of collector with the VNA. To point out, the setup is ensured with proper grounding and appropriate shielding to minimize noise.



Figure 122: Test setup equivalent circuit with bias-tee to polarize the IGBT die

Before performing the measurements, a prior calibration (SOLT) is performed including 2 bias – tees in series. So, it is important to consider this impact on the measurement bandwidth. To answer, a characterization of 2 bias – tees connected in series has been done and the results are presented in Figure 123. The new reduced bandwidth is from 3.08 MHz to 1GHz for the transmission between RF and RF + DC. For the isolation between RF and DC a bandwidth of 5 MHz to 500 MHz is achieved considering -20 dB reference. Therefore, the next outcomes will be presented according to the new reduced bandwidth.



Figure 123: Characterization of 2 bias - tees in series

The interesting configuration to measure would be connecting port C and port E to the VNA port 1 and Port 2 respectively, while port G is left floating or connected to 50 Ohmload. Figure 124 presents the experimental setup inspired from the equivalent circuit presented in Figure 122.



Figure 124: Experimental setup to polarize the IGBT die mounted on ceramic substrate

Following the measurement on healthy prototype, the gate is biased by applying 15 V between gate and emitter (V_{com}) which is greater than the threshold voltage. V_{dc} voltage 159

of 15 V is applied and measurements are carried for two different currents (100 mA and 2 A). Figure 125, illustrates the S_{11} and S_{21} measurement of a ceramic substrate with IGBT die polarized in a healthy mode by connecting port 1 to port C and port 2 to port E. On the whole bandwidth, there is no huge difference between the measurements following 100 mA and 2A.



Figure 125: S_{11} and S_{21} measurement between collector and emitter of ceramic substrate with IGBT die in healthy mode in bandwidth (3 MHz – 1 GHz)

3.4 Homemade packaging design and simulation on ADS software

This section demonstrates the design and simulation of ceramic substrate using ADS software. As presented in Section 2.8.2 performing ADS simulation on microstrip line, the process is now followed to design and simulate homemade packaging. As this package contains two individual parts (i.e., AMB ceramic substrate plus an epoxy interface for characterization) it adds difficulty. Therefore, epoxy interface and ceramic substrate are designed separately following the process (as described in Section 2.8.2). Details are provided in Appendix 4-24 and Appendix 4-25 for epoxy interface and ceramic substrate, respectively. The interesting point in this 3D designing process is that at every stage the model can be simulated. Finally, using the individual design of epoxy interface and ceramic substrate the overall module is built shown in Figure 126 (a) and (b). The 3D simulation is compared with the experimental data as depicted in Figure 127.



Figure 126: Ceramic substrate with epoxy interface (a) Visualization in layout, and (b) 3D environment



Figure 127: Comparison of experimental and ADS 3D simulation results of ceramic substrate following config3

The results are quite interesting. Effectively, the resonance frequencies are recovered in the bandwidth of 100 kHz to 1 GHz with any difference less than 3 dB. Some variations are observed above 1 GHz. Let us remind that, the SMA model is still not considered in this simulation. It can be assumed that, the SMA model combined with the other elements of the prototype have an impact above 1 GHz.

3.5 Conclusion

This Chapter demonstrated the application of NDT methodology to power assemblies in healthy state. It allowed us to study the behavior of assemblies in healthy state. The methodology applied to discrete packages result in good agreement between experimental and LTspice simulation in frequency bandwidth of 100 kHz to at least 100 MHz following the packaging. The parasitic elements extraction of discrete package is detailed which

adds some additional steps having three terminal connections. The RLCG elements extracted from methodology are compared with datasheet and CV measurements from B1505A curve tracer. B1505A measures only the capacitances and datasheets hardly provide complete data about the parasitic elements while the proposed methodology is able to extract all the elements. This is the innovative and added value of the proposed NDT method. An interface has been developed to support the two-port characterization of discrete devices which ease and save the measurement time.

The methodology is than applied to Si_3N_4 AMB ceramic substrate which was developed for an aeronautical application and is supported to achieve the objectives of this thesis. To support the characterization of this package with VNA an epoxy interface has been developed. The copper tracks brazed on the ceramic substrate allows to integrate semiconductor chips and to form connections with the other tracks through bond wires which is common phenomenon in power electronic modules. This prototype is close representative of power module. In addition, the design and simulation of ceramic substrate using ADS software are presented. ADS tool recovered some excellent results in designing and simulating the ceramic substrate.

Chapter 4 :

Application of NDT methodology to identify

failure induced manually or by accelerated aging

tests

4.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the identification of failure using NDT methodology. The failure can be obtained in different ways like through aging tests or can be done manually. Let us remark that this chapter is not a reliability analysis of devices. The accelerated aging tests are just used as a tool to induce failure modes in power assemblies. However, for each aging tests a brief description will be provided. The accelerated aging test used in power electronics are the Passive cycling test, commonly known as Temperature Cycling Test (TCT) and Active Power Cycling (APC) simply called as Power Cycling (PC). In the following, these two aging tests plus manual test are performed to accelerated aging of power assemblies. The two power assemblies that are studied in the following are discrete power devices (TO packages) and a homemade power assembly, based on a Si₃N₄ ceramic substrate whose details are provided in Section 3.3.1. During several aging campaigns, a huge amount of data was produced. To give an idea about the different sections that are going to be addressed a summary is presented in Table 16. This table summarizes the different tests conducted on different power assemblies. Each failure mechanisms observed is also reported.

Device under test	TCT	APC	Manual
Substrate	No failure detected but robustness of the measurements is addressed		
Substrate + bond wires			Bond wire failure
Substrate + IGBT + bond wires			Bond wire failure
Substrate + IGBT (polarize) + bond wires			Bond wire failure
TO packages		Bond wire failure	
TO packages	Bond wire failure		
Substrate + clips	Brazing failure		

Table 16: Summary table of different tests and failure observed

In such a context, this chapter is organized as follows: firstly, to present accelerated aging test describing the objectives, the test benches, the working principles, etc., Secondly, the 164

application and analysis of failure detection using NDT methodology are illustrated. Similar failure mechanisms are grouped together which allow us to conclude on different aspects following different test. Following the sequence of Table 16, wire bonding liftoff will be first present and then aging of brazing.

4.2 General tips on accelerated aging tests

Accelerated aging tests are widely adopted to evaluate electronic components' reliability. Power electronic components are expected to provide longer service life, including working in harsh environments, continuous switching, and instant load variations. Every component experience aging in regular life however this aging process is slow. Therefore, to accelerate the aging process the aging tests are conducted. The usual aging tests practices in power electronics include passive and active cycling tests. Both tests are crucial for assessing the reliability, durability, and performance of power electronics components and systems. When evaluating the reliability of power electronics packaging, it is essential to encompass factors beyond environmental hazards. In reality, the chip's functioning can contribute to the deterioration of the packaging. This thesis focuses more on failure identification related to device packaging such as bond wire and solider fatigue related failures. The devices are exposed to change of temperature by maintaining the required temperature difference to stress the components. The temperature difference is set based on aeronautical norms. Different types of accelerated tests exist to match several stresses distinguishing the passive and active types mentioned in [111].

4.3 Selected aging tests

During this thesis three type of aging tests: Active Power Cycling (APC), Temperature Cycling Test (TCT), and manual aging test are performed on power electronic assemblies. All tests were achieved onto the PRIMES Platform.

Active Power Cycling (APC) distinguishes itself from TCT test by its heat source. In APC, the chip serves as an internal source (active), while in TCT, the environment provides the heat source (passive). Consequently, the temperature distribution within the tested device differs: APC yields a non-uniform temperature distribution, whereas, TCT maintains a uniform module temperature. Additionally, cycle times for APC are typically ten to a hundred times shorter (ranging from 0.2 seconds to 1 minute) compared to TCT (ranging from 15 minutes to 1 hour). A brief description of each of these tests is presented in the following.

4.3.1 Temperature Cycling Test (TCT)

Temperature Cycling Test (TCT) in power electronics typically involve subjecting components or devices to several cycles between different operational conditions (such as temperature). The failure mechanisms observed in this test are linked to failure modes such as open circuits resulting from the thermomechanical fatigue. The primary aim of this test is to assess the solder interfaces' fatigue life connecting the semiconductor chips, substrates, and baseplates [112]. This goal is accomplished by fixing the device under test onto a plate that undergoes external heating and cooling to replicate the cycling conditions. This test is performed using Climatic Temperature System (CTS) or thermal shock which consists of climatic chamber, where the DUTs are placed inside the test chambers to expose to rapid temperature changes. Typical environmental conditions that DUT can be exposed in climatic chamber include extreme temperatures, sudden and extreme temperature variations, moisture or relative humidity and more. In the following, solely the temperature is changed. Figure 128 presents details of the Climatic Temperature System (CTS) [113] used during this thesis. Usually, the distribution of temperature in the climatic chamber is almost uniform. The cycle scheduled must insure the uniform temperature assumption for DUT.

СТЯ	1	
		~

Climatic Temperature System (CTS)						
Temperature range (°C)	-70 /+180					
Temp. change rate cooling (K/min)	5, 10, 15					
Temp. change rate heating ((K/min)	5, 10, 15					
Temperature fluctuation (K)	≤±0.3					
CID software	Programming and documentation					

Figure 128: Climatic Temperature System details [113]

Figure 129 provides the temperature profile of 1 cycle used for passive cycles on CTS. One cycle is programmed for an hour with extreme temperatures (-70 °C and +180 °C) and slope rate of 12.5 °C/min. The cycles are related to the IEC 60068-3-5 norm.

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests



Figure 129: Temperature cycle as a function of time

The temperature profile presented in Figure 129 is the default profile that is used for TCT test during this thesis until any changes are mentioned. The actual temperature variation in climatic chamber is monitored using thermocouple of type K (withstand up to 400 $^{\circ}$ C) along with Graphtec (data logger, GL220). One end of the thermocouple is placed inside the climatic chamber and the other end is connected to the data logger to monitor the temperature inside the chamber. The comparison of the set and actual temperature is provided in Figure 129, which are very close to each other. It is noted that the steady state is reached and an error is made during the transient state.

4.3.2 Active Power Cycling (APC)

Accelerated active cycling tests which also known as Active Power Cycling (APC) tests are the other crucial aging tests in power electronics to determine the reliability and lifetime of the components.

APC testing simulate accelerated aging. The cycles applied consist of a heating phase (T_{on}) induced by a controlled power current (I_{cst}) circulating within the module, as illustrated in Figure 130. The chip, experience a rise in its junction temperature, referred to as T_j Within each cycle, a distinction is drawn between the peak temperature (T_{jmax}) , and the lowest temperature (T_{jmin}) reached. Due to their minimal thermal inertia, the chips promptly reach T_{jmax} at the end of heating phase. Subsequently, a cooling phase (T_{off}) allows the chips to attain T_{jmin} . During cooling phase, the test bench records a

thermosensitive parameter. These parameters include on-voltage drop (V_{on}) at the applied heating current (which can also be referred as on-state drain-source voltage (V_{DS_ON}) while operating in transistor mode, forward voltage (V_F) in diode mode), I_{cvcle} (heating current), P (heating power), $T_{i(hot)}$ (maximum junction temperature), $T_{i(cold)}$ (minimum junction temperature), ΔT_i (junction temperature change), and more. The test bench records complete thermal transients at predefined intervals. If any monitored parameter surpasses the predefined limit, the system automatically stops, necessitating the deactivation of the effected device, after which the cycling process can be continued with the remaining devices. These recorded parameters can act as indicators to state the failure occurrence. If the values of these parameters exceed a predetermined threshold (e.g., 20% increase), it's the end of the life criteria for the components [114]. The usual failure mechanisms that are observed from these tests are bond wire related failures, and solder fatigue. The failure mechanisms can be targeted by setting the cycle times depending on the characteristics of DUT. Usually, bond wire failures are encountered by setting shorter time cycles (seconds) and higher time cycles for solder fatigue (minutes) which corresponds to thermal time constant.



Figure 130: Typical thermal profile of power cycles [115]

The test bench that is used to perform APC is Mentor Graphics (MicReD Industrial, 1500A Power Tester [116]) given in Figure 131. This test bench enables testing of multiple devices by providing 3 testing channels with rating of 500 A and 12 V per channel.

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests



Figure 131: Mentor Graphics (MicReD Industrial, 1500A Power Tester)

4.3.3 Manual aging test

This process involves physically removing the wire bonds. This test needs a bit of attention, especially when performing this action on a cluster of closely interconnected bond wires in parallel, as errors may occur. To mitigate this, a fine-tip wire cutter can be employed to individually lift-off a particular bond wire without the need for excessive force.

4.4 Reliability of the measurement process

This section demonstrates the robustness of the measurement process all along the aging process. The measurement process remains similar for TCT, APC and manual. In the following section the case study is the TCT aging of the ceramic substrate. The aging and characterization algorithm illustrated in the following was applied on ceramic substrate for over 8 months. Additionally, a discussion is provided to present the measurement constraints due to grounding techniques and the needed improvements in the measurement protocols. Let us note that the ceramic substrates do not embed any interconnects.



Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

Figure 132: Aging and characterization algorithm

Figure 132 illustrates the process combining health characterization and accelerated aging of the component under test. The aging test, characterization, and its comparison with the reference measurement are repetitive process until failure of the component under test is detected. When this occurrence is reached, the process ends i.e., peculiar behavior of aged components compared to the reference measurement. In this case, it can be modification in impedance magnitude or resonance frequency.

Considering this first aging test, 10 ceramic substrates are chosen to perform passive cycles. It is expected to see degradation of interface between metallic parts and the ceramic substrate, as well as possible crack formations. Figure 133 presents different steps involved in aging and the characterization process.

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests



Figure 133: (a) VNA characterization process, (b) DUT in climatic chamber, and (c) Temperature monitoring

Figure 133 (a) presents the two-port VNA characterization. Figure 133 (b) illustrates the placement of DUT in CTS chamber. Figure 133 (c) presents the comparison of set temperature to the actual temperature inside the CTS chamber and temperature experienced by DUT. An initial broadband characterization to measure S-parameters from VNA (Figure 133 (a)) are performed on 10 healthy prototypes. This measurement provides a reference for the subsequent characterizations. To point out, the VNA characterization of ceramic substrate is supported by the epoxy interface (detailed in Section 3.3.1). However, these interfaces are not included in aging process. The ceramic substrate is connected with the grounding wires to connect unused tracks to the ground (detailed in Section 3.3.1). The ceramic substrates with grounding wires are then placed into climatic chamber using Kapton tape (Polyimide film, Hi-Bond HB830) given in Figure 133 (b). The Kapton tape provides good insulation with withstanding temperature of 250 °C. The prototypes are numbered from 1 to 10 from left to right in ascending order for identification. Thereby, the CTS is programmed to obtain required number of passive cycles with the temperature variation from -70°C to 180°C as provided in Figure 129. The substrate temperature is monitored by placing type K thermocouple onto one of the copper tracks of the substrate and connecting the thermocouple to the data logger. 10 prototypes are divided into two series: series 1 has prototype 1 and 2, while series 2 is from prototype 3 to 10. The only difference between series 1 and series 2 is that series 1 prototypes are 144 cycles ahead of series 2 prototypes. This division of prototypes into two series is with an intention to see an intermediate failure (e.g., propagation of cracks).

The aging cycles are set for a week or 15 days following the availability of the CTS machine, and characterization schedule. The characterization is performed at the end of each set of cycles that are planned. The S-parameters (from VNA) are analyzed to verify the impact of aging tests compared with reference measurements.

4.4.1 Measurement constraints

After 318 cycles, a shift in resonance frequency is observed on prototype 1 and 4 from series 1 and series 2 respectively. Figure 134 presents the S-parameters magnitude at 0 cycles and 318 cycles of prototype 1 following config1 (Section 3.3.1). The shift in frequency resonance is highlighted with blue box. The results are better analyzed using reflection coefficients (S_{11} and S_{22}) which are expected to show complete reflection of injected.



Figure 134: S-parameters magnitude at 0 cycle and 318 cycles of prototype 1 following config1

The very first question to be asked is, this shift in frequency is due to failure occurrence? If so, is it not too early to detect the failure at such early number of aging cycles according 172 to the literature study [117]. Indeed, [117] presents the thermal shock and Scanning Acoustic Microscopy (SAM) results comparing substrate technology with number of aging cycles. This paper reveals the reliability check of Si_3N_4 ceramic substrate following Active Metal Brazing (AMB) technology over number of thermal cycles. Si_3N_4 shows effective performance over 8500 thermal cycles compared with the other substrate technologies presented in Figure 135. In our case, the applied aging test is less stressful than thermal shock but a change appears. So, it seems to be not a real failure.



Figure 135: SAM evaluations of various Metal Ceramic Substrates (MCS) types after thermal cycling [117]

To make a deeper analysis, S-parameters presented in Figure 134 are converted into Zparameters given in Figure 136.



Figure 136: Z-parameters magnitude at 0 cycle and 318 cycles of prototype 1 following config1

The Z-parameters reveal identical capacitive behavior. As a matter of fact, the shift in the resonance frequencies results of a different inductive behavior. It is highlighted with a black box. Therefore, the impact might be related to the aging of element which exhibit inductive and resistive behavior. The most inductive elements of the prototype are the grounding wires. To confirm this hypothesis, at the end of 405 cycles the aged grounding wires are replaced by new ones with identical electrical and geometrical characteristics. Let us remark that, the difference in the number of cycles (318 and 405) can be explained by the fact that the aging stage lasts several days, whereas the characterization stage lasts few hours. As a result, as soon as characterization is complete, the substrates are again subjected to aging, and data processing is then carried out. This explains why the failure of grounding wires is identified at 318 cycles, but were only able to change the wires at 405 cycles. Then, the aging test is relaunched and continued until 405 cycles. The characterizing curves after 405 cycles shift back to the initial measurement curves (0 cycle measurement) as shown in Figure 137. The comparison of Z-parameters is also presented Figure 138 which establish the similar results.



Figure 137: S-parameters magnitude at 0 cycle, 318, and 405 cycles of prototype 1 following config1

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests



Figure 138: Z-parameters magnitude at 0 cycle, 318, and 405 cycles of prototype 1 following config1

It is interesting to point out that, the other configurations reached the same conclusions (Appendix 4-26 and Appendix 4-27). Following these measurements (reference, failure after 318 aging cycles, and after 405 cycles with renewed grounding wires) an impedance extraction was carried out and is presented in Table 17. The impedance characterization uses the methodology described in previous Chapter.

DUT	R ₁₁ (Ω)	R ₁₂ (Ω)	R ₂₂ (Ω)	L ₁₁ (nH)	L ₁₂ (nH)	L ₂₂ (nH)	C ₁₁ (nF)	C ₁₂ (nF)	C ₂₂ (nF)	G ₁₁ (µS)	G ₁₂ (µS)	G ₂₂ (µS)
Healthy (0 cycle)	0.12	0.03	4.6	4.53	4.72	12.63	58.47	3854	9.2	45.11	45.94	44.73
Faulty (318 cycles)	1.06	0.04	7.81	6.37	8.18	31.32	59	4513	10.18	0.908	1.04	0.169
Renewed (405 cycles)	0.68	0.03	8.1	4.8	4.5	11.94	57.85	4321	10.42	0.276	0.354	0.301

Table 17: RLCG parameters extracted from measurements for healthy, faulty, and renewal of grounding wires

The values obtained confirm a slight change in capacitance, but a clear increase in the inductance of the device under test. Furthermore, due to the dimensions and geometry of the substrate tracks, their equivalent impedance is capacitive in nature. In contrast, the impedance of the brazed grounding wires is essentially inductive. As far as conductance variations are concerned, it should be noted that between healthy, faulty and renewed the variations are important. It is assumed that conductance change is not directly related to

the aging of the grounding wires. Furthermore, the device under test involves different materials (copper and grounding wire insulation, solder and probably few flux droplets, substrate materials), making it difficult to analyze certain phenomenon in detail.

4.4.2 *Optimization of the measurement protocols*

Though the grounding technique using grounding wires is effective but experience constraints when performing aging tests. Therefore, a new specific 3D interface has been designed to ground the floating tracks. It is presented in Figure 139 (a). The 3D interface, made of polyamide material, has been realized in additive manufacturing. The dimensions of the 3D interface are given in Appendix 4-28.



Figure 139: 3D interface to ground floating tracks (a) 3D interface (b) in measurement condition

When the prototype is inserted into the 3D interface, the forks, made of copper tape, present on the rear part of the 3D interface allow to connect the two floating tracks to the same potential. As for the two lateral grooves, they establish the electrical connection between the floating tracks and the ground plane present onto the top side of the epoxy interface. It is depicted in Figure 139 (b). Let us remark that the 3D and epoxy interfaces are only used during the characterization process. Let us insist on that the grounding is always verified earlier to any VNA measurement using DC meter.

A comparison of characterization curves following both the grounding techniques is presented in Figure 140. Analysis of the amplitude of the reflection coefficient (S_{11}) shows that, for frequencies above a few hundred megahertz, the 3D interface is much more efficient than simple brazed wires. Shift in resonance to higher frequencies is seen on transmission coefficient (S_{12}). Furthermore, analysis of the amplitude of Z-parameters illustrated in Figure 140 (c & d) indicates that the main differentiation between the two technical solutions lies in the inductive nature of the solution.



Figure 140: S and Z parameters magnitude comparing the grounding technique

Therefore, the 3D interface is used for the next analyses. This result is published and presented in [118]. One important point to be noted here is that, the constraint on measurement due to grounding technique raised only from aging otherwise both the techniques are effective. Therefore, in the further analysis, any of the grounding technique can be used if there are no constraints. Let us remark that, if one of these grounding techniques is adopted to perform test, it will be followed until the end of the aging campaign of this particular test.

Parameters	Series 1	Series 2		
No. of prototypes	2	8		
Temperature variation (°C)	-70/+180	-70/+180		
No. of cycles	3338	3194		
Aging period (months)	8	8		
Characterization	Every 10 days	Every 10 days		
Type of characterization	VNA	VNA		

Table 18: Summary table of passive cycling test on homemade packaging with no interconnects
Table 18 summarize the aging test and the characterization performed on ceramic substrates. Considering the measurement improvements, the aging has been continued for 8 months reaching 3338 cycles for series 1 prototypes and 3194 cycles for series 2. The comparison of VNA characterization for different aging cycles including the latest aging cycle is presented in Figure 141.



Figure 141: S-parameters magnitude of successive aging cycles from 1034 cycles to 3338 cycles of prototype 1 following config1

The comparison of VNA characterization for different cycles reveal similar behavior by superposing the curves shown in Figure 141. It is noted that no failure was identified. The comparison of Z-parameters is presented in Figure 142, which reach the same conclusions.

100 120 80 **222 Magnitude (dBΩ)** 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Z11 Magnitude (dBΩ) 60 40 1034_Cycles 1250_Cycles 1682_Cycles 2042_Cycles 2402_Cycles 2402_Cycles 1034_Cycles 1250_Cycles 1682_Cycles 2042_Cycles 20 20 0 2402_Cycles 2810_Cycles 3338_Cycles 2810_Cycles -20 3338_Cycles -20 -40 10⁹ 10⁶ 10 10⁸ 10⁶ 107 10⁸ 10⁹ 10^⁵ 10 Frequency (Hz) Frequency (Hz) 60 60 Z12 Magnitude (dBΩ) Magnitude (dBΩ) 40 40 20 20 1034_Cycles 1250_Cycles 1682_Cycles 2042_Cycles 2402_Cycles 2810_Cycles 2328_Cycles 1034_Cycles 1250_Cycles 1682_Cycles 2042_Cycles 0 0 2402_Cycles 2810_Cycles 3338_Cycles -20 Z21 -20 3338 Cycles -40 -40 10⁶ 10⁸ 10[°] 10⁶ 10⁸ 10⁹ 10^⁵ 10⁷ 107 10 Frequency (Hz) Frequency (Hz)

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

Figure 142: Z-parameters magnitude of successive aging cycles from 1034 cycles to 3338 cycles of prototype 1 following config1

All the 10 prototypes provide similar characterization curves as no failure was detected. For example, Figure 143 presents the comparison of S parameters magnitude for all 10 prototypes considering the latest aging cycle (3338 cycles for series 1 and 3194 cycles for series 2) following config1. This results again proves the robustness of the measurements and confirms no huge changes observed on all the 10 prototypes until the latest aging cycles.



Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

Figure 143: S-parameters magnitude of series 1 (3338 cycles) and series 2 (3194 cycles) prototypes following config1

The Temperature Cycling Test (TCT) on ceramic substrate on 10 samples has been carried out for 8 months. Considering the reliability of Si_3N_4 ceramic substrate as mentioned in [117], no failure has been detected covering 3338 passive temperature cycles. The characterization results of this campaign demonstrate the robustness of the measurements. To add, a systematic procedure has been followed considering improvements made from beginning to the end of process.

4.5 Bond wire failure analysis following NDT methodology

As presented in Chapter 1, bond wire lift-off is one of the most important failure in power devices. This section aims to illustrate the bond wire failure analysis using the newly developed NDT methodology. The bond wire failure is induced in three different ways: By manual cut off (Section 4.5.1, 4.5.2 and 4.5.3), by APC test (Section 4.5.4), and by TCT (Section 4.5.5). The analysis is carried out following the hypothesis « Occurrence of failure changes the electrical impedance »

4.5.1 Ceramic substrate with bond wires between Track 1 and Track 2b

This section presents the two-port characterization of ceramic substrate with bond wires by inducing the bond wire lift-off manually. The bond wire lift-off is done on the tail of the bond wires (from left to right) connected to Track 1 side. Figure 144 illustrates the healthy state of ceramic substrate with bond wires and indicates the direction of manual lift-off action (black arrow).



Figure 144: Ceramic substrate with bonding wires in measurement condition indicating the direction of manual lift-off of bond wire

The characterization process is as follows:

- Firstly, the VNA is calibrated and healthy state characterization is performed to measure S-parameters (i.e., when 4 bond wires are all connected) as illustrated in curve 4BW_T1&2b
- 1 bond wire is lifted-off manually to plot curve 4(-1)BW_T1&2b
- Two-port characterization using VNA to measure S-parameters
- Then after the second bond wire is lifted-off curve 4(-2)BW_T1&2b. Then the two-port characterization is achieved. Etc. This process is successively done until 3 bond wires are lifted-off and 1 bond wire remains connected curve 4(-3)BW_T1&2b.

Once the process is done, the measured S-parameters following the four successive measurements are compared, as provided in Figure 145.

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests



Figure 145: S-parameters magnitude following state of health of bond wire connected between Track 1 and Track 2b

Figure 145 is annotated with black circle, to point-out the noticeable changes of the curves following the state of the health of bond wires. At such resonant frequencies, a significant reduction in magnitude and an eventually shift in frequency is observed following successive measurements. Specially, the changes are pronounced in transmission coefficients. In addition, for the reflection coefficients increase in magnitude is noticed at low frequency and annotated with black arrow in Figure 145 (a & d). Though this change in magnitude is interesting to point out, it appeared for the first time after 3 bond wires lift-off. So, it could not be a good failure indicator. Whereas, the changes marked in black circle provide information for every step of the bond wire lift-off. Therefore, it is interesting to explore the results at high frequency. For the analysis of the results, the transmission parameters (S₂₁ or S₁₂) appear to be more representative. Indeed, some variations are observed above 500 MHz specifically, in the bandwidth of 700 MHz to 1.2 GHz. The zoom view of the curves is presented in Figure 146.

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests



Figure 146: S-parameters magnitude following state of health of bond wire connected between Track 1 and Track 2b zoom view

It can be clearly seen in Figure 146, the shift in frequency and modifications in magnitude highlighted using black box. The shift in frequency following the state of the health of bond wires is listed in Table 19. The percentage is computed considering healthy state as a reference.

Resonance Frequency	Healthy	4 (-1)	4 (-2)	4 (-3)
S ₁₁ curve (GHz)	1.48	1.45	1.45	1.45
% Decrease (S ₁₁ curve)	-	2%	2%	2%
S ₂₁ curve (MHz)	892	846	790	762
% Decrease (S ₂₁ curve)	-	5%	11%	15%
S ₁₂ curve (MHz)	899	861	773	746
% Decrease (S_{12} curve)	-	4%	14%	17%
S ₂₂ curve (GHz)	1.69	1.69	1.69	1.69
% Decrease (S ₂₂ curve)	-	0%	0%	0%

 Table 19: Resonance frequency and its % decrease following the state of the health of bond wires of a ceramic substrate with bond wires from S-parameters magnitude

 S_{11} and S_{22} curves experience 2% and 0% of decrease in frequency which is around 30 MHz and 0 MHz, respectively. The transmission coefficients show a significant reduction

in frequency. S_{21} curve experience 5%, 11%, and 15% for 1, 2, and 3 bond wires lift-off which is 46 MHz, 102 MHz, and 130 MHz, respectively. The percentage decrease in frequency of S_{21} and S_{12} are close to each other.

Eventually, Table 20 presents the modification in magnitude at respective resonance presented in Table 19. The percentage increase in magnitude is computed considering healthy state as a reference. The modification in magnitude is pronounced in reflection and transmission coefficients.

Magnitude	Healthy	4 (-1)	4 (-2)	4 (-3)
S ₁₁ curve (dB)	-14.7	-12.6	-10.8	-8.88
% Increase (S ₁₁ curve)	-	14%	27%	40%
S ₂₁ curve (dB)	-21.7	-16.2	-12.2	-9.35
% Increase (S ₂₁ curve)	-	25%	44%	57%
S ₁₂ curve (dB)	-21.9	-16.2	-12.1	-9.31
% Increase (S ₁₂ curve)	-	26%	45%	57%
S ₂₂ curve (dB)	-17.7	-15.4	-12.8	-10.8
% Increase (S ₂₂ curve)	-	13%	28%	39%

 Table 20: Magnitude and its % increase following the state of the health of bond wires of a ceramic substrate with bond wires from S-parameters magnitude

S-parameters are converted into Z-parameters depicted in Figure 147. Similar to the Sparameters, Z-parameters demonstrate no major changes in the bandwidth 100 kHz to 500 MHz. Some variations are noticed above 500 MHz (highlighted using black box), which are noticeable in transmission coefficients. Therefore, it is interesting to zoom in this bandwidth to explore the data.



Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

Figure 147: Z-parameters magnitude following state of health of bond wire connected between Track 1 and Track 2b



Figure 148: Z_{12} magnitude and phase following the successive measurements

Figure 148 presents the Z_{12} magnitude and phase, it can be clearly noticed a significant decrease in resonance frequency due to inductance changes and in magnitude due to resistance modifications. In the following, Table 21 provides the percentage decrease in resonance frequency recovered from reflection and transmission curves in the highlighted region of Figure 147. The decrease in resonance frequency is more pronounced in transmission parameters (Z_{21} and Z_{12}).

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

Resonance Frequency	Healthy	4 (-1)	4 (-2)	4 (-3)
Z ₁₁ curve (GHz)	1.39	1.39	1.38	1.37
% Decrease (Z ₁₁ curve)	-	0%	1%	1%
Z ₂₁ curve (MHz)	796	707	640	568
% Decrease (Z ₂₁ curve)	-	11%	20%	29%
Z ₁₂ curve (MHz)	790	712	640	572
% Decrease (Z ₁₂ curve)	-	10%	19%	28%
Z ₂₂ curve (GHz)	1.33	1.28	1.25	1.21
% Decrease (Z ₂₂ curve)	-	4%	6%	9%

 Table 21: Resonance frequency and its % decrease following the state of the health of bond wires of a ceramic substrate with bond wires from Z-parameters magnitude

Having 4 bond wires connected in parallel, means that the equivalent inductance can be computed using Eq. 71.

$$\frac{1}{L_{eq}} = \frac{1}{L_1} + \frac{1}{L_2} + \frac{1}{L_3} + \frac{1}{L_4}$$
 Eq. 71

Inducing bond wire lift-off one after the other gradually increases the equivalent inductance, thereby the self-resonating frequency is reduced, for a same parallel capacitance. This increase in magnitude can be justified in a same manner using the equivalent resistance. Table 22 provides the increase in resistance and its percentage following the state of the health of bond wires. The increase in resistance is more pronounced in transmission parameters (Z_{21} and Z_{12}), almost multiplied by 4 times when three bond wires are lifted-off. A gradual increase in resistance is also noticed on Z_{11} curve, whereas Z_{22} shows a sudden decrease in resistance when three bond wires are lifted-off. Therefore, it is convenient to consider transmission parameters to interpret the results in this case.

Resistance	Healthy	4 (-1)	4 (-2)	4 (-3)
Z ₁₁ curve (Ohms)	28.917	31.053	35.979	43.756
% Increase (Z ₁₁ curve)	-	7%	24%	51%
Z ₂₁ curve (Ohms)	7.903	11.329	15.326	25.092
% Increase (Z ₂₁ curve)	-	43%	94%	217%
Z ₁₂ curve (Ohms)	7.923	11.075	15.081	24.847
% Increase (Z ₁₂ curve)	-	40%	90%	214%
Z ₂₂ curve (Ohms)	6.142	7.301	7.752	5.608
% Increase (Z ₂₂ curve)	-	19%	26%	-9%

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

 Table 22: Magnitude and its % increase following the state of the health of bond wires of a ceramic substrate with bond wires from Z-parameters magnitude

4.5.2 Ceramic substrate with IGBT die mounted on Track 2a and connected to other tracks through bond wires

This section demonstrates the two-port characterization of the ceramic substrate with IGBT die with several failure of bonding wires. The bond wire lift-off is induced manually onto the bonding wires connected on Track 2b from top to bottom (as pointed out by the black arrow) as shown in Figure 149.



Figure 149: Ceramic substrate with IGBT die and bond wires (a) bond wire lift-off direction (b) after two bond wires lift-off

The failure process is similar to the ceramic substrate with bond wires. As it is performed on Track 2b it is interesting to analyze the results following config1 (gate grounded). S-parameters magnitude measured from 100 kHz to 3 GHz considering config1 are presented in Figure 150.

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests



Figure 150: S-parameters magnitude of ceramic substrate with IGBT die following successive measurements

The impact of bond wires lift-off is mainly noticed in the bandwidth of 500 MHz to 700 MHz for reflection parameters and 1 GHz to 1.8 GHz for transmission parameters highlighted with yellow box. Figure 151 presents the zoom view in this bandwidth. A significant decrease in frequencies is observed following the number of bond wires lifted off, indicated with yellow arrow. The decrease in resonance frequencies and its percentage are listed in Table 23.

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests



Figure 151: S-parameters magnitude of ceramic substrate with IGBT die following successive measurements

Resonance Frequency	Healthy	5 (-1)	5 (-2)	5 (-3)	5 (-4)
S ₁₁ curve (MHz)	580	568	564	552	54
% Decrease (S ₁₁ curve)	-	2%	3%	5%	7%
S ₂₁ curve (GHz)	1.78	1.76	1.66	1.49	1.28
% Decrease (S ₂₁ curve)	-	1%	7%	16%	28%
S ₁₂ curve (GHz)	1.78	1.76	1.66	1.49	1.28
% Decrease (S_{12} curve)	-	1%	7%	16%	28%
S ₂₂ curve (MHz)	536	528	524	516	499
% Decrease (S ₂₂ curve)	-	1%	2%	4%	7%

 Table 23: Resonance frequency and its % decrease following the state of the health of bond wires of a ceramic substrate with bond wires and IGBT die from S-parameters magnitude

A significant decrease in frequency resonance of 500 MHz (28%) is noticed between healthy and four bond wires lifted-off in S_{21} and S_{12} . Likewise, Table 24 presents the increase in magnitude following successive measurements at the resonance frequency mentioned in Table 23. The magnitude modification is pronounced in reflection parameter (S_{11}) by 2 times to the initial values. The transmission parameters show a gradual increase in magnitude.

Magnitude	Healthy	5 (-1)	5 (-2)	5 (-3)	5 (-4)
S ₁₁ curve (dB)	-16.6	-16.1	-14.4	-11.6	-8.96
% Increase (S ₁₁ curve)	-	6%	29%	78%	141%
S ₂₁ curve (dB)	-15.1	-13.9	-12	-12.7	-12
% Increase (S ₂₁ curve)	-	15%	43%	32%	43%
S ₁₂ curve (dB)	-15.5	-14.2	-11.8	-12.3	-11.8
% Increase (S ₁₂ curve)	-	16%	53%	45%	53%
S ₂₂ curve (dB)	-9.14	-9.27	-8.82	-7.9	-6.82
% Increase (S ₂₂ curve)	-	1%	4%	15%	31%

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

 Table 24: Magnitude and its % increase following the state of the health of bond wires of a ceramic substrate with bond wires and IGBT die from S-parameters magnitude

S-parameters are converted into Z-parameters to read the curves in terms of RLC presented in Figure 152. The noticeable changes are highlighted using yellow arrow in Figure 152. The zoom view focusing in this region is presented in Figure 153.



Figure 152: Z-parameters magnitude of ceramic substrate with IGBT die following successive measurements

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests



Figure 153: Z-parameters magnitude of homemade packaging with IGBT die following the state of the health of bond wires

The decrease in resonance frequencies is noticed in the bandwidth of 1.2 GHz to 1.8 GHZ in Z_{21} and Z_{12} magnitude and from 1 GHz to 1.2 GHz in Z_{11} and Z_{22} magnitude (highlighted with yellow arrow).

Resonance Frequency	Healthy	5 (-1)	5 (-2)	5 (-3)	5 (-4)
Z ₁₁ curve (GHz)	1.13	1.13	1.12	1.11	1.09
% Decrease (Z_{11} curve)	-	0%	1%	2%	4%
Z ₂₁ curve (GHz)	1.78	1.76	1.69	1.5	1.45
% Decrease (Z_{21} curve)	-	1%	5%	16%	19%
Z ₁₂ curve (GHz)	1.78	1.76	1.69	1.5	1.48
% Decrease (Z ₁₂ curve)	-	1%	5%	16%	17%
Z ₂₂ curve (GHz)	1.19	1.16	1.16	1.14	1.12
% Decrease (Z ₂₂ curve)	-	3%	3%	4%	6%

 Table 25: Resonance frequency and its % decrease following the state of the health of bond wires of a ceramic substrate with bond wires and IGBT die from Z-parameters magnitude

The increase in resistance following bond wire lift-off action is noted in Table 26. The modification in resistance is highly pronounced in reflection and transmission parameters. The increase in resistance for four bond wires lift-off compared to initial state is multiplied by 3 times for Z_{11} , Z_{21} , and Z_{12} curves and 2.5 times for Z_{22} curve.

Resistance	Healthy	5 (-1)	5 (-2)	5 (-3)	5 (-4)
Z ₁₁ curve (Ohms)	13.421	16.997	19.512	25.844	40.912
% Increase (Z ₁₁ curve)	-	27%	45%	93%	205%
Z ₂₁ curve (Ohms)	8.582	9.680	13.016	16.746	25.153
% Increase (Z ₂₁ curve)	-	13%	52%	95%	193%
Z ₁₂ curve (Ohms)	8.196	9.351	13.787	17.335	26.356
% Increase (Z ₁₂ curve)	-	14%	68%	112%	222%
Z ₂₂ curve (Ohms)	26.651	25.509	29.457	40.355	65.258
% Increase (Z ₂₂ curve)	-	4%	11%	51%	145%

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

 Table 26: Magnitude and its % increase following the state of the health of bond wires of a ceramic substrate with bond wires and IGBT die from Z-parameters magnitude

The modifications are also noticed in phase plots following the state of the health of bond wires in Figure 154.



Figure 154: Z₁₁ and Z₂₁ phase plots following successive measurements of ceramic substrate with IGBT die and bond wires

4.5.3 Comparison of healthy and faulty mode ceramic substrate with bond wires and IGBT die polarized:

This section demonstrates the healthy and faulty (four bond wires lifted-off) state by polarizing the IGBT die. The polarization is performed with the values $V_{com} = 15$ V, $V_{dc} = 15$ V, and measurements are made for $I_c = 100$ mA and 2A. Figure 155 presents the measurement curves focusing in the reduced bandwidth (3 MHz to 1GHz) for which bias tee has no influence. The comparison of healthy and faulty mode by polarizing the die present some variation above 300 MHz (highlighted with blue box), while the curves are superposed below 300 MHz. The comparison curves show variations with shift in frequency in the bandwidth that is highlighted.

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests



Figure 155: S₁₁ and S₂₁ measurement between collector and emitter of ceramic substrate with IGBT die in healthy and faulty mode in bandwidth (3 MHz – 1 GHz)

The modifications in frequency and magnitude are listed in Table 27 and Table 28, respectively. Following these experiments, the smooth shift in frequency and change in magnitude behavior seems to be a representative of failure detection.

Resonance frequency	Healthy	Faulty 5 (-4)
S ₁₁ curve (MHz)	568	551
% Decrease (S ₁₁ curve)	-	3%
S ₂₁ curve (MHz)	588	552
% Decrease (S ₂₁ curve)	-	6%
S ₂₂ curve (MHz)	373	364
% Decrease (S ₂₂ curve)	-	2%

Table 27: Resonance frequency and its % decrease following the state of the health of bond wires of a ceramic substrate with

bond wires and IGBT die (polarized) from S-parameters magnitude

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

Magnitude	Healthy	Faulty 5 (-4)
S ₁₁ curve (dB)	-8.83	-4.48
% Increase (S ₁₁ curve)	-	49%
S ₂₁ curve (dB)	-3.06	-4.19
% Decrease (S ₂₁ curve)	-	37%
S ₂₂ curve (dB)	-7.86	-6.80
% Increase (S ₂₂ curve)	_	13%

 Table 28: Magnitude and its % change following the state of the health of bond wires of a ceramic substrate with bond wires and IGBT die (polarized) from S-parameters magnitude



S-parameters are converted into Z-parameters and illustrated in Figure 156.

Figure 156: Z-parameters magnitude between collector and emitter of ceramic substrate with IGBT die in healthy and faulty mode in bandwidth (3 MHz – 1 GHz)

Due to the change in the shape of all Z-parameters, the bond wire failure is well identified both at low frequency (<10 MHz) and at high frequency (some hundreds of MHz). Whereas, this first attempt have only been done at healthy and after 4 bond wires liftedoff. Therefore, it is difficult to quantify the changes because the trend of intermediate states is not available.

4.5.4 Active Power Cycling (APC) test on TO-247 SiC MOSFET

An Active Power Cycling test was chosen to activate the damage mechanisms in the assemblies. The principle described in Figure 130, is to induce periodic heating of the component by circulating a current whose intensity and duration are initially adjusted, in order to obtain a controlled variation in the temperature measured at the assembly. TO-247 SiC MOSFET, (part number: C2M0160120D) is considered to perform APC test, whose healthy state characterization followed by electrical equivalent model was detailed in Chapter 3 Section 3.2. The electrical parameters of the component are presented in Table 29. The values applied for accelerated component aging are summarized in Table 30.

Parameters	Ratings	Unit
Device	TO-247 (SiC MOSFET)	-
V _{DSmax}	1200	V
V _{GSmax}	-10/+25	V
ID	18	А
V _{GS(th)}	4	V

Table 29: Electrical parameters of TO-247 SiC MOSFET (C2M0160120D)

Parameters	Ratings	Unit
Cycling current	20	А
T _{Jmax}	150	°C
T_{Jmin}	20	°C
$\Delta T_{ m J}$	130	°C
Ton	1	S
T _{off}	1.5	S

Table 30: Values applied to the aging test

The desired temperature variation, $\Delta T_J = 120 \,^{\circ}C$, places a high load on the packages' internal interconnect elements, such as bonding wires and solder joints [119], [120]. The test implemented stresses the component's internal power diode: the component is negative biased (detailed in Section 4.5.4.1). The current value applied complies with the manufacture's specifications for the chosen reference. Each cycle consists of 1 second of

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

heating followed by 1.5 seconds of cooling, ensuring that the device adequately cools down before the subsequent heating pulse.

4.5.4.1 Device under test and test setup

Active power cycling test setup is shown in Figure 157, with three TO-247 SiC MOSFETs. For the testing phase, the components are fixed onto a temperature stabilized cold plate with water cooling. As the drain of the transistor is connected to the backside of the TO-247 packages, it is necessary to insulate them from direct. Indeed, thermal gap pads (GP300S) are placed between the heat sinks of the packages and the cold plate as depicted in Figure 157 (green color pad under each device).



Figure 157: APC test setup

The test can be operated in two modes: transistor mode or diode mode. For easier handling, diode mode (i.e., body diode of the MOSFET) is frequently employed instead of the transistor mode. This way the trapping effect of the transistor can also be avoided. Therefore, a negative voltage of -4 V is supplied to V_{GS} , which push the diode into conduction while blocking the transistor. The on voltage drop at the applied heating current (V_{on}) is used as a failure indicator for this test. In our case, the device under test is characterized (VNA, B1505A) before and after APC test to see the impact of aging.

As this test is mainly targeted to see bond wire lift-off, to have an internal view of the TO-247 SiC MOSFET (C2M0160120D) one of the devices (not participating in the test) was mechanically open, as illustrated in Figure 158. It presents 1 bond wire for the gate pad and 4 bond wires divided in two blocks and attached to the source. The underside of the chip is soldered on the substrate and finally, to the external drain terminal.

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests



Figure 158: TO-247 SiC MOSFET (C2M0160120D) internal view

Two campaigns which are referred as Group1 and Group2 were achieved. The respective devices of each group participated in APC test are listed in Table 31.

Group1	Group2
G24	C24
K24	E24
I24	O24

Table 31: Device under test for APC test

Concerning the APC test conducted on Group1, after 19796 cycles, the test was automatically stopped, indicating a huge rise on V_{on} monitoring parameter of I24. Therefore, the sample I24 was removed from the test bench and continued the test with G24 and K24 until 22830 cycles. At 22830 cycles the test was intentionally stopped due to availability of the test bench. The failure indicator, namely the voltage drop (V_{on}) is presented in Figure 159. This figure presents the different step-wise changes of V_{on} for each device of Group1. In situations where devices are exposed to heat in an open state, the gradual alteration in device voltage results from the degradation of device characteristics and the propagation of cracks in the bond wires. Conversely, rapid fluctuations occur due to increased serial ohmic resistance resulting from the detachment or breakage of individual bond wires [119]. When one or few bond wires fail, it disrupts

the current distribution within power devices, accelerating the wear-out failure of the remaining bond wires. Ultimately, this cascade effect can lead to open-circuit failures or catastrophic failures in power devices, such as thermal runaway or chip destruction.



Figure 159: voltage drop on the device at heating current level as a function of applied power cycles of Group1 devices

Device I24 experienced smaller step changes and catastrophic failure. Also, K24 and G24 experienced smaller step changes. The initial steps appear relatively smaller because the overall resistance of the parallel bond wires experiences only a slight shift due to the rupture of just one of them. However, as the number of bond wires decrease, the proportional change in resistance becomes significantly more pronounced, leading to larger step increments. Table 32 presents the percentage increase in resistance, computed for each step changes of V_{on} of three devices for constant cycling current of 20 A. Percentage is computed by considering V_{on} at 4000 cycles as a reference value. It is because at 4000 cycles, no device shows any step-wise changes as illustrated in Figure 159.

Device	Cycle numbers	$V_{on}(V)$	Resistance (Ω)	% Increase (Resistance)
	4000	4.984	0.249	-
	12400	5.315	0.266	7%
I24	13610	5.507	0.275	11%
	17290	5.663	0.283	14%
	4000	4.783	0.239	-
	18100	4.842	0.242	1%
K24	20464	5.146	0.257	8%
	22840	5.349	0.267	12%
	4000	4.851	0.243	-
G24	13000	4.897	0.245	1%
	20797	4.95	0.247	2%
	22840	5.195	0.260	7%

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

Table 32: Percentage increase in resistance of Group1 devices for each step of V_{on}

After 19796 cycles, the Von curve of I24 reach the voltage limitation (12 V) of the channel to which I24 is connected. Towards the end, it becomes challenging to differentiate between individual bond wire failures as the overload destroys the remaining bonds following the earlier failures. This could explain the specific behavior of Von curve for the last step-wise change. The devices underwent Scanning Acoustic Microscopy (SAM) to validate the findings delivered from electrical measurements. Figure 160 shows the SAM pictures of the three devices of Group1 after aging. Unfortunately, a baseline SAM measurement prior to the power cycling test were not captured. Consequently, a direct comparison with the initial state using the captured images is unattainable. Nonetheless, Figure 158 can serve as a reference point for identifying the bond wires that are connected to the chip. Whereas it becomes difficult to comment on brazing as they cannot be compared to the initial state.

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests



Figure 160: SAM images highlighting bond wire and brazing connection after aging of three devices of Group1

By effectively processing the recorded transient data, it becomes possible to identify the time constant inherent in the curve, enabling the creation of a one-dimensional Cauer RC model for the system. This model incorporates thermal resistance (R_{th}) and thermal capacitance (C_{th}) . The formation of a cumulative structure function involves plotting cumulative thermal resistances along the horizontal axis and cumulative thermal capacitance along vertical axis. The cumulative structure function encapsulates valuable insights into the physical packaging structure, facilitating the detection of issues like delamination or degradation [119]. Figure 161 shows the structure function of Group1 devices. The initial state of the structure function was captured before the cycling (i.e., at 0 cycles) in brown color. Likewise, 4000 cycles (red color), 8000 cycles (yellow color), 12000 cycles (light blue color), and 14415 cycles (navy blue color) were also captured and compared with initial state. These curves continue to exhibit a good fit up to approximately 1 K/W, with any disparities becoming noticeable only beyond this thermal resistance threshold. This provides compelling evidence that no alterations occurred in the examined packages' structure. The devices' failure can only be attributed to bond wire degradation rather than any structural modifications.



Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

Figure 161: Structure function of Group1 devices for different aging cycles

The V_{on} graph (Figure 159) of each device of Group1 shows the complete failure of I24 and smaller step changes on G24 and K24. Whereas, the SAM results show one bond wire missing on I24 and recovers all bond wire connection of G24 and K24. This could be due to the formation of bond wire cracks or bond wire lift-off at pad level. It is difficult to identify these cracks and bond wire lift-off at pad level (due to material constraints) from SAM results.

The VNA characterization was performed before and after aging on the three devices following three possible configurations. The results are analyzed highlighting the best configurations. The S-parameters magnitude comparison of three devices of Group1 before and after cycling where port 1 and port 2 are connected to drain (D1) and source (S2) respectively while gate terminal is grounded (GCOM) are shown in Figure 162. The S-parameters magnitude presented in Figure 162 in complete bandwidth (100 kHz to 3GHz) allows to point out the visible changes following the aging test compared with their original state (before aging).

Firstly, considering the device I24, which is believed to be completely failed based on V_{on} online monitoring parameter, shows visible changes in all the S-parameters' curves given in Figure 162. It is interesting to take a look first to Figure 162 (d) source connected port. A complete reflection from 100 kHz to 1 GHz is recovered (highlighted with black box).



Figure 162: S-parameters magnitude of Group1 devices before and after aging following configuration GCOM (D1S2)

The reflection parameter on port 1 (Figure 162 (a)), the drain connected port recovers almost similar characteristics compared to healthy state curves (highlighted with black box). However, the impact is seen after 100 MHz in Figure 162 (b). The transmission parameters (Figure 162 (b & c)) after aging falls to 30 dB confirms the "open circuit" condition.

The S-parameters are converted into Z-parameters and are presented in Figure 163. The source connected port (Z_{22} magnitude) of I24 experience a huge shift in first resonance indicated with black box. The phase of this parameter (Z_{22} phase) provides the fact that inductive behavior of healthy state becomes capacitive for faulty state. On the other hand, the Z_{11} magnitude and phase (drain connected port) of I24 exhibit no changes from 100 kHz to 200 MHz. Some variations are seen above 200 MHz.

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests



Figure 163: Reflection parameters magnitude and phase of Group1 devices before and after aging following configuration GCOM (D1S2)

In both the figures, Figure 162 and Figure 163, device K24 shows specific behavior before aging. This led us to think about two possibilities: it could be due to manufacturing defect as it is seen before aging otherwise due to measurement error. It is strongly believed that it is due to measurement error due to following reasons:

- After aging curves of K24 perfectly fits with curves of other device when no failure is detected. If considered Figure 162 (S₁₁ magnitude) though the difference in magnitude (after aging of K24) at the first resonance is observed, this difference is neither observed on transmission parameters nor on S₂₂.
- This behavior of K24 before aging is not observed in the other configurations.

The change in behavior of K24 in Z_{11} (drain connected port) is more pronounced, while the change disappeared on Z_{22} . This can lead to a question, is there any early defect due to brazing of die on the substrate? If it is so, the impact is mainly observed on capacitance. The capacitance measurement performed on B1505A curve tracer before and after aging are presented in Figure 164. These results show no change of capacitance for all the devices before and after aging except for I24 after aging. The first conclusion is the confirmation of measurement error hypothesis regarding K24 device. The second and interesting conclusion is that, as all the devices exhibit similar characteristics if not complete failure is detected, it is difficult to identify any intermediate changes using B1505A CV measurements.



Figure 164: CV measurements on B1505A curve tracer of Group1 devices before and after aging

The other interesting two-port VNA configurations to be discussed is gate connected to port 1 (G1) and drain connected to port 2 (D1) while source is grounded (SCOM) whose equivalent impedance model is given in Figure 165.



Figure 165: Two-port impedance model representing the configuration SCOM (G1D2)

The comparison of Z-parameters magnitude of Group1 devices before and after aging following this configuration is shown in Figure 166. It is interesting to point out, as the source terminal is grounded and is involved in reflection behavior thereby any impact due to source is expected to be visible on every parameter presented in Figure 166. The impact on I24 after aging is clearly visible while the other curves are superposed. Whereas a

significant change in impedance magnitude is observed at the self-resonating frequency, specifically on transmission parameters highlighted in Figure 167.



Figure 166: Z-parameters magnitude of Group1 devices before and after aging following configuration SCOM (G1D2)



Figure 167: Z-parameters magnitude of Group1 devices before and after aging following configuration SCOM (G1D2) in bandwidth 20 MHz-50 MHz

It is clearly observed, the increase in resistance after aging for all the three devices. As the difference is quite visible for I24, the increase in resistance and its percentage of K24 and G24 after aging compared to before aging is given in Table 33. To point out that, G24 and K24 curves before aging are superposed. The percentage increase in resistance after aging for G24 and K24 curves is 18% and 46%. This shows a significant change in resistance. On the other hand, no huge shift in frequency is measured as depicted in Table 34.

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

]	Parameters	G24	K24
	Z _{11(before)}	3.019	3.076
$Z_{11}\left(\Omega\right)$	Z _{11(after)}	3.076	3.248
(R_g+R_s)	Z _{11(after)} - Z _{11(before)}	0.057	0.172
	% Increase	2%	6%
	Z _{12(before)}	0.412	0.418
$Z_{12}\left(\Omega ight)$	Z _{12(after)}	0.486	0.609
Rs	Z _{12(after)} - Z _{12(before)}	0.073	0.191
	% Increase	18%	46%
	Z _{22(before)}	0.607	0.628
$Z_{22}\left(\Omega ight)$	Z _{22(after)}	0.689	0.898
(R_d+R_s)	Z _{22(after)} - Z _{22(before)}	0.082	0.270
	% Increase	14%	43%

Table 33: Increase in resistance of K24 and G24 after aging extracted from Z₁₁, Z₁₂, and Z₂₂ following SCOM (G1D2)

configuration

		1	
Parameters		G24	K24
f ₁₁ (MHz)	$f_{11(before)}$	34.935	34.634
(Resonance	$f_{11(after)}$	34.935	34.031
frequency from Z ₁₁	$f_{11(after)}$ - $f_{11(before)}$	0	0.602
curve)	% Decrease	0%	2%
f ₁₂ (MHz)	$f_{12(before)}$	33.127	33.428
(Resonance	$f_{12(after)}$	32.825	31.832
Frequency from Z_{12}	$f_{12(after)}$ - $f_{12(before)}$	0.302	1.596
curve)	% Decrease	1%	5%
f ₂₂ (MHz)	f _{22(before)}	41.565	40.661
(Resonance Frequency from Z ₂₂ curve)	$f_{22(after)}$	41.565	40.36
	$f_{22(after)}$ - $f_{22(before)}$	0	0.301
	% Decrease	0%	1%

 Table 34: Decrease in resonance frequency of K24 and G24 after aging extracted from Z₁₁, Z₁₂, and Z₂₂ following SCOM (G1D2) configuration

Following this configuration, the respective resistance can be extracted are R_g+R_s from Z_{11} curves, Rs from Z_{12} curve, and R_d+R_s from Z_{22} curves. This increase in resistance

could mean crack propagation in bond wires or start of lift-off not visible on SAM results, but visible using V_{on} monitoring parameter.

The IV characteristics of diode and transistor of each device before and after cycling are presented in Figure 168. It is noted that, B1505A IV characteristics measure V_{drain} as a function of I_{drain} for applied V_{gs} voltage. Both the curves show significant change before and after aging for the devices G24 and K24. I24 after aging allow no more current which is seen on IV diode characteristics. Due to constraint on V_{gs} , the I_{drain} and V_{drain} of transistor provide only a single point close to zero which is not visible in the IV transistor curve.



Figure 168: IV characteristics of transistor and diode of Group1 devices before and after aging

Likewise, another test has been launched on the Group2 devices, whose identifications are given in Table 31. The test was intentionally stopped due to scheduling of the Mentor Graphics, by which all the three devices experienced 26954 cycles. Figure 169 presents the V_{on} online monitoring and SAM images after aging of Group2 device. The V_{on} curve presents sudden and high step on E24 and smaller step on C24 and O24. Whereas, SAM images show bond wire connection on C24 and E24 after aging and a typical image of O24. These results are verified with the VNA and B1505A characterization results. Eventually, Table 35 presents the percentage increase in resistance at each step of V_{on} for constant power cycling current of 20 A. C24 and O24 measure change of 1% for the first step. E24 measure 1% and 4% for the first step and at end of the curve for the next step.

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests



Figure 169: voltage drop on the device at heating current level as a function of applied power cycles of Group2 devices



Device	Cycle numbers	V_{on}	Resistance	% Increase
			(Ω)	(Resistance)
C24	5000	4.871	0.244	-
	26852	4.931	0.247	1%
E24	5000	4.833	0.242	-
	26500	4.895	0.245	1%
	26954	5.015	0.251	4%
O24	5000	4.874	0.244	-
	26080	4.939	0.247	1%

Figure 170: SAM images highlighting bond wire connection after aging of three devices of Group2

Table 35: Percentage increase in resistance of Group2 devices for each step of Von

As presented for Group1, one of the interesting configurations of VNA characterization is SCOM (G1D2). The S and Z parameter magnitude comparing the before and after aging characterization of Group2 device are presented in Figure 171.

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests



Figure 171: S11, S12, Z11, and Z12 comparison of Group2 devices before and after aging

All the three devices before and after aging VNA characterization curves are superposed, indicating no complete failure of device. However, a slight change in impedance is observed at the first resonance whose zoom view is presented in Figure 172.



Figure 172: Z-parameters magnitude of Group2 devices before and after aging in the bandwidth of 30 MHz - 45 MHz

The increase in resistance and its percentage compared to before aging curves of each device of Group2 is listed in Table 36. No huge increase in resistance is observed. E24,

which experienced a sudden rise on V_{on} curve measure 4% of increase in equivalent resistance (Z₁₂). This rise on V_{on} curve of E24 on the last cycles can be due to sudden shut down of the test. However, as there is step change observed on V_{on} at several cycles before shut down of bench, it can be an indication of beginning of wear out mechanisms.

Parameters		C24	E24	O24
	Z _{11(before)}	2.979	3.012	2.991
$Z_{11}\left(\Omega ight)$	Z _{11(after)}	3.002	3.026	3.027
(R_g+R_s)	$Z_{11(after)}$ - $Z_{11(before)}$	0.022	0.014	0.036
	% Increase	1%	0%	1%
	Z _{12(before)}	0.428	0.404	0.405
$Z_{12}\left(\Omega ight)$	Z _{12(after)}	0.454	0.421	0.441
R _s	Z _{12(after)} - Z _{12(before)}	0.026	0.017	0.036
	% Increase	6%	4%	9%
	Z _{22(before)}	0.649	0.606	0.602
$Z_{22}\left(\Omega ight)$	Z _{22(after)}	0.682	0.620	0.642
(R_d+R_s)	Z _{22(after)} - Z _{22(before)}	0.033	0.013	0.040
	% Increase	5%	2%	7%

Table 36: Increase in resistance of Group2 devices after aging extracted from Z₁₁, Z₁₂, and Z₂₂ following SCOM (G1D2) configuration

Likewise, Table 37 presents the decrease in resonance frequencies and its percentage. As it can be seen, maximum of 1% decrease is observed for three devices.

			r	
Parameters		C24	E24	O24
f ₁₁ (MHz)	$f_{11(before)}$	35.236	34.332	34.634
(Resonance	$f_{11(after)}$	30.02	34.332	34.634
from Z ₁₁	$f_{11(after)}$ - $f_{11(before)}$	0.002	0	0
curve)	% Decrease	0%	0%	0%
f ₁₂ (MHz)	$f_{12(before)}$	33.729	33.127	33.428
(Resonance	$f_{12(after)}$	33.428	32.825	33.127
Frequency from Z_{12}	$f_{12(after)}$ - $f_{12(before)}$	0.301	0.301	0.301
curve)	% Decrease	1%	1%	1%
f ₂₂ (MHz)	$f_{22(before)}$	40.661	40.661	40.661
(Resonance Frequency from Z ₂₂ curve)	$f_{22(after)}$	40.661	40.661	40.963
	$f_{22(after)}$ - $f_{22(before)}$	0	0	0.301
	% Decrease	0%	0%	1%

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

 Table 37: Decrease in resonance frequency of Group2 devices after aging extracted from Z₁₁, Z₁₂, and Z₂₂ following SCOM (G1D2) configuration

This increase in resistance could be due to crack formation at the bond wires tail as the capacitance and IV characteristics of these devices show no huge changes given in Figure 173 and Figure 174.



Figure 173: CV measurements on B1505A curve tracer of Group2 devices before and after aging





Figure 174: IV characteristics of transistor and diode of Group2 devices before and after aging

4.5.5 Temperature Cycling Test (TCT) on TO-220 Si MOSFET

This section presents the passive cycling test on discrete package using the Climatic Temperature System (CTS). In the passive cycling the device under test are subjected to an external temperature which is distributed uniformly inside the climatic chamber. The details about the passive cycling test using CTS are provided in Section 4.3.1. The samples are subjected to temperature variation of -55 °C to 180 °C. Figure 175 presents the test setup where the samples are arranged on flat surface using Kapton tape and placed inside the climatic chamber.



Figure 175: Discrete power samples placed inside climatic chamber

This test is carried out on TO-220 Si MOSFET, part number STF11NM60ND. The VNA characterization was performed on two samples at original state (0 cycle) and at different aging cycles (365, 665, and 907). As the samples were exposed to external temperature there can be different failure mechanisms to encounter. Therefore, it is necessary to verify all the possible characterization configurations and then to identify which element of the

component is subjected to failure. Following the analysis, the interesting configurations are presented highlighting the possible failure mechanisms.

Figure 176 presents the S-parameters magnitude of sample1 for different aging cycles following the configuration gate connected to port 1 (G1) and source connected to port 2 (S2) while drain is grounded (DCOM). The initial state and after 365 cycles curves are superposed (i.e., blue and red curves) for reflection and transmission parameters. After 665 cycles, S_{22} and S_{12} provide similar behavior of initial state while S_{11} produce a reduction in magnitude from 1 MHz to 500 MHz. After 907 cycles, S_{11} recover complete reflection of signal. S_{22} curve recover similar behavior of the initial state for 365, 665, and 907 cycles from 100 kHz to 100 MHz. Above 100 MHz, 365 and 665 cycles still present the similar behavior of initial state (0 cycle) while some variations are observed for 907 cycles. The transmission parameter (S_{12}) falls 28 dB in magnitude compare to the previous three aging cycles. S_{12} curves also prove a low transmission between gate and source.



Figure 176: S-parameters magnitude of Sample1 for different aging cycles following the configuration DCOM (G1S2) S-parameters are then converted into the Z-parameters to predict the influence of the occurrence of failure shown in Figure 177. The Z-parameter curves presented in


Figure 177 are considering DCOM (G1S2) configuration (i.e., the gate and source are connected to port 1 and port 2 respectively, and the drain is grounded).

Figure 177: Z-parameters magnitude and phase of sample1 for different cycles following the configuration DCOM (G1S2)

The initial state and 365 cycles (i.e., blue and red curves) are superposed in all the six graphs (magnitude and phase) depicted in Figure 177. This illustrates the fact that, no impact is seen until 365 cycles. For 665 cycles, an increase in impedance magnitude is observed on gate connected port (Z_{11}) depicted in Figure 177 (a) which is neither seen on Z_{12} (Figure 177 (c)) nor on Z_{22} (Figure 177 (e)). Likewise, Z_{11} phase show a progressive change directing towards -90° illustrated in Figure 177 (b), again this change is not observed on Z_{12} (Figure 177 (d)) and Z_{22} (Figure 177 (f)). Moreover, to point out that the magnitude and phase curves of Z_{12} and Z_{22} are superposed with red and blue curves. This highlights the fact that, only gate connected port (Z_{11} magnitude and phase) experienced changes after 665 aging cycles.

For 907 cycles, a huge shift in resonance frequency is noticed on Z_{11} magnitude depicted in Figure 177 (a). Moreover, Z_{11} phase shifts the inductive (+90°) behavior of the curve to capacitive (-90°), illustrated in Figure 177 (b). On the other hand, the grounding impedance (Z_{12}) presents moderate variations (Figure 177 (c) & (d)). Source connected port (Z_{22}) illustrate no changes (< 1% error) from 100 kHz to 300 MHz and some variations are observed above 300 MHz depicted in (Figure 177 (e) & (f)). These variations in Z_{12} and Z_{22} magnitude and phase after 907 cycles is can be mainly due to huge changes on gate connected port. This confirms the hypothesis that, drain and source had not experienced any failure and gate connected bond wire is failed.

It is interesting to highlight the fact that, only one measurements configuration is used to detect the failure. The analysis of two other configurations reaches the same conclusions and are presented in Appendix 4-29 and Appendix 4-30.

In similar way, the VNA characterization results of sample2 are analyzed as follows: Figure 178 presents the S-parameters magnitude of sample2 for different cycles following the configuration gate (port 1) and source (port 2) i.e., drain grounded (DCOM). S_{11} curve present reduction in magnitude following the state of the damage from 500 kHz to 900 MHz. Also, every resonance exhibit changes in magnitude. On the other hand, S_{22} and S_{12} present superposition of all the four cycling curves while presenting change in impedance magnitude. Table 38 and Table 39 present the frequency and magnitude modifications respectively, at resonance highlighted in Figure 178 for different aging cycles compared to initial state (0 cycle).



Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

Figure 178: S parameters magnitude of sample2 for different aging cycles following the configuration DCOM (G1S2)

Resonance Frequency	Healthy	365 cycles	665 cycles	907 cycles
S ₁₁ curve (GHz)	1.24	1.24	1.26	1.28
% Increase (S ₁₁ curve)	-	0	2%	3%
S ₁₂ curve (GHz)	1.56	1.56	1.55	1.54
% Decrease (S ₁₂ curve)	-	0%	1%	1%
S ₂₂ curve (GHz)	1.23	1.22	1.21	1.18
% Decrease (S ₂₂ curve)	-	1%	2%	4%

 Table 38: Resonance frequency and its percentage change compared to initial state from S-parameters magnitude of sample2

 following the configuration DCOM (G1S2)

As it can be seen, the resonance frequencies experienced no huge changes following the state of the damage. On the other hand, the magnitude of different aging cycles increased compared to the initial state.

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

Magnitude	Healthy	365 cycles	665 cycles	907 cycles
S ₁₁ curve (dB)	-20	-19.3	-19	-18
% Increase (S ₁₁ curve)	-	4%	5%	10%
S ₁₂ curve (dB)	-20.9	-20.8	-19.2	-16.6
% Increase (S ₁₂ curve)	-	0%	8%	21%
S ₂₂ curve (dB)	-26.1	-25.3	-23.2	-22.1
% Increase (S ₂₂ curve)	-	3%	11%	15%

 Table 39: Magnitude and its percentage change compared to initial state from S-parameters magnitude of sample2 following the configuration DCOM (G1S2)





Figure 179: Z₁₁ and Z₂₂ phase curves of sample2 for different aging cycles following the configuration DCOM (G1S2)

Concerning Z_{11} curves, Z_{11} magnitude and phase present superposition of red and blue curves. The impedance increased by 10 dB for 907 cycles (pink curve) which increase the resistance by 226% as given in Table 40. The green curve (for 665 cycles) present

intermediate change in impedance (between (red & blue) curve and pink curve). Z_{11} phase present a progressive change for green and pink curve.

On the other hand, Z_{12} and Z_{22} present superposition of all the four cycling curves while presenting change in impedance magnitude listed in table. The resonance frequency recovered from Z_{11} , Z_{12} and Z_{22} listed in Table 41 present no huge changes.

Eventually, all these information reach to the detection of a partial failure at gate connection. It is probably a propagation of a crack or the beginning of a bond wire lift-off.

Parameters		Value	Increase	% Increase
	0 cycle	3.69	-	-
$Z_{11}\left(\Omega ight)$	365 cycles	3.72	0.032	1%
(R_g+R_d)	665 cycles	6.92	3.23	88%
	907 cycles	1.20	8.34	226%
	0 cycle	4.22	-	-
$Z_{12}\left(\Omega ight)$	365 cycles	4.58	0.037	9%
R _d	665 cycles	4.32	0.012	3%
	907 cycles	8.11	0.38	92%
	0 cycle	5.98	-	-
$Z_{22}\left(\Omega ight)$	365 cycles	6.32	0.034	6%
(R_s+R_d)	665 cycles	6.13	0.015	2%
	907 cycles	9.86	0.39	65%

 Table 40: Magnitude and its percentage change compared to initial state from Z-parameters magnitude of sample2 following the configuration DCOM (G1S2)

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

Parameters		Value	Increase	% Increase
	0 cycle	28.124	-	-
f ₁₁ (MHz)	365 cycles	28.124	0	0%
	665 cycles	28.996	0.873	3%
	907 cycles	29.651	1.527	5%
	0 cycle	14.164	-	-
f ₁₂ (MHz)	365 cycles	14.278	0.114	1%
	665 cycles	14.164	0	0%
	907 cycles	14.05	-0.114	-1%
	0 cycle	15.307	-	-
f ₂₂ (MHz)	365 cycles	15.307	0	0%
	665 cycles	15.307	0	0%
	907 cycles	15.192	-0.114	-1%

 Table 41: Resonance frequency and its percentage change compared to initial state from Z-parameters magnitude of sample2

 following the configuration DCOM (G1S2)

The proposed NDT methodology is well adapted to detect partial failure or full bond wire lift-off of power devices in various situations. It can be applied either to homemade prototype (with or without power device die) or unknown discrete package. Likewise, the methodology is able to detect all kind of bond wire failure: on command path like the gate of MOSFET or at power path like source termination. In all cases the detection is performed at frequencies lower than 1 GHz and it is mainly characterized by either a shift in frequency, or an increase in resistance value or both.

At last, but not least, some attempts have been made to detect failure with polarized active device. Here, again the NDT methodology has made its proofs and in a similar way compared to the unpolarized active power device. So, the polarization can be used according to the request of the electrical configuration but it is not mandatory.

4.6 Other failures (Aging of brazing)

This Section presents the application of NDT methodology on ceramic substrate with clip. Such power clips are used in power modules to connect two copper tracks. They are useful to increase power level and power density while providing low parasitic inductance and resistance [121] [122]. In the following, the aging of an inner power interconnect brazing is studied explicitly as a component of a power module assembly. To achieve this, the brazing and its interconnect are isolated and analyzed independently from the active die.

This part of study aims to observe the failure of the brazing and/or clips by monitoring the change in transmitted and reflected waveforms. The failure detection is performed by comparison of healthy and faulty power module assembly states. Some intermediate aging results will be analyzed and discussed. This part of the study was published in [123].

4.6.1.1 Device under test

Four specific prototypes with brazing and clips, named Proto0, Proto1, Proto2, and Proto3, are used. Proto0 is the reference prototype and is without clip. The three other prototypes (Proto1, Proto2, and Proto3) possess 1 or 2 copper clips brazed at different locations onto the copper tracks as illustrated in Figure 180. The clip is made of copper with nickel-plated. The clip bond is placed between two tracks and acts as a solid copper bridge for the current. The clips are soldered using SAC305 solder paste with a typical melting temperature (liquidus) of 220 °C [124].



Figure 180: Homemade packaging with brazing and clips at different locations

All the four prototypes (Proto0, Proto1, Proto2, and Proto3) are placed in a climatic chamber. The temperature profile is given in Figure 129. TCT process is same as described in Section 4.3.1.

4.6.1.2 Healthy and faulty state characterization

In Proto1, a single clip is placed between Track 1 and Track 2a. A two-port characterization is achieved following config1, where port 1 and port 2 are connected to Track 1 and Track 2a, respectively while Track 2b is short-circuited. In healthy state, a complete transmission of the signal and a low reflection is expected. Figure 181 presents

the two-ports measurement with clip bonding between the measuring tracks, validating the transmission behavior.



Figure 181: S_{21} (Transmission) & S_{11} (Reflection) magnitude in healthy state

After 504 passive cycles, the clip of Proto1 failed. The end-of-life picture is shown in Figure 182 (a). Figure 182 (b) presents the comparison of the transmission coefficient (S_{21}) magnitude in healthy and faulty states. In faulty state, at frequencies lower than 100 MHz, no signal transmission is observed and means that clip contact is in open circuit. So, a failure of the clip is detected. The comparison of reflection parameters in healthy and faulty states reach the same conclusions.



Figure 182: (a) Proto1 after 504 cycles (b) S₂₁ magnitude in healthy and faulty states

The brazing does not ensure anymore the electrical continuity and adhesive contact between tracks 1 and 2a. Let us remark that the migration of the brazing is noticed soon, e.g., after the first 24 cycles, which is mainly due to gold finishing on copper tracks.

4.6.1.3 Impact of track length

When considering Proto1 and Proto2, the clip is positioned on different tracks with Track 1 as a common point, as illustrated in Figure 183. Blue and red color paths representing the interesting configurations for the analysis are highlighted. Therefore, this section aims to detail if there is any impact on the characterization regarding the conducting path. So similar configurations (transmission behavior) are considered for both prototypes. The common port connection for config1 and config2 is port 1, which is connected to Track 1. The length of the conducting path for Proto1 is lower than the length for Proto2.



Figure 183: Proto1 and Proto2 path for a transmission behavior characteristic

The comparison of characterization of Proto1 and Proto2 in a healthy state is presented in Figure 184. The impact due to the difference in length of common track is seen after 100 MHz (indicated with blue box on Figure 184 (a)) where a shift in every peak resonance is observed. It is interesting to identify which parameters of the equivalent R-L-C circuit are affected. Therefore, S-parameters are converted into Z-parameters. Figure 184 (b) and (c) presents Z_{12} magnitude and phase of Proto1 and Proto2 in a healthy state. Likewise, the variations in Z-parameters are observed from 100 MHz. The electrical parameters behavior of Z_{12} magnitude is confirmed by the phase.



Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

Figure 184: Comparison of Proto1 and Proto2 in a healthy state (a) S12 magnitude, (b) Z12 magnitude, and (c) Z12 phase

The interpretation is mainly noticed on resistance, slight changes on inductance while the capacitance remains unchanged (annotated on Figure 184 (b)). The changes in capacitance, inductance, and resistance in the annotated region of Figure 184 (b) are 0.2%, 7.84%, and 229% (almost 4 times increase) respectively. Therefore, it illustrates that the length of tracks involved in conducting path influences the inductive and resistive behavior with no or negligible influence below 100 MHz.

The various resistances, inductances, capacitances correspond to those of the DUT are shown on the electrical schematic of the experiment in Figure 185 The RLC values extracted following the NDT methodology are presented in Table 42.



Figure 185: Electrical equivalent schema

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests

Parameters	C ₁₁	C ₁₂	C ₂₂	L ₁₁	L ₁₂	L ₂₂	R ₁₁	R ₁₂	R ₂₂
	(pF)	(pF)	(pF)	(nH)	(nH)	(nH)	(Ω)	(Ω)	(Ω)
Proto1	70.3	70.3	70.3	6.02	2.04	10.2	0.15	0.17	0.05
Proto2	70.1	70.1	70.1	6.42	2.2	9.4	0.19	0.56	0.05

Table 42: RLC extraction of Proto1 and Proto2 in a healthy state

The extracted RLC values of Proto 2 provided in Table 42 are plugged into the electrical schema given in Figure 185. The Z-parameter results of healthy state Proto 2 using the extracted RLC values is then compared with the experimental data depicted in Figure 186.



Figure 186: Experimental and LTspice simulation Z-parameters magnitude comparison of Proto2 in a healthy state

All the four Z-parameters magnitudes recover the resonance. Reflection coefficients (Z_{11} and Z_{22}) establish a good agreement between experimental and LTspice simulation from 100 kHz to 400 MHz with any difference of less than 1.7 dB. However, it was difficult to recover the exact resistance value. The transmission coefficients show good agreement from 100 kHz to 200 MHz, while recovering the exact value for the resistance.

4.6.1.4 *Successive clip failure*

In the following the purpose is to demonstrate that the successive failure can be monitored. The same measurement protocol, i.e., port 1 and port 2 connected to Track 1 and Track 2a, respectively with 50-ohm load on Track 2b, is used. The successive clip failure is obtained using Proto3. The failed samples figures are presented in Figure 187

Chapter 4 : Application of NDT methodology to identify failure induced manually or by accelerated aging tests



Aging of brazing followed by clip failure



The clip between the Track 1 and Track 2a failed after 408 cycles (highlighted using the green box). The clip between the Track 1 and Track 2b failed after 768 cycles (highlighted using the black dashed box). S-parameters characterization following config1 with 50-ohm load is followed throughout the analysis for this case. In such a case, the system acts as a three-port network. The failure analysis is made at frequencies below 100 MHz, which provided interesting results. S-parameters characterization following the state of health of clips of Proto 3 is presented in Figure 188. To point out, the blue and red curves of Figure 188 (a), (b), and (c) are superposed. The green and black dashed curves illustrate the cycles at which clips failed as represented in Figure 187.



Figure 188: S-parameters magnitude for successive failure of clips

In healthy state, the injected signal is expected to be transmitted which is illustrated in Figure 188 (blue and red curves). As the termination load is 25-ohms (illustrated in Figure 225

189) due to parallel connected 50-ohms load on Track 2b, a partial reflection is seen on Figure 188 (a & c) with -10 dB. And a partial transmission on Figure 188 (b) is noticed.



Figure 189: Equivalent impedance following config1

After the first failure, the S_{11} magnitude depicted in Figure 188 (a) measured a full transmission which is neither recovered on S_{22} (Figure 188 (c)) nor on S_{12} (Figure 188 (b)). Therefore, it means that the signal is only transmitted through Track 2b to the 50-ohm load. In other words, the Track 2a is disconnected and a failure on this electrical path is detected. As a matter of facts, an indirect measurement allows to detect full failure. The pink curve is measured after the first failure and before the second failure. In all the three curves, it is superposed with the curve which is expected as it represents the case of first failure.

After the second failure, the magnitude of S_{11} and S_{22} measured a complete reflection as it represents an "open circuit", which is highlighted in Figure 188 (a & c). A small change in transmission coefficient (S_{12}) magnitude is observed confirming the different failure compared to the previous case (after the first failure) depicted in Figure 188 (b).

4.7 Conclusion

This Chapter presented analysis of different failure mechanisms using the broadband characterization. Three different tools were used to induce the failure i.e., Active Power Cycling (APC), Temperature Cycling Test (TCT), and manual failure. Following these tests two main failure mechanisms are studied in this Chapter: bond wire related failures, and brazing failure. Discrete power device and Si₃N₄ ceramic substrate are used to study these failure mechanisms.

TCT conducted on 10 ceramic substrates followed by regular characterization for about 8 months have experienced no degradation which are confirmed from VNA and B1505A characterization. However, it demonstrates the robustness of the measurement process.

The bond wire failures obtained after APC, TCT, and manual aging, are interesting to point out. APC test conducted on SiC power MOSFET (in TO package) is prepared in such a way to target the bond wires. The thermosensitive online monitoring parameter of the test is used as an aging indicator. This parameter provides step-wise changes indicating the state of the health of bond wires. The impedance modification analyzed from S and Z parameters compared before and after aging detect the failure and predict its influence. These results were also supported by SAM images, which reveal information related to bond wire lift-off whereas, chasing bond wire cracks is difficult task. As the power device under test possess similar characteristics, B1505A I=f(V) and C=f(V) measurements can identify only the complete failure. Temperature Cycling Test (TCT) conducted on Si power MOSFET aimed to see different possible failures from the test. Though this test is not defined its targeted failure, it resulted in bond wire failures in the span of 907 cycles. Two samples investigated from this test reveal impedance modifications on gate connected port. It is interesting to point out that:

- Impedance analysis resistance and inductance must be considered
- The phase analysis of impedance parameter helped to identify the complete and intermediate failure of bond wire connected to gate. The phase shifting from inductive behavior in healthy state (0 cycle) to capacitive behavior (after 907 cycles) confirm the complete failure of sample1. On the other hand, the

intermediate failure of bond wire connected to gate is identified by analyzing the phase which move from $+90^{\circ}$ towards -90° .

A shift in frequency with slight variations in impedance magnitude also allows to detect wire lift-off.

To get further, a first attempt was made to polarize the die. It also demonstrates the faculty to detect failure with device on state. However, the efficiency of the failure detection is similar to the non-polarized device process.

NDT methodology is applied to a ceramic substrate with clip bonding. The reliability of the clip boning and the aging of the brazing are tested by conducting passive cycling test. For a single clip prototype, the state of damage is monitored which reveal healthy and completely failed state. A successive failure of two clips is demonstrated which reveals the possibility of an indirect measurement to detect the partial failure.

Overall, this Chapter illustrates the fact, the newly developed NDT methodology is a generic approach which can be applied several power assemblies to identify different possible failure mechanisms. The strong belief beyond this methodology is that « Occurrence of a failure changes electrical impedance ». Thereby assuming that each failure mode is revealed following a frequency dependent signature.

General conclusion and perspectives

In this thesis, it was demonstrated the newly developed Non-Destructive Testing (NDT) methodology and its application to different power assemblies. The main target of detecting failure signatures following wide frequency band characterization using S and Z parameters is achieved. We have validated our hypothesis to detect the failure signature: « Occurrence of a failure changes electrical impedance. »

The first chapter reviewed a bibliographic study on discrete power devices and power module packaging and assembly and failure mechanisms related to them. The problems related to the integration of new technologies are highlighted. We have demonstrated the causes of failure occurrence, i.e., thermo-mechanical stress inside the package leading to package-related failures and over-voltage and over-current issues leading to chip-related failures. The major reliability testing methods related to accelerated aging tests are briefed. The set of destructive and non-destructive failure diagnosis methods are explored. The new technologies limit the importance of online monitoring parameters to indicate the failure modes. Each new technology raises the problem of finding a good monitoring parameter for a specific failure mode. This bibliographic study positioned us to propose a generic methodology to detect failure independent of package details, die technology, and potential failure.

In the second chapter, we have described different characterization methods, focusing more on the choice of our interest, i.e., S-parameters characterization using Vector Network Analyzer (VNA). The NDT methodology is detailed in different steps using a microstrip line as a study case. The steps of the NDT methodology are summarized as follows:

- To define the parameters of VNA (like operating frequency, sweep type, number of points per sweep, averaging factor, etc.)
- To perform the calibration (coaxial calibration technique SOLT) to eliminate systematic errors.
- To measure S-parameters (four complex S-parameters are measured from two-port VNA) and analyze these parameters
- To study the S-parameters in terms of electrical-equivalent elements. Therefore, S-parameters are converted into Z-parameters using the conversion expressions.

- To construct a two-port equivalent impedance model having respected reciprocity of the system (i.e., S₂₁ is strictly equal to S₁₂)
- To extract the RLCG elements from the impedance plots $(Z_{11}, Z_{21}, Z_{12}, and Z_{22})$
- To perform simulations by plugging the extracted RLCG into the electricalequivalent circuit
- To compare experimental and simulation results

The above-mentioned steps are divided into two main blocks: experimentation and computation (based on experimental data). The experimentation part includes the calibration process and S-parameters measurement from VNA. The computation includes S to Z parameters conversion, RLCG element extraction, and simulations. The later block is performed when needed to analyze the results in terms of impedance parameters and to build equivalent models.

This methodology aims to be used as a generic method for several power assemblies and failure modes. The assumption is that each failure mode is revealed following a frequency-dependent signature.

In the third chapter, the developed NDT methodology is applied to the healthy state power assemblies. The power assemblies studied during this thesis were TO-packages and Active Metal Brazing (AMB) ceramic substrates, namely Si₃N₄. The aim is to study the healthy state behavior of these assemblies in terms of propagating waves. In addition, the measurement process, the interfaces developed, the configurations used to perform two-port S-parameters measurement, and the update in the RLCG extraction process following the construction of these assemblies are detailed. The RLCG elements obtained through our methodology are compared with the datasheet and the B1505A curve tracer (which only measures capacitance). Datasheets often lack to present information about parasitic elements. In contrast, our proposed methodology excels at extracting all these elements, offering an innovative and invaluable feature. Moreover, the experimental and LTspice simulation comparison of SiC TO-247 power MOSFET presented good agreement in the bandwidth of 100 kHz to 100 MHz. Eventually, the results comparison of other TO packages are also presented. Concerning the ceramic substrate, the behavior of the substrate with bond wires between the copper tracks and with IGBT die brazed onto one

of the tracks and connected to other tracks through bond wires was studied. A bias-tee was developed to polarize the die and perform RF characterization by isolating the RF side and DC.

In the fourth chapter, the NDT methodology is applied to two power assemblies (as described in Chapter 3) to detect different failure mechanisms and modes. The two main failure mechanisms observed during this thesis are bond wire-related failures and aging of brazing. Accelerated aging tests (Temperature Cycling Test (TCT) and Active Power Cycling (APC)) and manual aging tests were conducted to induce different failure modes. The aging tests were just a tool to produce failures. A brief description of these aging tests was presented. In addition, the robustness of the measurement process is ensured.

Concerning the bond wire failures, the proposed NDT methodology is versatile and suitable for detecting partial and complete bond wire failures in power devices, including homemade prototypes (with or without power device die) and unknown packages. It effectively identifies various bond wire failure types in control or power paths. Detection involves frequencies below 1 GHz, primarily indicated by frequency shifts, increased resistance, or a combination of both factors, which can be used as a failure indicator. The online monitoring parameter V_{on} from the APC test was used as a failure indicator for the power cycling test conducted on TO-247 SiC MOSFETs.

Concerning the brazing failure, the NDT methodology is employed on a ceramic substrate with clip bonding. To assess the reliability of the clip bonding and the aging of the brazing, a passive cycling test (TCT) was conducted. In the case of a single clip prototype, the condition was closely monitored, revealing either a healthy state or a complete failure. Furthermore, a successive failure of two clips was demonstrated, highlighting the potential for an indirect measurement method to detect complete failure.

Lastly, it is interesting to mention that the proposed methodology can be applied to a known or unknown package, regardless of die technology and ability to identify potential failures.

Perspectives:

TCT on ceramic substrate:

The Temperature Cycling Test (TCT) with temperature variations of -70 °C to 180 °C applied on a ceramic substrate to detect the degradation of metallic parts was not encountered during eight months of the testing process covering 3338 cycles.

In some studies concerning the thermal cycling temperature variations (-50 °C to 150 °C), Si₃N₄ AMB ceramic substrates show efficient performance with no sign of failure until around 8500 cycles [117]. [125] presents degradation phenomenon observed in AMB Si₃N₄ power substrates with copper metallization, nickel-plated, and gold finish. It is interesting to point out this study presents that the degradation is noticed following severe thermal cycles of the temperature range (-55 °C/+ 245 °C) while it was not observed in less severe thermal cycles such as (-40 °C/ +150 °C).

Following these studies, we have planned to accelerate the aging process by switching to thermal shock. The main difference between TCT using a climatic chamber and thermal shock lies in the rate and severity of temperature change. Thermal cycling in a climatic chamber simulates gradual, long-term temperature variations, while thermal shock testing mimics sudden and extreme temperature transitions. Both methods serve distinct purposes in assessing the reliability and performance of materials and components in different environmental conditions. However, this aging test plan with thermal shock is on pause due to maintenance issues of thermal shock at the platform.

Active Power Cycling (APC) test:

Usually with APC test we can target the expected failures by parameterizing the cycle time. However, sometimes we encounter some unexpected failures. In order to further study different failure mechanisms, the other campaigns can be launched using TO packages. In our case it could be interesting to conduct APC on ceramic substrate with bond wires and IGBT die. As it is open package prototype, we can visualize the failure more clearly. However, this test needs some preparation like experimental setup, to think about the way to make connections for the test etc.,

Partial failure indicator using ceramic substrate with clip bonding:

Considering the hard failures (complete failure), a partial failure function can be developed. To achieve this analysis, a partial failure function (PFF) is defined (Eq. 72). Where $Z_{healthy}$ is the impedance at healthy state (0 cycle), Z_{faulty} is the impedance at the first complete failure occurrence, and Z_{int} is the impedance at intermediate states (before or after failure).

$$PFF = \frac{Z_{int} - Z_{healthy}}{Z_{int} - Z_{faulty}} \qquad \qquad Eq. \ 72$$

This approach is based on numeric computations of different impedances and establishes errors between impedances, taken at different cycles.

This method can be applied on different tests where healthy, intermediate and complete failure information is available. However, this indicator is applicable only when the complete failure information is provided. On the other, the numerical analysis can be done by considering soft failures. In this case, we can simplify the PFF by considering healthy and soft failures state (intermediate failure).

Eventually, this methodology can be applied to detect different failures that were not tested during this thesis. For example, voids characterization, possible defects that are inherent of the die, top side metallization quality etc.,

Appendices

Chapter 2:



* Guard electrodes are omitted

Appendix 4-1. Summary of Measurement Methods using impedance analyzer

Electrode Used	Diameter	Thickness	Guarded Electrode Diameter
Electrode-A	40 to 56 mm	$\leq \! 10 \text{ mm}$	38 mm
Electrode-B	10 to 56 mm	$\leq \! 10 \text{ mm}$	5 mm
Electrode-C	56 mm	$\leq 10 \text{ mm}^{*1}$	5 to 50 mm *2
Electrode-D	20 to 56 mm	$\leq \! 10 \mathrm{mm^{*1}}$	5 to 14 mm *2

- ^{*1} Including thickness of thin film electrodes
- *2 As a diameter of the thin film electrode
- Appendix 4-2. Available Test Material Dimensions and corresponding electrode used for impedance analyzer characterization



Appendix 4-3. Contacting electrode method (Thin film electrode)



Appendix 4-4. Coaxial cables - SMA with male contact, L=304.8 mm, characteristic impedance is 50 ohms

Calibration step	Connexion
1	Short to Port 1
2	Open to Port 1
3	Broadband load to Port 1
4	Short to Port 2
5	Open to Port 2
6	Broadband load to Port 2
7	Thru between Port 1 and Port 2



Appendix 4-5. SOLT calibration on VNA (E5061B)

Broadband load on Port 1

Thru between

Port 1 and port 2

Project Manager $\qquad P \times$	Solve Setup	×
Image: Symplectic Symple	General CG AC RL Expression Cache Defaults Name: Setup1 Solution Sequency: 100 - Solution Selection	I Enabled MHz ▼
Heduce Matrix Setup1 General Setup1	 Capacitance/Conductance DC Resistance/Inductance Resistance Only AC Resistance/Inductance Save fields 	
	Use Defaults	and Analysis Options OK Cancel

Appendix 4-6. Analysis setup for single frequency on Ansys Q3D [102]

Solutions: MSbX_Q3D_3 - 3_Q3D_MSbend_Sw -						
Simulation:	Setup1GHz1		▼ MSbX_021GHz	-		
Design Variation:	Design Variation: Substrate_Thickness='1mm' TraceWidth='2mm' Xlength='20mm' Xline='-2mm' Ylength='2ltr AC RL					
Profile Converg	gence Matrix Mesh	Statistics				
Conducta	Conductance Units: mSie Maxwell Matrix OHz					
Capacita	✓ Capacitance Units: pF ✓ Original ✓ All Freqs Edit Freqs				Edit Freqs	
Self Term	ıs					
View For	mat Passivity Expo	ort				
	Gnd	TraceXC	TraceYp			
Freq: 0Hz						
Gnd	0.00000, 4.24290	-0.00000, -2.37302	-0.00000, -1.02345			
TraceXC	-0.00000, -2.37302	0.00000, 2.39214	0.00000, -0.00803			
TraceYp	-0.00000, -1.02345	0.00000, -0.00803	0.00000, 1.03893			

Appendix 4-7. Matrix and field results based on solver choice [102]



Appendix 4-8. Epoxy substrate parameters

Chapter 3:



Appendix 4-9. Epoxy interface for TO-220 package placed vertically



Appendix 4-10. (a) B1505A curve tracer (b) Device connection setup



Appendix 4-11. TO-251 Si MOSFET (FQU13N10LTU) LTspice model and its comparison with experimental data

The experimental and simulation curves shown in Appendix 4-11 are in good agreement from 100 kHz to 800 MHz with any differences less than 2 dB within this bandwidth.



Appendix 4-12. TO-220 Full Pack Si MOSFET (STF11NM60ND) LTspice model and its comparison with experimental data The experimental and simulation curves show in Appendix 4-12 are in good agreement from 100 kHz to 900 MHz with any differences less than 2 dB within this bandwidth.



Appendix 4-13. TO-220 Si MOSFET (IRLI540NPBF) LTspice model and its comparison with experimental data

The experimental and simulation curves shown in Appendix 4-13 are in good agreement from 100 kHz to 700 MHz with any differences less than 2 dB within this bandwidth.



Appendix 4-14. TO package device connection for vertically placed epoxy interface



Appendix 4-15. Supporting box dimensions (a) front view, (b) back view



Appendix 4-16. Two-port VNA characterization of epoxy interface with horizontally placed TO package (b) Before placing the device (c) after placing the device



Appendix 4-17. Epoxy interface of TO-220 package horizontally placed (a) interface with device (b) interface foot print top



Appendix 4-18. Active Metal Brazing (AMB) ceramic substrate dimensions (a) top view (b) bottom view



Appendix 4-19. Epoxy interface dimensions (50 Ω adapted) bottom side

The thickness of epoxy and metallization are 1.5 mm and 35 μm respectively.



Appendix 4-20. Ceramic substrate two-port characterization on VNA



Appendix 4-21. Homemade packaging with IGBT die mounted on Track 2a (5 Samples)



Appendix 4-22. Homemade packaging B1505A curve tracer setup and interface details

The interface is designed with ground plane on the upper face and 50 Ω adapted tracks on the bottom face. The adapted tracks are used to connect the terminals which support to fix the DUT into the B1505A CV measurement sorting given in Appendix 4-22 (a). The

floating tracks of the DUT are connected to the ground plane using grounding wires shown in Appendix 4-22 (a) and (b). The dimensions of the interface are provided in Appendix 4-22 (c).



Appendix 4-23. Experimental and LTspice comparison of healthy state homemade packaging with IGBT die (a) config2 (b) config3



Appendix 4-24. Epoxy interface design (a) Circuit environment, (b) Visualization in layout, and (c) 3D environment



Appendix 4-25. Ceramic substrate design (a) Circuit environment, (b) Visualization in layout, and (c) 3D environment

Chapter 4:



Appendix 4-26. S-parameters magnitude at 0 cycle, 318, and 405 cycles of prototype 1 following config2



Appendix 4-27. S-parameters magnitude at 0 cycle, 318, and 405 cycles of prototype 1 following config3






Appendix 4-29. Z-parameters magnitude and phase of sample1 for different cycles following the configuration SCOM (G1D2)



Appendix 4-30. Z-parameters magnitude and phase of sample1 for different cycles following the configuration GCOM (D1S2)

References

- L. F. S. Alves *et al.*, "SIC power devices in power electronics: An overview," in 2017 Brazilian Power Electronics Conference (COBEP), Nov. 2017, pp. 1–8. doi: 10.1109/COBEP.2017.8257396.
- [2] A. Soldati, M. Locatelli, and C. Concari, "Active gate drivers and wide band gap devices: Architectures, application and limits," *Univ. Parma*, 2017.
- [3] S. Baffreau, G. Vine, and P.-E. Vidal, "Wire bonding failure signature using high frequency characterization," in 2019 21st European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE '19 ECCE Europe), Genova, Italy: IEEE, Sep. 2019, p. P.1-P.4. doi: 10.23919/EPE.2019.8915068.
- [4] W. Lai *et al.*, "Condition Monitoring in a Power Module Using On-State Resistance and Case Temperature," *IEEE Access*, vol. 6, pp. 67108–67117, 2018, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2018.2879314.
- [5] J. Broughton, V. Smet, R. R. Tummala, and Y. K. Joshi, "Review of Thermal Packaging Technologies for Automotive Power Electronics for Traction Purposes," J. *Electron. Packag.*, vol. 140, no. 4, p. 040801, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.1115/1.4040828.
- [6] S. M. Group, "Module or Discrete Power?" Accessed: Apr. 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.techbriefs.com/component/content/article/tb/pub/features/technologyleaders/34911
- [7] "Discretes & Power Devices | Our Solutions," Lam Research. Accessed: Apr. 14, 2023.
 [Online]. Available: https://www.lamresearch.com/products/our-solutions/discretes-power-devices-solutions/
- [8] B. J. Baliga, "Trends in power discrete devices," in *Proceedings of the 10th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs. ISPSD '98 (IEEE Cat. No.98CH36212)*, Jun. 1998, pp. 5–10. doi: 10.1109/ISPSD.1998.702538.
- [9] G. Parent, G. Massiot, V. Rouet, C. Munier, P.-E. Vidal, and F. Carrillo, "Toward a reliability analysis method of wide band gap power electronic components and modules," in 2013 Eurpoean Microelectronics Packaging Conference (EMPC), Sep. 2013, pp. 1–6.
- [10] K. O. Dohnke, K. Guth, and N. Heuck, "History and Recent Developments of Packaging Technology for SiC Power Devices," *Mater. Sci. Forum*, vol. 858, pp. 1043–1048, 2016, doi: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/MSF.858.1043.
- [11] "What are through holes on a PCB? Technical terms by Eurocircuits," Eurocircuits. Accessed: Apr. 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.eurocircuits.com/holes-npth-non-plated-through-hole-and-pth-platedthrough-hole/
- [12] "TRANSISTORS OUTLINES (TO), JEDEC Publication No. 95." Accessed: Apr. 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.jedec.org/sites/default/files/TOINDEX_0.pdf
- Y. Liu, Power Electronic Packaging: Design, Assembly Process, Reliability and Modeling. New York, NY: Springer New York, 2012. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-1053-9.

- [14] Y. Liu, "Discrete Power MOSFET Package Design and Analysis," in *Power Electronic Packaging: Design, Assembly Process, Reliability and Modeling*, Y. Liu, Ed., New York, NY: Springer, 2012, pp. 27–56. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-1053-9_3.
- [15] "Guidelines on lead forming, trimming lead length, and heat sink mounting," *Fairchild Appl. Rep.*, 2007, [Online]. Available: http://www.fairchildsemi.com
- [16] M H. Rashid, *Power Electronics Handbook*. Butterworth-Heinemann, 2017.
- [17] C. Bailey, H. Lu, and T. Tilford, "Predicting the Reliability of Power Electronic Modules," in 2007 8th International Conference on Electronic Packaging Technology, Shanghai, China: IEEE, Aug. 2007, pp. 1–5. doi: 10.1109/ICEPT.2007.4441543.
- [18] "Future Packaging Technologies in Power Electronic Modules." Accessed: Apr. 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://publicarest.fraunhofer.de/server/api/core/bitstreams/06c1c145-eaed-46e2-912bd6b1541997ba/content
- [19] W. W. Sheng and R. P. Colino, *Power Electronic Modules: Design and Manufacture*. CRC Press, 2004.
- [20] Lionel Pichon, "Wire-bonding interconnections, ASIC-Lab Heidelberg," SlideServe. Accessed: Apr. 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.slideserve.com/lionel/wire-bonding-interconnections
- [21] S. Jacques, "The Importance of Interconnection Technologies' Reliability of Power Electronic Packages," in *System Reliability*, C. Volosencu, Ed., InTech, 2017. doi: 10.5772/intechopen.69611.
- [22] John Coonrod, "Aiming For The Perfect Wire Bond," Rogers Corporation. Accessed: Apr. 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://mwexpert.typepad.com/rog_blog/2011/09/aiming-for-the-perfect-wirebond.html
- [23] "TPT application Ribbon bonding." Accessed: Apr. 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.tpt.de/wpcontent/uploads/00_Media/99_Elemente_und_Platzhalter/Anleitungen/TPT-Application-Ribbon-250-x-25%C2%B5-EN.pdf
- Y. Liu and D. Kinzer, "Challenges of power electronic packaging and modeling," in 2011 12th Intl. Conf. on Thermal, Mechanical & Multi-Physics Simulation and Experiments in Microelectronics and Microsystems, Linz, Austria: IEEE, Apr. 2011, p. 1/9-9/9. doi: 10.1109/ESIME.2011.5765799.
- [25] Z. J. Shen and I. Omura, "Power Semiconductor Devices for Hybrid, Electric, and Fuel Cell Vehicles," *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 95, no. 4, pp. 778–789, Apr. 2007, doi: 10.1109/JPROC.2006.890118.
- [26] L. Philippe, "Power module assembly"
- [27] kristin hofman, "Power Electronics Manufacturing Process," NextEnergy. Accessed: Apr. 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://nextenergy.org/powerelectronics-manufacturing-process/
- [28] "Bare Die: Die Attach and Wire Bonding Guidance for setting up assembly processes." Accessed: Oct. 23, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.irf.com/technical-info/appnotes/an-1061.pdf

- [29] S. N. Song, H. H. Tan, and P. L. Ong, "Die attach film application in multi die stack package," in 2005 7th Electronic Packaging Technology Conference, Dec. 2005, p. 5 pp.-. doi: 10.1109/EPTC.2005.1614517.
- [30] "Die Attach, Die Mount, or Die Bond." Accessed: Apr. 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.eesemi.com/dieattach.htm
- [31] "Power Diodes: What Are They? (Characteristics & Softness Factor) | Electrical4U," https://www.electrical4u.com/. Accessed: Oct. 23, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.electrical4u.com/power-diodes/
- [32] "MOSFET Basic." Accessed: Oct. 21, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.onsemi.com/pub/Collateral/AN-9010.pdf
- [33] "Power MOSFET | Electrical4U." Accessed: Apr. 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.electrical4u.com/power-mosfet/
- [34] R. Ruffilli, "Fatigue mechanisms in Al-based metallizations in power MOSFETs," Nov. 23, 2018. [Online]. Available: https://theses.hal.science/tel-01666437v3/document
- [35] Abdus Sattar, "Power MOSFET Basics," IXYS Corporation. Accessed: Apr. 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.ixys.com/documents/appnotes/ixan0061.pdf
- [36] "Power MOSFET Electrical Characteristics." Accessed: Apr. 11, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://toshiba.semiconstorage.com/info/application_note_en_20230209_AKX00063.pdf?did=13415
- [37] Vrej Barkhordarian, "Power MOSFET Basics, International Rectifier." Accessed: Apr. 11, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.infineon.com/dgdl/mosfet.pdf?fileId=5546d462533600a4015357444e9 13f4f
- [38] C.-W. Choi, J.-H. So, J.-S. Ko, and D.-K. Kim, "Influence Analysis of SiC MOSFET's Parasitic Capacitance on DAB Converter Output," *Electronics*, vol. 12, no. 1, Art. no. 1, Jan. 2023, doi: 10.3390/electronics12010182.
- [39] "What are MOSFETs? MOSFET Parasitic Capacitance and Its Temperature Characteristic | What are Transistors? – Categories and Features of Si Transistors | TechWeb." Accessed: Apr. 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://techweb.rohm.com/product/power-device/si/si-basic/4873/
- [40] "IGBT datasheet tutorial", [Online]. Available: https://www.st.com/resource/en/application_note/an4544-igbt-datasheet-tutorialstmicroelectronics.pdf
- [41] A. Hanif, Y. Yu, D. DeVoto, and F. Khan, "A Comprehensive Review Toward the State-of-the-Art in Failure and Lifetime Predictions of Power Electronic Devices," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 4729–4746, May 2019, doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2018.2860587.
- [42] T. I. Băjenescu and M. I. Bâzu, *Reliability of Electronic Components: A Practical Guide to Electronic Systems Manufacturing*. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1999. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-58505-0.
- [43] C. Wang, B. Ji, X. Song, V. Pickert, and W. Cao, "IGBT condition monitoring with system identification methods," in 2014 IEEE Conference and Expo Transportation Electrification Asia-Pacific (ITEC Asia-Pacific), Aug. 2014, pp. 1–6. doi: 10.1109/ITEC-AP.2014.6941216.

- [44] P. Lall, M. G. Pecht, and E. B. Hakim, Influence of Temperature on Microelectronics and System Reliability: A Physics of Failure Approach. CRC Press, 2020.
- [45] V. Smet *et al.*, "Ageing and Failure Modes of IGBT Modules in High-Temperature Power Cycling," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 58, no. 10, pp. 4931–4941, Oct. 2011, doi: 10.1109/TIE.2011.2114313.
- [46] H. Wang *et al.*, "Transitioning to Physics-of-Failure as a Reliability Driver in Power Electronics," *IEEE J. Emerg. Sel. Top. Power Electron.*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 97– 114, Mar. 2014, doi: 10.1109/JESTPE.2013.2290282.
- [47] L. Dupont, Z. Khatir, S. Lefebvre, and S. Bontemps, "Effects of metallization thickness of ceramic substrates on the reliability of power assemblies under high temperature cycling," *Microelectron. Reliab.*, vol. 46, no. 9, pp. 1766–1771, Sep. 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.microrel.2006.07.057.
- [48] "In-depth investigation of metallization aging in power MOSFETs | Elsevier Enhanced Reader." Accessed: Apr. 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://reader.elsevier.com/reader/sd/pii/S0026271415300214?token=150E7F112EF 5912E48C8972A72D7010C13BBB4E19D35369D3C42E06467E956C617A474B12 522937F529EB7C2E840CE5F&originRegion=eu-west-1&originCreation=20230414124141
- [49] S. Baba, A. Gieraltowski, M. Jasinski, F. Blaabjerg, A. S. Bahman, and M. Zelechowski, "Active Power Cycling Test Bench for SiC Power MOSFETs— Principles, Design, and Implementation," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 2661–2675, Mar. 2021, doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2020.3018535.
- [50] D. Graovac, A. Christmann, and M. Munzer, "Power semiconductors for hybrid and electric vehicles," in 8th International Conference on Power Electronics - ECCE Asia, Jeju: IEEE, May 2011, pp. 1666–1673. doi: 10.1109/ICPE.2011.5944436.
- [51] M. Ciappa, "Selected failure mechanisms of modern power modules," *Microelectron. Reliab.*, vol. 42, no. 4–5, pp. 653–667, Apr. 2002, doi: 10.1016/S0026-2714(02)00042-2.
- [52] J. Putaala, T. Kangasvieri, O. Nousiainen, H. Jantunen, and M. Moilanen, "Detection of Thermal Cycling-Induced Failures in RF/Microwave BGA Assemblies," *IEEE Trans. Electron. Packag. Manuf.*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 240–247, Jul. 2008, doi: 10.1109/TEPM.2008.926289.
- [53] Lucb, "Bond Testing: Pull Test, Shear Test and more...," Accelonix. Accessed: Oct. 21, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://accelonix.nl/bond-testing-pull-test-sheartest-and-more/
- [54] W. Boyce, "Destructive Wire Bond Shear Testing and its Purpose", [Online]. Available:

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5b524730e17ba3fb1c6f476e/t/5cf5444853133 70001399ef8/1559577682019/MEPTEC+Report+Summer+2019.pdf

- [55] J. E. B. Muñoz, "Bond Pull Test Electronic Component | EEE Parts," ALTER TECHNOLOGY TÜV NORD | Web Project Office. Accessed: Oct. 21, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://wpo-altertechnology.com/bond-pull-test/
- [56] "ICNDT The International Committee for Non-Destrutive Testing." Accessed: Apr. 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.icndt.org/

- [57] "NDT (Non-Destructive Testing): A Complete Guide." Accessed: Apr. 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.flyability.com/ndt
- [58] P. Aryan, S. Sampath, and H. Sohn, "An Overview of Non-Destructive Testing Methods for Integrated Circuit Packaging Inspection," *Sensors*, vol. 18, no. 7, p. 1981, Jun. 2018, doi: 10.3390/s18071981.
- [59] P. Aryan, S. Sampath, and H. Sohn, "An Overview of Non-Destructive Testing Methods for Integrated Circuit Packaging Inspection," *Sensors*, vol. 18, no. 7, Art. no. 7, Jul. 2018, doi: 10.3390/s18071981.
- [60] E. Ugur, C. Xu, F. Yang, S. Pu, and B. Akin, "A New Complete Condition Monitoring Method for SiC Power MOSFETs," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 68, no. 2, pp. 1654–1664, Feb. 2021, doi: 10.1109/TIE.2020.2970668.
- [61] Z. Li and Z. Meng, "A Review of the Radio Frequency Non-destructive Testing for Carbon-fibre Composites," *Meas. Sci. Rev.*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 68–76, Apr. 2016, doi: 10.1515/msr-2016-0010.
- [62] P.-Y. Joubert and Y. Le Diraison, "Pulsed eddy current imager for the enhanced Non Destructive evaluation of aeronautical riveted assemblies," in *IEEE SENSORS* 2014 Proceedings, Valencia, Spain: IEEE, Nov. 2014, pp. 1188–1191. doi: 10.1109/ICSENS.2014.6985221.
- [63] C. H. Zhong, A. J. Croxford, and P. D. Wilcox, "Remote inspection system for impact damage in large composite structure," *Proc. R. Soc. Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.*, vol. 471, no. 2173, p. 20140631, Jan. 2015, doi: 10.1098/rspa.2014.0631.
- [64] M. Alamin, G. Y. Tian, A. Andrews, and P. Jackson, "Corrosion detection using low-frequency RFID technology," *Insight - Non-Destr. Test. Cond. Monit.*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 72–75, Feb. 2012, doi: 10.1784/insi.2012.54.2.72.
- [65] L. Martens, "Electronic Packaging and High Frequencies," in *High-Frequency Characterization of Electronic Packaging*, vol. 1, in Electronic Packaging and Interconnects Series, vol. 1., Boston, MA: Springer US, 1998, pp. 1–6. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4615-5623-7_1.
- [66] U. Pfeiffer and C. Schuster, "Non-destructive S-parameter measurement of a hermetically encapsulated package with comparison to high-frequency simulation," in 2002 IEEE 11th Topical Meeting on Electrical Performance of Electronic Packaging, Oct. 2002, pp. 323–326. doi: 10.1109/EPEP.2002.1057942.
- [67] C.-T. Tsai, "Package inductance measurement at high frequencies," in 1992 Proceedings 42nd Electronic Components & Technology Conference, May 1992, pp. 740–744. doi: 10.1109/ECTC.1992.204287.
- [68] C.-T. Tsai and W.-Y. Yip, "An experimental technique for full package inductance matrix characterization," *IEEE Trans. Compon. Packag. Manuf. Technol. Part B*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 338–343, May 1996, doi: 10.1109/96.496037.
- [69] T. Johansson and T. Arnborg, "A novel approach to 3-D modeling of packaged RF power transistors," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 47, no. 6, pp. 760–768, Jun. 1999, doi: 10.1109/22.769348.
- [70] C. Schuster, G. Leonhardt, and W. Fichtner, "Electromagnetic simulation of bonding wires and comparison with wide band measurements," *IEEE Trans. Adv. Packag.*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 69–79, Feb. 2000, doi: 10.1109/6040.826764.

[71] "Time domain," *Wikipedia*. Oct. 04, 2022. Accessed: Apr. 21, 2023. [Online]. Available:

https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Time_domain&oldid=1113982793

- [72] L. Martens, "High-Frequency Measurement Techniques," in *High-Frequency Characterization of Electronic Packaging*, vol. 1, in Electronic Packaging and Interconnects Series, vol. 1., Boston, MA: Springer US, 1998, pp. 23–63. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4615-5623-7_3.
- [73] K. M. Fidanboylu, S. M. Riad, and A. Elshabini-Riad, "An enhanced time-domain approach for dielectric characterization using stripline geometry," *IEEE Trans. Instrum. Meas.*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 132–136, Feb. 1992, doi: 10.1109/19.126647.
- [74] S. Kingston *et al.*, "A SSTDR Methodology, Implementations, and Challenges," *Sensors*, vol. 21, no. 16, p. 5268, Aug. 2021, doi: 10.3390/s21165268.
- [75] P. Smith, C. Furse, and J. Gunther, "Analysis of spread spectrum time domain reflectometry for wire fault location," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 1469–1478, Dec. 2005, doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2005.858964.
- [76] S. Das, F. Khan, M. K. Alam, and P. Goli, "Detection of aging related IGBT bondwire lift-off using spread spectrum time domain reflectometry (SSTDR)," in 2017 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), Tampa, FL, USA: IEEE, Mar. 2017, pp. 789–794. doi: 10.1109/APEC.2017.7930785.
- [77] A. Hanif, S. Das, and F. Khan, "Active power cycling and condition monitoring of IGBT power modules using reflectometry," in 2018 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), San Antonio, TX, USA: IEEE, Mar. 2018, pp. 2827–2833. doi: 10.1109/APEC.2018.8341418.
- [78] A. Hanif, D. DeVoto, and F. Khan, "Bond Wire Damage Detection and SOH Estimation of a Dual-Pack IGBT Power Module Using Active Power Cycling and Reflectometry," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 35, no. 7, pp. 6761–6772, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2019.2958898.
- [79] Y. Pascal, F. Daschner, M. Liserre, and M. Höft, "Condition monitoring of power module using S-parameters, TDR, and TDT," *Microelectron. Reliab.*, vol. 138, p. 114615, Nov. 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.microrel.2022.114615.
- [80] "Frequency domain," Wikipedia. Mar. 28, 2023. Accessed: May 03, 2023.
 [Online]. Available:
 https://op.wikip.edia.org/w/index.php?kitla_Erresponse.domain%aldid_1146050224
 - https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Frequency_domain&oldid=1146959234
- [81] "RF Calibration NI," https://www.ni.com. Accessed: Oct. 08, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.ni.com/docs
- [82] "Keysight 16451B DIELECTRIC MATERIAL TEST FIXTURE Operation Manual." Jun. 16, 2008. [Online]. Available: https://www.keysight.com/fr/en/product/16451B/dielectric-test-fixture.html
- [83] Keysight, "Network Analyzers," Keysight. Accessed: May 09, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.keysight.com/us/en/products/network-analyzers.html
- [84] "Network analyzer (electrical)," Wikipedia. Feb. 03, 2023. Accessed: May 08, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Network_analyzer_(electrical)&oldid=11 37174882
- [85] "Introduction to VNA basics." Accessed: Oct. 12, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://download.tek.com/document/70W_60918_0_Tek_VNA_PR.pdf

- [86] "What is a Vector Network Analyzer, VNA » Electronics Notes." Accessed: May 10, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.electronics-notes.com/articles/testmethods/rf-vector-network-analyzer-vna/what-is-a-vna.php
- [87] "Introduction_to_Network_Analyzer_Measurements.pdf." Accessed: May 16, 2023. [Online]. Available: http://download.ni.com/evaluation/rf/Introduction_to_Network_Analyzer_Measure ments.pdf
- [88] A. Henze, N. Tempone, G. Monasterios, and H. Silva, "Incomplete 2-port vector network analyzer calibration methods," in 2014 IEEE Biennial Congress of Argentina (ARGENCON), Bariloche, Argentina: IEEE, Jun. 2014, pp. 810–815. doi: 10.1109/ARGENCON.2014.6868593.
- [89] "Nonlinear Vector Network Analyzer Applications." Accessed: Jul. 04, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.microwavejournal.com/articles/print/7631nonlinear-vector-network-analyzer-applications
- [90] "Time Domain Analysis vs Frequency Domain Analysis: A Guide and Comparison." Accessed: Jul. 04, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://resources.pcb.cadence.com/blog/2020-time-domain-analysis-vs-frequencydomain-analysis-a-guide-and-comparison
- [91] "Scattering parameters," Wikipedia. Apr. 12, 2023. Accessed: May 11, 2023.
 [Online]. Available: https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Scattering_parameters&oldid=11494533 87
- [92] "S-Parameter." Accessed: May 11, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://ch.mathworks.com/discovery/s-parameter.html
- [93] "s_parameter_techniques.pdf." Accessed: May 11, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.ieee.li/pdf/viewgraphs/s_parameter_techniques.pdf
- [94] F. Caspers, "RF engineering basic concepts: S-parameters," *CERN Yellow Rep. CERN-2011-007 Pp* 67-93, [Online]. Available: https://cds.cern.ch/record/1415639/files/p67.pdf
- [95] "Impedance parameters," Wikipedia. Apr. 19, 2021. Accessed: May 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Impedance_parameters&oldid=10187449 88
- [96] realnfo, "Impedance Parameters." Accessed: May 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.realnfo.com/ee/Electrical-Circuit-Analysis/Two-Port-Networks/Impedance-Parameters
- [97] T. Liu, T. T. Y. Wong, and Z. J. Shen, "A New Characterization Technique for Extracting Parasitic Inductances of SiC Power MOSFETs in Discrete and Module Packages Based on Two-Port S-Parameters Measurement," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 33, no. 11, pp. 9819–9833, Nov. 2018, doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2017.2789240.
- [98] L. G. Maloratsky, "microstrip transmission lines can guide high- frequency designers in the proper application of this venerable circuit technology.," 2000.
- [99] "E5061B ENA Vector Network Analyzer", [Online]. Available: https://www.keysight.com/fr/en/assets/7018-02242/data-sheets/5990-4392.pdf

- [100] M. E. Fouda, A. S. Elwakil, A. G. Radwan, and B. J. Maundy, "Fractional-Order Two-Port Networks," *Math. Probl. Eng.*, vol. 2016, pp. 1–5, 2016, doi: 10.1155/2016/5976301.
- [101] "Reciprocity (electrical networks)," Wikipedia. Aug. 19, 2022. Accessed: Jun. 22, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Reciprocity_(electrical_networks)&oldid =1105255933
- [102] "ANSYS Q3D Guide Q3D workflow." Accessed: Aug. 21, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://courses.ansys.com/wpcontent/uploads/2021/07/Q3D_GS_2020R1_EN_LE02_Workflow.pdf
- [103] C. Che, H. Zhao, Y. Guo, J. Hu, and H. Kim, "Investigation of Segmentation Method for Enhancing High Frequency Simulation Accuracy of Q3D Extractor," in 2019 IEEE International Conference on Computational Electromagnetics (ICCEM), Mar. 2019, pp. 1–3. doi: 10.1109/COMPEM.2019.8779105.
- [104] G. Mandamba, "Caractérisation numérique électromagnétique d'un module de puissance, Master Internship at PRIMES laboratory.," Jul. 2022.
- [105] "C2M0160120D_Datasheet, Silicon Carbide Power MOSFET C2MTM MOSFET Technology, N-Channel Enhancement Mode." Oct. 07, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://assets.wolfspeed.com/uploads/2020/12/C2M0160120D.pdf
- [106] "Keysight_Technologies_B1505A_Curve_Tracer.pdf." Accessed: Aug. 16, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.keysight.com/us/en/assets/9018-03800/quick-start-guides/9018-03800.pdf
- [107] A. Cissé, G. Massiot, C. Munier, P.-E. Vidal, and F. J. Carrillo, "Numerical modelling of a high temperature power module technology with SiC devices for high density power electronics," in *PCIM Europe, Power Electronics Intelligent Motion Renewable Energy Energy Management*, Nuremberg, Germany, May 2012, pp. 1–8. Accessed: Aug. 16, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://hal.science/hal-04023451
- [108] "FGH25T120SMD-Datasheet.pdf." Accessed: Oct. 07, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.mouser.com/datasheet/2/149/FGH25T120SMD-889021.pdf
- [109] L. Pace, N. Defrance, A. Videt, N. Idir, and J.-C. Dejaeger, "S-Parameter Characterization of GaN HEMT Power Transistors for High Frequency Modeling," in PCIM Europe 2018; International Exhibition and Conference for Power Electronics, Intelligent Motion, Renewable Energy and Energy Management, Jun. 2018, pp. 1–8.
- [110] L. Pace, "Caractérisation et Modélisation de Composants GaN pour la Conception de Convertisseurs Statiques Haute Fréquence." Accessed: Sep. 21, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://l2ep.univ-lille.fr/fileupload/file/theses/These_Loris_Pace.pdf
- [111] G. Parent, G. Massiot, V. Rouet, C. Munier, P.-E. Vidal, and F. Carrillo, "Toward a reliability analysis method of wide band gap power electronic components and modules," in 2013 Eurpoean Microelectronics Packaging Conference (EMPC), IEEE, 2013, pp. 1–6.
- [112] "Power Semiconductor Passive Cycling Testers, DYNEX SEMICONDUCTOR." Accessed: Mar. 01, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.dynexsemi.com/Portals/0/assets/downloads/DYN-PA-19005-V1_-_Power_Semiconductor_Passive_Cycling_Testers.pdf
- [113] "CTS-Temperature-/ClimaticStress-Screening-Chambers." Accessed: Aug. 23,
2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.cts-

umweltsimulation.de/images/produkte/ps-baureihe-tscs/download/CTS_Stress_Screening_eng.pdf

- [114] C. Durand, M. Klingler, D. Coutellier, and H. Naceur, "Power Cycling Reliability of Power Module: A Survey," *IEEE Trans. Device Mater. Reliab.*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 80–97, Mar. 2016, doi: 10.1109/TDMR.2016.2516044.
- [115] G. Parent, "Evaluation de la durée de vie de composants électroniques de puissance commerciaux soumis à plusieurs tests de vieillissement et détermination des mécanismes de défaillance." [Online]. Available: https://oatao.univtoulouse.fr/17829/1/Parent_G.pdf
- [116] A. Vass-Varnai, "Power Tester 1500A—Accelerated Testing and Failure Diagnosis of High-Power Semiconductors," *Power Semicond.*, [Online]. Available: https://www.efd.com.tw/uploads/1/3/2/1/13213742/white-paper.pdf
- [117] André Schwöbel, "Heraeus Ag-free AMB and Die Top System for advanced packaging solutions, IMAPS, From Nano to Micro Power Electronics And Packaging Workshop November 24th, 2022 Tours, France."
- [118] A. Gopishetti, S. Baffreau, and Vidal, P-E, ""Méthode de caractérisation expérimentale de l'état de santé d'un composant constituant un module de puissance", Journées Scientifiques (URSI-JS23), CENTRALE SUPÉLEC, PLATEAU DE SACLAY, France, 21-22 MARS 2023.".
- [119] "Sarkany, Zoltan, Weikun He, and Marta Rencz. 'Temperature change induced degradation of SiC MOSFET devices.' 2016 15th IEEE Intersociety Conference on Thermal and Thermomechanical Phenomena in Electronic Systems (ITherm). IEEE, 2016."
- [120] J. Goehre, M. Schneider-Ramelow, U. Geißler, and K.-D. Lang, "Interface degradation of Al heavy wire bonds on power semiconductors during active power cycling measured by the shear test," in 2010 6th International Conference on Integrated Power Electronics Systems, Mar. 2010, pp. 1–6.
- [121] "Clip Bonding on High-power Modules | Semiconductor Digest." Accessed: Sep. 05, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://sst.semiconductor-digest.com/2007/05/clipbonding-on-high-power-modules/
- [122] L. Wang *et al.*, "Cu Clip-Bonding Method With Optimized Source Inductance for Current Balancing in Multichip SiC MOSFET Power Module," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 37, no. 7, pp. 7952–7964, Jul. 2022, doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2022.3141373.
- [123] A. Gopishetti, S. Baffreau, P.-E. Vidal, C. Duchesne, and T. L. Long, "Brazing failure of inner power modules' interconnects using scattering parameter characterization," *Microelectron. Reliab.*, p. 115116, 2023, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.microrel.2023.115116.
- [124] A. Grear, "sac305 Lead-free solder alloy", Accessed: Sep. 05, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://aimsolder.com/sites/default/files/alloy_sac305_tds.pdf
- [125] E. Woirgard, F. Arabi, W. Sabbah, D. Martineau, L. Theolier, and S. Azzopardi, "Identification and analysis of power substrates degradations subjected to severe aging tests," *Microelectron. Reliab.*, vol. 55, no. 9–10, pp. 1961–1965, Aug. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.microrel.2015.06.048.